

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

BUDLONG & BUDLONG, LLC v. ANGHAM ZAKKO
(AC 44374)

Cradle, Clark and Bishop, Js.

Syllabus

The plaintiff law firm sought to recover damages from the defendant for, inter alia, breach of contract in connection with its representation of the defendant. The matter was referred to an attorney fact finder, who filed a report recommending judgment for the plaintiff on the complaint. The trial court overruled the defendant's objection to the report of the attorney fact finder and rendered judgment in accordance with it. Two exhibits, a retainer agreement and a bill for services, were considered by the attorney fact finder, but were not reviewed by the court, as they were reported missing from the clerk's office. The defendant appealed to this court, claiming that the court improperly overruled her objection to the attorney fact finder's report and improperly rendered judgment in accordance with the attorney fact finder's report because the report contained insufficient factual findings. *Held:*

1. The trial court improperly overruled the defendant's objection to the attorney fact finder's report because the court failed to review all of the evidence considered by the attorney fact finder: a court, on reviewing a report of an attorney fact finder, must assess all of the evidence that was presented to the attorney fact finder in order to properly consider objections challenging the report, and, here, the court could not adequately assess the defendant's claims that the billing was excessive and that the quantum of work claimed by the plaintiff did not correlate to the claimed time expended without reviewing the retainer agreement and billing record entered as exhibits before the attorney fact finder; moreover, faced with the fact that these exhibits were missing from the record, it would have been appropriate for the court to remand the case to the attorney fact finder or to have taken any other action it deemed appropriate pursuant to the relevant rule of practice (§ 23-58 (a)).
2. The trial court improperly rendered judgment in accordance with the report of the attorney fact finder because it was not supported by sufficient factual findings: the minimal report's conclusion that the defendant owed the plaintiff a certain amount of money was not supported by the sole factual finding that the plaintiff's representation of the defendant was partially successful, its statement that exhibits were entered into evidence by the plaintiff did not constitute a finding as to the content of those documents, and it did not provide an adequate factual underlayment for the court's ultimate determination to accept it, falling below the bare minimum necessary for the court appropriately to render judgment; moreover, contrary to the plaintiff's assertion, this claim was properly preserved for appellate review, as in her objection

698

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

to the report, the defendant, a self-represented party, specifically claimed that the report's conclusions were not properly reached on the basis of various separate grounds and, at the hearing on her objection, the defendant repeatedly advanced the same arguments that the report's conclusions were unsupported.

Argued March 7—officially released July 19, 2022

Procedural History

Action to recover damages for, inter alia, breach of contract, and for other relief, brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of Hartford, where the matter was referred to *Harold M. Levy*, attorney fact finder, who recommended judgment for the plaintiff on the complaint; thereafter, the court, *M. Taylor, J.*, overruled the defendant's objection to the report and rendered judgment in accordance with the report, from which the defendant appealed to this court. *Reversed; judgment directed; further proceedings.*

Catherine M. Spain, for the appellant (defendant).

Joseph R. Brennan-Reilly, with whom, on the brief, was *C. Michael Budlong*, for the appellee (plaintiff).

Opinion

BISHOP, J. The defendant, Angham Zakko,¹ appeals from the judgment of the trial court, rendered following a hearing and report by an attorney fact finder, in favor of the plaintiff, Budlong & Budlong, LLC, on the plaintiff's complaint in the amount of \$17,602.50. On appeal, the defendant claims that the court improperly (1) overruled her objection to the attorney fact finder's report because the court failed to review the evidence considered by the attorney fact finder, and (2) rendered judgment in accordance with the attorney fact finder's report because the report contained insufficient factual

¹ The defendant was not represented by counsel for the entirety of the underlying action, including the proceedings before the attorney fact finder. The defendant is represented by counsel in this appeal.

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

699

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

findings. We agree with both of the defendant's claims and, accordingly, reverse the judgment of the court.

The following facts and procedural history are relevant to our disposition of this appeal. On April 24, 2018, the plaintiff, a law firm, commenced this action seeking to collect unpaid fees for legal services it provided to its former client, the defendant. The plaintiff's three count complaint generally alleges that the defendant retained the plaintiff to represent her in a postjudgment dissolution proceeding. The complaint alleges that the parties executed a retainer agreement on December 2, 2016, and that the plaintiff provided the defendant with legal representation through approximately May 20, 2017. The complaint alleges that the defendant owes the plaintiff an unpaid balance of \$17,201.04 for services rendered by the plaintiff. The counts in the complaint against the defendant assert breach of contract, unjust enrichment, and account stated. On May 18, 2018, the (then) self-represented defendant filed a form answer accompanied by a narrative "[e]xplanation and answers," in which she explains the history of the parties' relationship and alleges that the plaintiff overcharged her for the work it performed.

On August 22, 2019, the court, pursuant to Practice Book § 23-53,² issued an order referring the matter to an attorney fact finder.³ On December 9, 2020, the parties

² Practice Book § 23-53 provides in relevant part that "[t]he court, on its own motion, may refer to a fact finder any contract action pending in the Superior Court Such cases may be referred to a fact finder only after the pleadings have been closed, a certificate of closed pleadings has been filed, and the time prescribed for filing a jury trial claim has expired."

³ The court's referral to the attorney fact finder was prompted by the plaintiff's August 22, 2019 caseflow request, which stated that "[a]t the last appearance, the parties agreed to utilize the [Connecticut Bar Association's] dispute resolution program however, the [Connecticut Bar Association] does not allow participation in said program if a lawsuit is already pending. [The] defendant has not responded to [the] plaintiff's request for consent."

700

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

participated in a hearing before an attorney fact finder.⁴ At the hearing, the attorney for the plaintiff stated that “there were two exhibits that were stipulated to, one is the retainer agreement, and the other is just a bill for services” The attorney fact finder marked the retainer agreement as exhibit 1, and the bill for services as exhibit 2. The plaintiff then elicited testimony from the defendant regarding the parties’ relationship and the purposes for her retention of the plaintiff. The defendant testified that she hired a private investigator who discovered that the defendant’s ex-husband, Laith Kasir, had hidden \$74,000 in assets during their marital dissolution proceedings. She testified that she retained the plaintiff to obtain her portion of those hidden assets, and that she signed the retainer agreement marked as exhibit 1. The defendant also testified that she later entered into a postjudgment stipulation with respect to the hidden assets, which provided that she would receive the entire \$74,000 of the hidden assets. The defendant finally testified that she received the bill for services provided by the plaintiff marked as exhibit 2; although she paid the plaintiff \$13,000, it had been her “understanding . . . that ten thousand should take” her through the collection of her ex-husband’s assets; and she has refused to pay the full amount claimed by the plaintiff “[b]ecause the bills are unrealistic.”

The hearing before the attorney fact finder continued by way of the defendant’s testimony in a narrative manner. The defendant testified that, following her divorce and before she retained the plaintiff, she had hired

⁴ At the inception of the hearing, the attorney fact finder outlined a concern that the pleadings were not closed because the plaintiff had filed a motion to strike the defendant’s answer, which was not decided at the time of the hearing. See Practice Book § 23-53 (prescribing that referral to attorney fact finder can occur “only after the pleadings have been closed”). This issue was not affirmatively resolved on the record before the attorney fact finder and was not presented as an issue before the trial court.

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

701

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

an investigator to discover assets she believed her ex-husband had hidden from her during the dissolution proceedings and, through that investigator, she had learned that her ex-husband had a retirement account with an approximate balance of \$74,000. She stated that she confronted her “ex-husband’s attorney, and they wanted to divide that asset.” The defendant explained that she paid the plaintiff \$10,000 “really to get [her] case resolved and get [her] rightful share” of her ex-husband’s hidden assets as she believed there were more assets than the \$74,000 her investigator had discovered. She testified that she had retained the plaintiff to discover other assets she believed her ex-husband had hidden but, instead, she was convinced by the plaintiff to settle for receiving the entire proceeds from the discovered account in lieu of conducting discovery to uncover further assets. She testified that Attorney Michael Budlong, an attorney employed by the plaintiff, overbilled her for meetings with her and was residing in Florida during the relevant time period. She further testified that the plaintiff improperly asked for \$3000 in addition to the \$10,000 she initially provided to resolve the case, that the stipulation she entered into to resolve the \$74,000 in hidden assets failed to account for additional stocks her ex-husband possessed, and, thus, she later had to retain new counsel to obtain those additional hidden assets. The defendant also testified that the total amount charged by the plaintiff was approximately \$33,000, of which she paid \$13,000. She claimed that the \$33,000 total charged by the plaintiff was disproportionate to the \$35,000⁵ of her ex-husband’s assets that she actually received, taking into

⁵ There is no explanation in the record for the mathematical discrepancy between the slightly differing sums the defendant claimed she received from her ex-husband, and the slightly differing amounts representing the hidden assets she claimed her investigator had found for which she settled while represented by the plaintiff.

702

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

account the \$4000 she independently paid to her investigator.⁶

On January 14, 2020, the attorney fact finder filed with the court a brief written report (report) finding in favor of the plaintiff. The entire report provides: “On December 9, 2019, the above captioned parties appeared for a hearing. The hearing was held and completed on that date. The following are the findings and conclusion of this fact finder.

“(1.) This is an action to recover attorney’s fees. [The] plaintiff introduced two exhibits. Exhibit 1 is the retainer letter for this representation and Exhibit 2 is [the] plaintiff’s bill for the services provided showing a balance due of \$16,102.50 plus interest of \$4675.54 for a total of \$20,778.04.

“(2.) The defendant questioned whether the time charges were accurate and claimed that she was overcharged. Although the representation was successful in getting her some recovery of a portion of the funds in dispute. I would give the defendant a credit of \$2500 on her claims of overcharging.

“Accordingly, I would grant the [plaintiff] . . . the amount of \$13,602.50 in fees plus interest of \$4000 for a total judgment of \$17,602.50 in favor of the plaintiff.”

⁶ At the conclusion of the hearing before the attorney fact finder, the defendant attempted to introduce into evidence a series of e-mails between the parties, a report of the private investigator, and other documents to support her defenses. The plaintiff objected to all of these exhibits as inadmissible on the grounds of hearsay, relevancy, and as communications regarding a settlement negotiation. The attorney fact finder sustained all of the plaintiff’s objections to these exhibits. In her objection to the report, the defendant claimed that it was error for the attorney fact finder not to have admitted those exhibits into evidence. Notwithstanding, the trial court stated in its decision that it had reviewed certain of the defendant’s documents as part of its assessment of the report, and the court concluded that “whether admitted or excluded . . . [these exhibits do] not constitute a legal defense to the plaintiff’s claim.” On appeal to this court, the defendant makes no specific claim in regard to this set of exhibits.

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

703

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

On January 24, 2020, the defendant, pursuant to Practice Book § 23-57,⁷ filed an objection to the attorney fact finder's report, raising eight claims of error, and she attached eight documents to her filing.⁸ In her objection, the defendant argued: (1) the report was "not properly reached due to lack of evidence" because the attorney fact finder improperly excluded her proffered exhibits; (2) the report lacked evidence because the bill submitted by the plaintiff was fabricated as it included charges for motions that were filed prior to the plaintiff's retention; (3) the parties agreed that \$10,000 was "sufficient to do the work"; (4) the plaintiff exhausted the \$10,000 payment within the first eight days after its retention without completing any discovery, asset location, depositions, or a trial within those eight days; (5) Attorney Budlong was in Florida and the plaintiff neglected her case; (6) the attorney fact finder's finding that the " 'representation was successful' " was erroneous because she had to pay another attorney to obtain the full amount of her ex-husband's assets; (7) she retained the plaintiff to obtain her ex-husband's "\$72,000" in hidden assets, but that she received a payment of only "\$32,500"; and (8) the plaintiff improperly charged the defendant for the work she performed herself, including the investigation and location of the hidden assets. The defendant concluded her objection by stating that these eight grounds show that the report's statements, conclusions, and factual findings were not properly reached. The plaintiff did not file a written response to the defendant's objection.

⁷ Practice Book § 23-57 (a) provides: "A party may file objections to the acceptance of a finding of facts on the ground that conclusions of fact stated in it were not properly reached on the basis of the subordinate facts found, or that the fact finder erred in rulings on evidence or in other rulings, or that there are other reasons why the finding of facts should not be accepted."

⁸ Although the court discussed certain of these documents in its decision, the defendant has not specifically raised any issue regarding the court's treatment of these documents on appeal. Accordingly, they warrant no further discussion.

704

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

On October 1, 2020, the court, pursuant to Practice Book § 23-58,⁹ held a hearing on the defendant’s objection. At the hearing, both parties initially presented argument as to the scope of the court’s review of the report, the basis for the \$2500 reduction in fees, and the several grammatical ambiguities in the report as to the amount of the judgment. The court preliminarily stated that it did not “have any basis to make a ruling on whether or not the [attorney] fact finder properly excluded evidence or not,” and that it did not “have a basis for understanding why [the decision to credit the defendant \$2500] was made.” The court, citing *Banks Building Co., LLC v. Malanga Family Real Estate Holding, LLC*, 92 Conn. App. 394, 399, 885 A.2d 204 (2005) (*Banks*), also stated that “most of what I have to decide is whether or not I’m going to accept the [attorney] fact finder’s report. I don’t believe I can do that with—just with the technical aspects of what’s been written here. The next opportunity is to reject the findings of fact and remand the case to the finder who originally heard the matter.” The court further stated that it is “obligated to look at the entire record” and that it did not “have a record of what was said at the event itself, and I think I really need to look at that to

⁹ Practice Book § 23-58 provides: “(a) After review of the finding of facts and hearing on any objections thereto, the judicial authority may take the following action: (1) render judgment in accordance with the finding of facts; (2) reject the finding of facts and remand the case to the fact finder who originally heard the matter for a rehearing on all or part of the finding of facts; (3) reject the finding of facts and remand the matter to another fact finder for rehearing; (4) reject the finding of facts and revoke the reference; (5) remand the case to the fact finder who originally heard the matter for a finding on an issue raised in an objection which was not addressed in the original finding of facts; or (6) take any other action the judicial authority may deem appropriate.

“(b) The judicial authority may correct a finding of facts at any time before accepting it, upon the written stipulation of the parties.

“(c) The fact finder shall not be called as a witness, nor shall the decision of the fact finder be admitted into evidence at another proceeding ordered by a judicial authority.”

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

705

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

figure out whether or not there was an evidentiary basis for the \$2500 or if there was a basis for excluding evidence that was being offered by the [defendant].” The court concluded the hearing by indicating its intention to order and review the transcript of the hearing before the attorney fact finder to determine whether a remand to the attorney fact finder was necessary.

On October 19, 2020, the court issued a memorandum of decision in which it overruled the defendant’s objection to the report. At the outset, the court noted that the retainer agreement and bill for services that were entered into evidence as exhibits 1 and 2 at the hearing before the attorney fact finder “are no longer in the clerk’s possession; however, the court accepts the findings of the [attorney] fact finder, that there was a retainer agreement and a disputed balance owed, as agreed upon by the parties. The defendant’s essential claim is that the plaintiff overbilled her for the services rendered.” The court noted also that “[a] transcript of the [attorney] fact finder proceeding was made a court exhibit in this case,” thereby implying that the court reviewed the transcript corresponding to the hearing before the attorney fact finder. The court concluded that, “although errors were made in preserving an accurate record of the evidence submitted by both parties, the decision of the [attorney] fact finder in favor of the plaintiff was well grounded in the law of contract and the evidence presented. Further, although the defendant had no defenses to the plaintiff’s claim, the [attorney] fact finder nonetheless credited the defendant with \$2500 in overcharges. During her testimony, for example, she identified instances where she had been billed excessively for actual time that was spent on her file. Absent a formally filed defense and based upon her general testimony of being overbilled, the court finds that the credit of \$2500 is not clearly erroneous.”¹⁰ The

¹⁰ In contrast to the court’s statements, the defendant did file a formal defense to the plaintiff’s complaint by way of her answer, and the plaintiff

706

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

court, in accordance with the report, rendered judgment in favor of the plaintiff in the amount of \$17,602.50. This appeal followed.

On December 10, 2020, during the pendency of this appeal, the defendant filed a motion for articulation representing that counsel for the plaintiff provided her with both exhibits 1 and 2, which were “missing” from the clerk’s office. On the basis of this recent discovery, the defendant asked the trial court to articulate, *inter alia*, whether the court viewed exhibits 1 and 2 introduced at the hearing before the fact finder before it affirmed the report. On April 12, 2021, the court issued an articulation acknowledging that it had not viewed exhibits 1 and 2, which had been entered into evidence before the attorney fact finder, but were absent from the record on the court’s review of the report.¹¹

On appeal, the defendant claims that the court improperly (1) overruled her objection to the attorney

never objected to the attorney fact finder’s report seeking to challenge the \$2500 credit provided to the defendant.

¹¹ On December 11, 2020, the defendant filed a motion for rectification, pursuant to Practice Book § 66-5, seeking that the court include in the record for appeal “the missing plaintiff’s exhibits 1 and 2 so that they are made part of the court file.” On April 12, 2021, the court issued a rectification stating that, “[a]lthough exhibits 1 and 2 were accepted into evidence at [the attorney] fact finder hearing, they were not found in the court’s file at the time of the appeal. In reviewing the evidence folder for this matter on April 8, 2021, the court concludes that they are either no longer in the court’s possession or have been improvidently misfiled. In light of this circumstance, the court has no objection to the rectification of the court’s file to include exhibits 1 and 2.” The court then conditioned its rectification on the agreement of the parties, stating that “[t]he parties appear to agree that the submitted documents are accurate copies of the exhibits, as filed with the fact finder. If this is incorrect, either party may seek a hearing to establish the fact that these documents are accurate copies of exhibits 1 and 2.” Neither party has sought such a hearing with the trial court. We offer no opinion on this process except to note generally that a motion for rectification “cannot be used to add new matters to the record that were not presented at trial.” (Emphasis added; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Walker*, 319 Conn. 668, 680, 126 A.3d 1087 (2015).

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

707

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

fact finder's report because the court failed to review the evidence considered by the attorney fact finder, and (2) rendered judgment in accordance with the attorney fact finder's report because the report contained insufficient factual findings.

Because both of the defendant's claims challenge the actions taken by both the attorney fact finder and the court, we first outline the parameters of the attorney fact finder process and the applicable standards of review. Subject to certain conditions, a court may refer a matter to an attorney fact finder to hear and decide issues of fact in contract actions pending in the Superior Court when the amount in controversy is less than \$50,000. See Practice Book § 23-53; see also General Statutes § 52-549n. An attorney fact finder shall proceed to determine the matter submitted to them, a record shall be made of the proceedings before the attorney fact finder, and the rules of evidence shall apply. See Practice Book § 23-55;¹² see also General Statutes § 52-549r. An attorney fact finder's report shall be in writing, state in separate and consecutively numbered paragraphs the facts found and the conclusions drawn therefrom, include the days the hearing took place, be signed by the attorney fact finder, and be filed with the clerk's office within 120 days of the completion of the hearing. See Practice Book §§ 19-8 and 23-56; see also General Statutes § 52-549r. Within fourteen days after the filing of the report, a party may file objections to the report on the grounds that conclusions of fact stated in it were not properly reached on the basis of the subordinate facts found, that the fact finder erred in rulings on evidence or in other rulings, or that there are other reasons why the finding of facts should not be accepted.

¹² Practice Book § 23-55 was amended, effective January 1, 2021, to replace the phrase "civil rules of evidence" with the phrase "Connecticut Code of Evidence." This technical change has no bearing on our analysis.

708

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

See Practice Book § 23-57; see also General Statutes § 52-549s.

When presented with an objection to an attorney fact finder report, a trial court must hold a hearing on the objection. See Practice Book § 23-58; see also General Statutes § 52-549s. The trial court then has six discretionary options; it can “(1) render judgment in accordance with the finding of facts; (2) reject the finding of facts and remand the case to the fact finder who originally heard the matter for a rehearing on all or part of the finding of facts; (3) reject the finding of facts and remand the matter to another fact finder for rehearing; (4) reject the finding of facts and revoke the reference; (5) remand the case to the fact finder who originally heard the matter for a finding on an issue raised in an objection which was not addressed in the original finding of facts; or (6) take any other action the judicial authority may deem appropriate.” Practice Book § 23-58; see also General Statutes § 52-549s.

When assessing the factual findings and legal conclusions of the attorney fact finder, the trial court is required to use different standards of review. The trial court is required to use the clearly erroneous standard of review to assess the attorney fact finder’s factual findings. “The factual findings of [an attorney fact finder] on any issue are reversible only if they are clearly erroneous. . . . [A reviewing court] cannot retry the facts or pass upon the credibility of the witnesses. . . . A finding of fact is clearly erroneous when there is no evidence in the record to support it . . . or when although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Shapero v. Mercedes*, 262 Conn. 1, 6, 808 A.2d 666 (2002). As to any legal conclusions made by the attorney fact finder, the trial

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

709

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

court, on review, is required to apply the plenary standard of review to assess the attorney fact finder's legal conclusions. "[B]ecause the attorney [fact finder] does not have the powers of a court and is simply a fact finder, [a]ny legal conclusions reached by an attorney [fact finder] have no conclusive effect. . . . The reviewing court is the effective arbiter of the law and the legal opinions of [an attorney fact finder], like those of the parties, though they may be helpful, carry no weight not justified by their soundness as viewed by the court that renders judgment." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Silver Hill Hospital, Inc. v. Kessler*, 200 Conn. App. 742, 747, 240 A.3d 740 (2020). With these principles in mind, we turn to the claims presented in this appeal.

I

The defendant first claims that the court improperly overruled her objection to the attorney fact finder's report because the court failed to review all of the evidence considered by the attorney fact finder. We agree.

We begin with the standard of review and legal principles relevant to the defendant's first claim. This claim requires us to determine whether the court employed the proper standard of review in assessing the fact finder's report and, thus, we exercise plenary review. See *Lewis v. Frazao Building Corp.*, 115 Conn. App. 324, 333, 972 A.2d 284 (2009) (applying plenary review to claim as to "whether the court employed the proper standard of review in assessing the fact finder's report"); see also *State v. Manuel T.*, 337 Conn. 429, 453, 254 A.3d 278 (2020) (whether trial court applied proper legal standard is subject to plenary review on appeal). To the extent we are required to interpret the defendant's objection to the report, our review also is plenary. See *BNY Western Trust v. Roman*, 295 Conn.

710

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

194, 210, 990 A.2d 853 (2010) (interpretation of pleadings is question of law subject to plenary review).

In *Banks Building Co., LLC v. Malanga Family Real Estate Holding, LLC*, supra, 92 Conn. App. 394, this court articulated the proper process for a trial court's review of an attorney fact finder's report. In *Banks*, the defendant claimed on appeal that the trial court improperly rendered judgment in accordance with the attorney fact finder's report without first holding a hearing on the defendant's objections. *Id.*, 397. This court agreed with the defendant, holding that the "plain language" of Practice Book § 23-58 "indicates that if any objections to the report have been raised, the court, before deciding on one of the available courses of action, must take the mandatory prerequisite step of holding a hearing on the objections." *Id.*, 398–99. Additionally, "[t]here is no per se requirement that a court review the transcripts of the hearing before the [attorney] fact finder prior to rendering judgment on the [attorney] fact finder's report. . . . When an objection raises the claim, however, that the facts found lack evidentiary support, *the court must review all of the evidence that was before the fact finder to make an informed disposition of the objection.*" (Citation omitted; emphasis added.) *Id.*, 399; see also *Dartmoor Condominium Assn., Inc. v. Guarco*, 111 Conn. App. 566, 572–73, 960 A.2d 1076 (2008) (holding that trial court's in camera review of party's objection to attorney fact finder's report did not satisfy *Banks* standard).

Accordingly, a trial court must hold a hearing and assess all of the evidence necessary to consider properly the particular objections raised by a party to a report of an attorney fact finder. Particularly, where a trial court is presented with an objection challenging the factual findings of a report, it must review all the evidence before the attorney fact finder to determine whether those findings are clearly erroneous. See *Silver*

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

711

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

Hill Hospital, Inc. v. Kessler, supra, 200 Conn. App. 746–47; see also *Sclafani Properties, LLC v. Sport-N-Life Distributing, LLC*, 198 Conn. App. 292, 301–302, 233 A.3d 1285 (2020). Where a trial court is presented with an objection challenging the attorney fact finder’s exclusion of evidence at the hearing, it must necessarily review the exhibits that were excluded. See *Silver Hill Hospital, Inc. v. Kessler*, supra, 747; see also *Data-Flow Technologies, LLC v. Harte Nissan, Inc.*, 111 Conn. App. 118, 130–31, 958 A.2d 195 (2008). Where a trial court is presented with an objection challenging the legal conclusions of a report, it must determine whether those conclusions are legally and logically correct and supported by the findings of fact in the report. See *Silver Hill Hospital, Inc. v. Kessler*, supra, 747.

As noted, the defendant’s objection to the report made eight claims of error, specifically challenging the attorney fact finder’s factual findings and resultant legal conclusions. The defendant challenged, inter alia, the amount that the parties’ agreed to in the retainer agreement submitted as exhibit 1 at the attorney fact finder hearing, the propriety of the charges on the bill submitted as exhibit 2 at the attorney fact finder hearing, the evidentiary support for the finding that the plaintiff’s “representation was successful,” and the lack of correlation between the plaintiff’s charges and the work actually performed. In reaching its conclusion to accept the attorney fact finder’s report, however, the court did not examine the retainer agreement and the billing statement because they were not part of the record and, consequently, the court was in no position to determine the merits of the defendant’s objection. Therefore, the court could not properly consider whether the parties had agreed to a capped fee in the retainer agreement or whether the plaintiff’s billing statement accurately reflected the quantum of work performed on behalf of the defendant. In light of these circumstances, the court

712

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

should have exercised its discretion to remand the case back to the attorney fact finder or to “take any other action the judicial authority may deem appropriate.” Practice Book § 23-58 (a); see also General Statutes § 52-549s.

In response, the plaintiff argues that the court’s failure to review the evidence before the fact finder was immaterial for two reasons. First, the plaintiff argues that “the defendant never raised a claim that the parties had agreed to a bargained for, capped fee of \$10,000” before the attorney fact finder, and, second, the defendant’s objection to the report was confined only to the attorney fact finder’s improper exclusion of the exhibits that she had attempted to present to the attorney fact finder at the hearing. We reject the plaintiff’s narrow construction of the defendant’s arguments, which she made as a self-represented party before the attorney fact finder and the court.¹³

First, the nature of the defendant’s objection to the attorney fact finder’s report required the court to review both the retainer agreement and the billing record to properly and fairly assess the defendant’s claims that the billing was excessive and the quantum of work claimed by the plaintiff did not correlate to the claimed time expended. Both of these claims implicate the accuracy and completeness of exhibits 1 and 2 that were presented to the attorney fact finder but were unavailable to the trial court. In the documents that the defendant submitted in response to the plaintiff’s complaint, the defendant raised both of these claims: that the billing was excessive and that counsel’s performance had

¹³ Consistent with our policy of leniency to self-represented litigants, we construe the defendant’s arguments and objection, which she made as a self-represented party, broadly and realistically, rather than narrowly and technically. See *Santana v. Commissioner of Correction*, 208 Conn. App. 460, 465, 264 A.3d 1056 (2021), cert. denied, 340 Conn. 920, 267 A.3d 857 (2022).

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

713

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

not been as promised. At the hearing before the attorney fact finder, the defendant repeatedly testified that the parties had agreed that her \$10,000 payment was sufficient to take care of her case. All of this was adequate for the defendant to place the plaintiff and the attorney fact finder on notice of her capped fee claim.

Second, the defendant's objection was not limited to her claim regarding the attorney fact finder's improper exclusion of documents that she had sought to introduce as evidence before the attorney fact finder. As previously outlined, the defendant's objection to the report expressly made eight challenges to, *inter alia*, the amounts charged for the work performed by the plaintiff and the amount to which the parties agreed for the representation.

In sum, we reiterate that a court, on reviewing a report of an attorney fact finder, must assess all of the evidence that was presented to the attorney fact finder in order to properly consider objections challenging the report of an attorney fact finder. In our view and on the basis of this record, we conclude that the court could not adequately assess the defendant's objections without reviewing both exhibit 1, the retainer agreement, and exhibit 2, the billing record. Faced with the fact that these exhibits were missing from the record, it would have been appropriate for the court to remand the case to the attorney fact finder or to "take any other action the judicial authority may deem appropriate." Practice Book § 23-58 (a); see also General Statutes § 52-549s. In this case, as soon as the court determined that these documents, necessary to its review function, were missing from the record, it should have remanded the matter to the attorney fact finder for the purpose of completing the record and, then, with a complete record, the court could have conducted its review. Because that procedure did not take place, the matter must be remanded to the trial court.

714

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

II

The defendant next claims that the court improperly affirmed the attorney fact finder’s report because it contained insufficient factual findings to support its ultimate conclusion.¹⁴ In support, the defendant argues that “[t]he sole ‘fact found’ in the entire report”—that the plaintiff’s representation was successful—“is insufficient to sustain a legal conclusion that the [retainer agreement] was valid and enforceable for the amount billed” The plaintiff does not advance a substantive counterargument to support the report; rather, the plaintiff argues only that this court should decline to review this argument because the defendant failed to preserve it properly before the trial court. We conclude that the defendant’s claim was properly preserved and that the court improperly affirmed the report.

We begin by setting forth the legal principles relevant to whether a claim properly was preserved for appellate review. “It is well settled that [o]ur case law and rules of practice generally limit [an appellate] court’s review to issues that are distinctly raised at trial. . . . [O]nly in [the] most exceptional circumstances can and will this court consider a claim, constitutional or otherwise, that has not been raised and decided in the trial court. . . . The reason for the rule is obvious: to permit a party to raise a claim on appeal that has not been raised at trial—after it is too late for the trial court or the opposing party to address the claim—would encourage trial by ambush, which is unfair to both the trial

¹⁴ Although our resolution of the defendant’s first claim is dispositive of this appeal, we also address the defendant’s second claim because it is likely to arise on remand. See, e.g., *State v. Raynor*, 337 Conn. 527, 552, 254 A.3d 874 (2020) (addressing “the defendant’s second claim because it is likely to arise on remand”); *State v. Lebrick*, 334 Conn. 492, 521, 223 A.3d 333 (2020) (addressing “the merits of the defendant’s second claim . . . because it is likely to arise on remand”); *Sullivan v. Metro-North Commuter Railroad Co.*, 292 Conn. 150, 164 n.8, 971 A.2d 676 (2009) (“[w]e think it prudent to address the second issue because it is likely to arise on remand”).

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

715

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

court and the opposing party.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Chief Disciplinary Counsel v. Rozbicki*, 326 Conn. 686, 695, 167 A.3d 351 (2017), cert. denied, U.S. , 138 S. Ct. 2583, 201 L. Ed. 2d 295 (2018); see also Practice Book § 60-5 (“court shall not be bound to consider a claim unless it was distinctly raised at the trial or arose subsequent to the trial”). “[T]he determination of whether a claim has been properly preserved will depend on a careful review of the record to ascertain whether the claim on appeal was articulated below with sufficient clarity to place the trial court [and the opposing party] on reasonable notice of that very same claim.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Alpha Beta Capital Partners, L.P. v. Pursuit Investment Management, LLC*, 193 Conn. App. 381, 455, 219 A.3d 801 (2019), cert. denied, 334 Conn. 911, 221 A.3d 446 (2020), and cert. denied, 334 Conn. 911, 221 A.3d 446 (2020). Furthermore, our interpretation of the defendant’s pleadings is a question of law subject to plenary review. See *BNY Western Trust v. Roman*, supra, 295 Conn. 210. As stated herein, consistent with our policy of leniency to self-represented litigants, we construe the plaintiff’s pleadings broadly and realistically, rather than narrowly and technically. See *Santana v. Commissioner of Correction*, 208 Conn. App. 460, 465, 264 A.3d 1056 (2021), cert. denied, 340 Conn. 920, 267 A.3d 857 (2022).

In her objection to the report, the defendant specifically claimed that the report’s “conclusions” were not properly reached on the basis of eight separate grounds. At the hearing on her objection, the defendant, still a self-represented party, repeatedly advanced the same arguments that the report’s conclusions were unsupported. At the hearing, the court itself acknowledged that the report was devoid of a basis for its conclusions and stated that it did not think that it could affirm the report “just with the technical aspects of what’s been

716

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

written here.” We conclude from our broad review of the defendant’s claims that she properly preserved her claim before the court that the conclusion by the report was unsupported by sufficient factual findings. We now turn to consider the claim on the merits.

We next outline our standard of review and the applicable legal principles to determine whether the court properly rendered judgment in accordance with the attorney fact finder’s report. The trial court’s determination to render judgment in accordance with the fact finder’s report is a question of law subject to plenary review. See *Silver Hill Hospital, Inc. v. Kessler*, supra, 200 Conn. App. 747. “[O]ur review is limited to whether the trial court’s legal conclusions are legally and logically correct and whether they find support in the facts set out in the memorandum of decision.” *Id.*, 751.

“When a matter is referred to [an attorney] fact finder, Practice Book § 23-56 (a) mandates that findings of fact be set forth in writing The fact finder’s report shall state, in separate and consecutively numbered paragraphs, the facts found and the conclusions drawn therefrom.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Data-Flow Technologies, LLC v. Harte Nissan, Inc.*, supra, 111 Conn. App. 127. “This court has repeatedly stated that it is the function of a finding to state facts and not evidence. . . . A finding that certain testimony was given does not establish the truth of the facts testified to. . . . A finding should state ultimate, not evidential, facts” (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Post Road Iron Works, Inc. v. Lexington Development Group, Inc.*, 54 Conn. App. 534, 541, 736 A.2d 923 (1999). “In cases involving [attorney] fact finders . . . the report submitted to the trial court must include sufficient facts to support a recommendation. The court cannot appropriately render judgment in accordance with facts found but not communicated. . . . Although the referral of cases to fact finders is

213 Conn. App. 697

JULY, 2022

717

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

intended to create more streamlined access to justice, fact finders must take care with their responsibility of *finding facts* to which the courts may apply the law.” (Citation omitted; emphasis in original.) *Data-Flow Technologies, LLC v. Harte Nissan, Inc.*, supra, 128–29. “We caution fact finders to avoid the confusion that comes from drawing conclusions without expressly finding each subordinate fact.” *Id.*, 129 n.8.

In *Post Road Iron Works, Inc. v. Lexington Development Group, Inc.*, supra, 54 Conn. App. 542, this court concluded that the trial court improperly affirmed the report of an attorney trial referee¹⁵ because it contained insufficient factual findings. The relevant report was five pages, contained seven findings of fact, and had separate sections for discussion and recommendations. *Id.*, 537. The defendants objected to the report on several grounds, but the trial court overruled the defendants’ objection and accepted the attorney trial referee’s report. *Id.*, 538–40. On appeal, this court reversed the judgment of the trial court, reasoning that “the attorney trial referee made just seven findings of fact, one of which merely describes photographic evidence. In the discussion portion of his report, the attorney trial referee summarizes the testimony of the witnesses without making findings of fact.” *Id.*, 541. This court further held that “the trial court drew inferences from the attorney trial referee’s report and entered them as factual findings in its memorandum of decision. This, the trial court may not do. The trial court may accept an attorney trial referee’s report only when the recommendation is supported by the attorney referee’s subordinate findings of fact. We conclude, therefore, that the trial court

¹⁵ For purposes of our review, there is no material distinction between an attorney fact finder and an attorney trial referee as both “share the same function . . . whose determination of the facts is reviewable in accordance with well established procedures prior to the rendition of judgment by the court.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Killion v. Davis*, 257 Conn. 98, 102, 776 A.2d 456 (2001).

718

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 697

Budlong & Budlong, LLC v. Zakko

improperly accepted the attorney trial referee's report." (Footnote omitted.) *Id.*, 542; contra *Data-Flow Technologies, LLC v. Harte Nissan, Inc.*, supra, 111 Conn. App. 129 (holding that attorney fact finder's two reports cumulatively containing ten factual findings supplied "the bare minimum necessary for the court to render judgment appropriately").

The report in the present case falls below the bare minimum necessary for the court appropriately to render judgment. The report is only one-half page long and contains only one factual finding. In the first paragraph, the report identifies the date of the hearing. In the second paragraph, the report describes the two exhibits introduced by the plaintiff and states that the plaintiff's "bill for the services provided [showed] a balance due of \$16,102.50 plus interest of \$4,675.54 for a total of \$20,778.04." In the third paragraph, the report states that "[t]he defendant questioned whether the time charges were accurate and claimed that she was overcharged," finds that "the representation was successful in getting her some recovery of a portion of the funds in dispute," and then concludes that the attorney fact finder "would give the defendant a credit of \$2500 on her claims of overcharging." The report concludes by stating that the attorney fact finder grants "the [plaintiff] . . . the amount of \$13,602.50 in fees plus interest of \$4000 for a total judgment of \$17,602.50 in favor of the plaintiff."

The report's conclusion that the defendant owes the plaintiff \$17,602.50 is not supported by the sole factual finding that the plaintiff's representation was partially successful. The report's statement that exhibits were entered into evidence by the plaintiff does not constitute a finding as to the content of those documents. See *Post Road Iron Works, Inc. v. Lexington Development Group, Inc.*, supra, 54 Conn. App. 541. This minimal report by the attorney fact finder did not provide an adequate factual underlayment for the court's ultimate

213 Conn. App. 719

JULY, 2022

719

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

determination to accept it. Therefore, we conclude that the court improperly rendered judgment in accordance with the report because it was not supported by sufficient factual findings.

The judgment is reversed and the case is remanded with direction to render judgment rejecting the report and for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

JOHN P. COSTAS ET AL. v. COMMISSIONER
OF REVENUE SERVICES
(AC 44075)

Alvord, Cradle and Palmer, Js.

Syllabus

The plaintiff taxpayers, J and B, appealed to the trial court from the decision of the defendant Commissioner of Revenue Services disallowing in part their claims for certain income tax refunds. The plaintiffs resided in Connecticut, but J performed services for his employer, U Co., in both Connecticut and New York. As part of his compensation for those services, J received stock options and restricted stock from U Co. For the 2005, 2007 and 2008 taxable years, the plaintiffs filed Connecticut resident income tax returns on which they reported compensation that J had received from his exercise of stock options and the vesting of restricted stock that U Co. previously had granted to him. They also sought a credit for taxes paid to New York during those years for services J performed for U Co. that occurred both in Connecticut and New York. The commissioner allowed the credit pursuant to the applicable statute (§ 12-704 (a)). Following an audit conducted in New York, the plaintiffs paid additional taxes to New York for compensation that J had received from U Co. for the 2005, 2007 and 2008 taxable years. The plaintiffs filed amended Connecticut resident income tax returns for those years and sought a credit for the additional taxes they paid to New York. The commissioner disallowed in part the requested credit and the plaintiffs' claims for refunds of the taxes paid to New York for the subject taxable years on the ground that the plaintiffs were required to allocate income from the exercise of stock options and the vesting of restricted stock between Connecticut and New York in accordance with the relevant

720

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 719

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

state regulations (§§ 12-711(b)-17 (c) and 12-711(b)-18 (c)). In determining the apportionment and the credit to which the plaintiffs were entitled, the commissioner applied the methodology set forth in those regulations, which he construed as requiring a computation of the total compensation received by J during the relevant periods, including deferred compensation that J received in those periods for services rendered prior thereto. The plaintiffs had proposed an alternate methodology pursuant to the relevant state regulation (§ 12-711(b)-15 (a)) that did not include deferred compensation. The plaintiffs appealed to the trial court from the commissioner's decision, claiming that the commissioner had misinterpreted §§ 12-711(b)-17 (c) and 12-711(b)-18 (c), and abused his discretion in failing to utilize their alternate apportionment methodology because the methodology that he applied resulted in an unfair and inequitable allocation. The trial court rendered summary judgment in favor of the commissioner, and the plaintiffs appealed to this court. *Held:*

1. The trial court and the commissioner correctly interpreted §§ 12-711(b)-17 (c) and 12-711(b)-18 (c) of the regulations, as their construction was mandated by the plain language of those regulations and did not yield absurd or unworkable results: it was undisputed that the deferred compensation at issue was received during the relevant periods, and, therefore, it fell squarely within the straightforward regulatory language directing that the computation of credit shall include all of the compensation received during the relevant periods for the particular services identified therein; moreover, although the plaintiffs claimed that the regulations must be understood in the context of the broader regulatory scheme and its overriding purpose and that their construction of the regulations best achieved that goal, they failed to identify any language in the regulations to substantiate their construction of those provisions, and their belief as to how the regulatory purpose is best served did not trump the plain and unambiguous language of the regulations, which was determinative of their meaning.
2. The plaintiffs' alternative claim that the trial court incorrectly refused to require the commissioner to exercise his discretionary authority under § 12-711(b)-15 (a) of the regulations to approve their proposed alternate apportionment methodology was without merit; because the commissioner correctly construed and applied §§ 12-711(b)-17 (c) and 12-711(b)-18 (c) of the regulations, the resulting apportionment was presumptively fair and equitable under § 12-711(b)-15 (b), and the plaintiffs failed to overcome that presumption by establishing that the methodology set forth in §§ 12-711(b)-17 (c) and 12-711(b)-18 (c) was so unfair and inequitable as applied to J that the commissioner was required to use their alternate apportionment methodology in determining the amount of their tax credit.

213 Conn. App. 719

JULY, 2022

721

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

Procedural History

Appeal from the decision of the defendant disallowing in part the plaintiffs' claims for certain income tax refunds, brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of New Britain, Tax Session, where the parties filed a joint stipulation of facts; thereafter, the court, *Hon. Arnold W. Aronson*, judge trial referee, granted the defendant's motion for summary judgment, denied the plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment and rendered judgment thereon, from which the plaintiffs appealed to this court. *Affirmed*.

Timothy P. Noonan, for the appellants (plaintiffs).

Patrick T. Ring, assistant attorney general, with whom were *Joseph J. Chambers*, deputy assistant attorney general, and, on the brief, *William Tong*, attorney general, and *Clare Kindall*, solicitor general, for the appellee (defendant).

Opinion

PALMER, J. The plaintiffs, John P. Costas and Barbara S. Costas, appeal from the summary judgment rendered by the trial court in favor of the defendant, the Commissioner of Revenue Services (commissioner), sustaining the commissioner's assessment of taxes against the plaintiffs with respect to certain stock options and restricted stock units granted to John P. Costas by his employer as compensation for services he performed both in this state and in New York.¹ On appeal, the plaintiffs claim that the court incorrectly concluded that the commissioner was entitled to summary judgment because the court (1) misinterpreted and misapplied

¹ Although both John P. Costas and Barbara S. Costas are the plaintiffs in this appeal, only compensation received by John P. Costas is relevant to the issues presented by the appeal. For the sake of simplicity and when necessary, hereinafter we refer to John P. Costas, individually, by his surname.

722

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 719

Costas *v.* Commissioner of Revenue Services

the regulations at issue, namely, §§ 12-711(b)-17² and 12-711(b)-18³ of the Regulations of Connecticut State

² Section 12-711(b)-17 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies provides in relevant part: “(a) Connecticut adjusted gross income derived from or connected with sources within this state includes, to the extent provided in this section, income recognized under section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code on the transfer of property in connection with the performance of services, if, during the period beginning with the first day of the taxable year of the transferee during which such property was transferred thereto and ending with the last day of the taxable year of the transferee during which the rights of the person having the beneficial interest in such property first were transferable or first were not subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, whichever occurs earlier (or, if an election is made under section 83(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code, the taxable year that such election is made), the transferee was performing such services within Connecticut. In determining whether the person was performing such services within Connecticut, the regulations of this Part shall apply. . . .

“(c) If, during the period described in subsection (a) of this section, the transferee’s services were performed partly within and partly without Connecticut, the portion of the amount by which the fair market value of the property, as determined under section 83(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, at the first time the rights of the person having the beneficial interest in such property are transferable or are not subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, whichever occurs earlier, exceeds the amount, if any, paid for such property, that is derived from or connected with sources within this state is in the same ratio that the total compensation received from the transferor during such period for services performed in this state bears to the total compensation received from the transferor during such period for services performed both within and without this state. . . .”

³ Section 12-711(b)-18 of the Connecticut State Regulations provides in relevant part: “(a) Connecticut adjusted gross income derived from or connected with sources within this state includes, to the extent provided in this section, income recognized under section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code in connection with a nonqualified stock option if, during the period beginning with the first day of the taxable year of the optionee during which such option was granted and ending with the last day of the taxable year of the optionee during which such option was exercised (or, if the option has a readily ascertainable fair market value, as defined in 26 C.F.R. § 1.83-7(b), at the time of grant, the taxable year during which such option was granted), the optionee was performing services within Connecticut. In determining whether the optionee was performing services within Connecticut, the regulations of this Part shall apply. . . .

“(c) If, during the period described in subsection (a) of this section, the optionee’s services were performed partly within and partly without Connecticut, the portion of the amount by which the fair market value of the stock, at the time such option was exercised, exceeds the option price, that is derived from or connected with sources within this state is in the same ratio that the total compensation received from the grantor during such

213 Conn. App. 719

JULY, 2022

723

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

Agencies, which govern the credit to which a Connecticut taxpayer is entitled for taxes paid to another state on compensation derived from the vesting of restricted stock and the exercise of nonqualified stock options (stock options), respectively, for services performed in both Connecticut and that other state, and (2) refused to require that the commissioner approve an alternate apportionment methodology with regard to the income attributable to Connecticut and New York for purposes of determining the amount of those tax credits pursuant to § 12-711(b)-15⁴ of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies.⁵ We reject the plaintiffs' claims and, accordingly, affirm the judgment of the court.

The following uncontested facts, as set forth by the court, and procedural history are relevant to our resolution of this appeal. "Costas joined UBS [Investment Bank (UBS), formerly known as UBS Warburg] in 1996

period for services performed in this state bears to the total compensation received from the grantor during such period for services performed both within and without this state. . . ."

⁴ Section 12-711(b)-15 of the Regulations of Connecticut States Agencies provides in relevant part: "(a) Where the methods provided in this Part do not apportion items of income, gain, loss and deduction in a fair and equitable manner, the Commissioner may require a nonresident individual to apportion those items under such method as the Commissioner prescribes, as long as the prescribed method results in a fair and equitable apportionment. In addition, a nonresident individual may submit an alternate method of apportionment with respect to items of income, gain, loss and deduction attributable to a business, trade, profession or occupation carried on partly within and partly without Connecticut. The proposed method shall be fully explained in the Connecticut nonresident income tax return. If the method proposed by such individual is approved by the Commissioner, it may be used in lieu of the applicable method described in this Part.

"(b) The methods provided in this Part are presumed to result in fair and equitable apportionment, and any person, whether it be the Commissioner or a nonresident individual, proposing an alternate method of apportionment shall bear the burden of establishing that the methods provided in this Part unfairly and inequitably attribute items of income, gain, loss or deduction to Connecticut. . . ."

⁵ We note that, although §§ 12-711(b)-15, 12-711(b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies refer to nonresident taxpayers, they are equally applicable to resident taxpayers. See Regs., Conn. State Agencies § 12-704(a)-4 (a) (3).

724

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 719

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

as the Head of Fixed Income. In 2001, [he] assumed the role of [chief executive officer (CEO)] of . . . UBS . . . before being promoted to Deputy CEO of UBS in 2004. In 2005, [Costas] became CEO of UBS's Dillon Reed Capital Management, and he remained in that role until he left UBS in 2007. When [Costas] joined UBS in 1996, he was a resident of New Jersey and he performed services for UBS in New York. However, in 1998, [he] moved to Connecticut and, in doing so, moved his office from New York City to . . . Stamford [Following this move, Costas initially] did not spend any significant amount of time performing services in New York. Gradually, however, his time spent [performing services] in New York increased as follows: [between 1 and 2 percent in 2003, 10.22 percent in 2004, 29.11 percent in 2005, 66.29 percent in 2006, 60.22 percent in 2007, and 0 percent in 2008].

“As an executive of UBS, from 1998 through 2007, [Costas'] compensation package was comprised [primarily] of [deferred stock based compensation] . . . which had no readily ascertainable value at the time of grant.⁶ Specifically, UBS granted [Costas] stock options (the ability to purchase UBS stock at a fixed price after a period of vestment) and restricted stock (a grant of stock subject to a vesting schedule deemed received on the date of vestment).” (Footnote added; internal quotation marks omitted.) “[In] recognition that stock options and restricted stock [generally] have no reasonably ascertainable fair market value at the time awarded and, consequently, are not subject to taxation at the time they are granted [stock options are treated as taxable income when they are exercised and restricted stock is treated as taxable income upon vesting].”

“The plaintiffs . . . filed Connecticut resident income tax returns for each of the taxable years of

⁶ Although Costas also received some compensation in the form of wages and bonuses, those wages and bonuses are not the subject of this appeal.

213 Conn. App. 719

JULY, 2022

725

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

2005, 2007 and 2008, and, on each of these returns, the plaintiffs included compensation that [Costas] had received from his exercise of stock options and [the vesting of] restricted stock previously given to him [by UBS]. In filing their tax returns, the plaintiffs claim a credit for taxes paid to New York for services [Costas] performed for UBS . . . that occurred both in Connecticut and in New York.” This credit was awarded pursuant to General Statutes § 12-704,⁷ which permits a Connecticut resident to offset a credit for income taxes paid to other states “[i]n order for [the] taxpayer to avoid having to pay a double tax on the same services provided to his or her employer.”

“Subsequently, the New York State Department of Taxation and Finance conducted an audit of the plaintiffs’ tax returns and entered into an agreement with the plaintiffs whereby the plaintiffs agreed that they owed the state of New York additional tax on the compensation that [Costas] had received from UBS for the taxable years of 2005, 2007 and 2008. Following the payment of the additional taxes to New York, the plaintiffs filed amended Connecticut income tax returns for the taxable years of 2005, 2007 and 2008 in which they sought additional credits for these additional taxes paid to New York. . . . The [commissioner] disallowed part of the plaintiffs’ claims for a refund of taxes paid to New York for the taxable years of 2005, 2007 and 2008 [on the ground] that the plaintiffs were required to allocate income from the exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock between Connecticut and New York in accordance with [§§ 12-711(b)-17 (c) and

⁷ General Statutes § 12-704 (a) (1) provides: “Any resident or part-year resident of this state shall be allowed a credit against the tax otherwise due under this chapter in the amount of any income tax imposed on such resident or part-year resident for the taxable year by another state of the United States or political subdivision thereof or the District of Columbia on income derived from sources therein and which is also subject to tax under this chapter.”

726

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 719

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

12-711(b)-18 (c) of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies].”⁸ (Footnote omitted.)

The parties acknowledge that, in calculating the amount of the credit to which the plaintiffs were entitled for each of the taxable years at issue, the commissioner was required to apply the methodology set forth in §§ 12-711(b)-17 (c) and 12-711(b)-18 (c) of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies for determining how much income from stock options and grants of restricted stock is allocated to this state when, as here, the employee performs services both within and outside this state during the “grant-to-exercise period” (in the case of stock options) and “grant-to-vest period” (in the case of restricted stock).⁹ As the parties also agree, the proper apportionment of income for tax credit purposes is a function of the ratio between the total compensation received during the grant-to-exercise period or grant-to-vest period for services performed in New York (the ratio’s numerator) and the total compensation received during those periods for services performed in this state, New York and anywhere else (the ratio’s denominator). In determining that apportionment, however, the commissioner construed §§ 12-711(b)-17 (c) and 12-711(b)-18 (c) as requiring a computation of the total compensation received by Costas during the grant-to-exercise and grant-to-vest periods, *including* deferred compensation that was received in those periods for

⁸ In their amended returns for taxable years 2005, 2007 and 2008, the plaintiffs increased the amount of their claim for credit for income tax paid to New York to \$259,446, \$2,878,718, and \$280,668, respectively. The commissioner ultimately determined that the plaintiffs were entitled to credit for income tax paid to New York in the amount of \$182,536, \$1,568,022 and \$70,899, for the taxable years 2005, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

⁹ The parties use the term “grant-to-exercise period” to refer to the period from the date a stock option is awarded to the date the option is exercised, and the term “grant-to-vest period” to refer to the period from the date restricted stock is awarded to the date of its vesting. For ease of reference, we hereinafter use the same terminology.

213 Conn. App. 719

JULY, 2022

727

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

services rendered prior thereto. This construction of the applicable regulations differed from the interpretation advocated by the plaintiffs, who contended that the apportionment computation should include only compensation received *for services actually performed* during such periods and *not* deferred compensation earned earlier but received in those periods.¹⁰

In accordance with General Statutes § 12-730,¹¹ the plaintiffs appealed to the trial court from the determination of the commissioner partially disallowing their claims for refunds. On appeal to the trial court, the plaintiffs claimed that the commissioner (1) misinterpreted §§ 12-711(b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies, thereby miscalculating to their detriment the amount of the credit available to them, and (2) abused his discretion in failing

¹⁰ By way of illustration of these differing interpretations, the parties provided the following example, as set forth in the plaintiffs' brief to this court: "On June 30, 2007, [Costas] received \$13,997,956 in compensation from the vesting of restricted stock that he was granted on March 1, 2006, from [UBS]. . . . During this period of time, [Costas] worked about 65 percent of his time in New York. [The commissioner], taking into account *all* compensation received by [Costas] from January 1, 2006, through June 30, 2007—including compensation received by him in 2006 and 2007 for services rendered *prior* to 2006, when he worked much less in New York—calculated the 'New York [c]ompensation ratio' to be only 23.76 percent, and thus significantly reducing the credit [Costas] claimed for tax paid to New York.

"[The] [p]laintiffs, taking into account all compensation received by [Costas] from January 1, 2006, [through] June 30, [2007], *for services performed during such period*, calculated the 'New York [c]ompensation ratio' to be 65.56 percent. Thus, under [the commissioner's] method, a much lower percentage of this income was deemed to be derived from New York sources, and, therefore, [Costas] was entitled to a much lower credit for the New York tax paid." (Emphasis in original.)

¹¹ General Statutes § 12-730 provides in relevant part: "[A]ny taxpayer aggrieved because of any determination or disallowance by the commissioner under section 12-729, 12-729a or 12-732 may, not later than thirty days after notice of the commissioner's determination or disallowance is mailed to the taxpayer, take an appeal therefrom to the superior court for the judicial district of New Britain"

728

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 719

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

to utilize the alternate method of apportionment authorized under § 12-711(b)-15 of the regulations in determining the amount of credit to which they were entitled. After jointly stipulating to uncontested facts, the plaintiffs and the commissioner both filed motions for summary judgment.¹²

The court subsequently issued a memorandum of decision granting the commissioner's motion for summary judgment and denying the plaintiffs' motion. In its decision, the court agreed with the commissioner's construction of §§ 12-711(b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies as providing that the compensation to be considered for purposes of income allocation was all of the compensation Costas received during the grant-to-exercise and grant-to-vest periods, including deferred compensation that Costas received in those periods but had earned prior to those periods. The court held that this calculation was dictated by the language of the regulations, noting, further, that the required methodology was consistent with federal and state income tax principles, which, as the court explained, "focus on taxable events, not when the services occurred," such that "compensation is includable in gross income in the year received, and not in the year earned." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) The court also rejected the plaintiffs' contention that the commissioner should have exercised his discretion to award them the credit they sought under the alternate apportionment methodology authorized by § 12-711(b)-15 of the regulations because the methodology applied by the commissioner resulted in an unfair and inequitable allocation. The plaintiffs thereafter appealed to this court, renewing the same claims that they had raised in the trial court.

¹² Neither the plaintiffs nor the commissioner claimed that there were any material facts in dispute.

213 Conn. App. 719

JULY, 2022

729

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

Before addressing those claims, we set forth the legal principles that guide our analysis. Our review of the trial court’s decision granting the commissioner’s motion for summary judgment is well settled. “Summary judgment shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, affidavits and any other proof submitted show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. . . . Our review of the trial court’s decision to grant [a] motion for summary judgment is plenary.” (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Elder v. 21st Century Media Newspaper, LLC*, 204 Conn. App. 414, 420, 254 A.3d 344 (2021).

“Administrative regulations have the full force and effect of statutory law and are interpreted using the same process as statutory construction Accordingly, in conducting this analysis, we are guided by the well established principle that [i]ssues of statutory construction raise questions of law, over which we [also] exercise plenary review. . . .

“When construing a statute, [the court’s] fundamental objective is to ascertain and give effect to the apparent intent of the legislature. . . . In other words, [the court] seek[s] to determine, in a reasoned manner, the meaning of the statutory language as applied to the facts of [the] case, including the question of whether the language actually does apply. . . . In seeking to determine that meaning . . . [General Statutes] § 1-2z directs [the court] first to consider the text of the statute itself and its relationship to other statutes. If, after examining such text and considering such relationship, the meaning of such text is plain and unambiguous and does not yield absurd or unworkable results, extratextual evidence of the meaning of the statute shall not be considered. . . . The test to determine ambiguity is whether the statute, when read in context, is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation.” (Citations

730

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 719

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Allen v. Commissioner of Revenue Services*, 324 Conn. 292, 307–308, 152 A.3d 488 (2016), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 2217, 198 L. Ed. 2d 659 (2017).

“Ordinarily, the construction and interpretation of a [regulation] is a question of law for the courts where the administrative decision is not entitled to special deference, particularly where . . . the [regulation] has not previously been subjected to judicial scrutiny or time-tested agency interpretations.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State Medical Society v. Board of Examiners in Podiatry*, 208 Conn. 709, 718, 546 A.2d 830 (1988). Because the regulations at issue in the present case have not previously been subjected to judicial scrutiny, and because neither party claims that the commissioner’s interpretation is time-tested, the commissioner’s interpretation of the applicable regulations is not entitled to deference.

Furthermore, “[t]he United States Supreme Court has recognized that the taxing authority of a state government is a key component of a state’s sovereignty.” *Housatonic Railroad Co. v. Commissioner of Revenue Services*, 301 Conn. 268, 281, 21 A.3d 759 (2011). As the United States Supreme Court also has explained, “[t]he [s]tates have a very wide discretion in the laying of their taxes. When dealing with their proper domestic concerns, and not trenching upon the prerogatives of the [n]ational [g]overnment or violating the guaranties of the [f]ederal [c]onstitution, the [s]tates have the attribute of sovereign powers in devising their fiscal systems to ensure revenue and foster their local interests.” *Allied Stores of Ohio, Inc. v. Bowers*, 358 U.S. 522, 526, 79 S. Ct. 437, 3 L. Ed. 2d 480 (1959). “The [state’s] taxing power is an inherent attribute of sovereignty and as such unlimited in character and scope, [except insofar] as limitations may be self-imposed. Under our form of government its exercise is vested in the legislative

213 Conn. App. 719

JULY, 2022

731

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

department which may exercise it for lawful purposes in its discretion both as regards the choice of subject-matter of taxation and the extent and manner of the tax, save as constitutional limitations may intervene” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Lublin v. Brown*, 168 Conn. 212, 221, 362 A.2d 769 (1975). Thus, the authority of the legislature to levy taxes and to grant exemptions is extremely broad. See *Allied Stores of Ohio, Inc. v. Bowers*, supra, 526; *Lublin v. Brown*, supra, 220–23. Consequently, “[i]t is well established that a state may tax all of the income of one of its domiciliaries, irrespective of the source of that income, geographical or otherwise.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Allen v. Commissioner of Revenue Services*, supra, 324 Conn. 316.

Nevertheless, Connecticut allows a credit to residents of this state for taxes paid by such residents to another jurisdiction with respect to any income that is derived from sources within that other jurisdiction, including compensation for services performed therein. See General Statutes § 12-704. Under our statutory scheme, a taxpayer is entitled to such credit only if two conditions are met: (1) the tax paid to the other jurisdiction is for income derived from sources within that jurisdiction and (2) the income for which the credit is being sought is taxable as income in this state. See General Statutes § 12-704 (a). As previously indicated, §§ 12-711(b)-17 (pertaining to restricted stock) and 12-711(b)-18 (pertaining to stock options) of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies govern the credit against this state’s income tax to which a Connecticut taxpayer is entitled for taxes paid to another state on compensation derived from those sources for services performed in both Connecticut and that other state.¹³

¹³ It also bears emphasis that, as the trial court explained, compensation from restricted stock is treated as income at the time the stock vests, and compensation derived from stock options generally is treated as income at the time the options are exercised. The parties do not dispute that restricted stock and stock options are treated in this manner for tax purposes under

732

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 719

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

Mindful of these principles, we turn to the merits of the plaintiffs' claims.

I

We first address the plaintiffs' claim that the court's interpretation of §§ 12-711(b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies, like that of the commissioner, was flawed, thereby resulting in the wrongful disallowance of certain credits for taxes the plaintiffs had paid to New York. Specifically, the plaintiffs claim that the court misconstrued the regulations by calculating the tax credit on the basis of a computation of the total compensation for the relevant period as including deferred compensation, that is, compensation that Costas received during the grant-to-exercise and grant-to-vest periods but earned *prior* to those periods. In other words, according to the plaintiffs, the court should have calculated the credit to which they were entitled solely on the basis of the compensation that Costas received during the grant-to-exercise and grant-to-vest periods for services performed during those periods and those periods only. The commissioner takes a contrary view, arguing that the court correctly determined the credit to which the plaintiffs were entitled because "[t]he regulations are not concerned with when . . . compensation is 'earned,' but rather when it is received," and the total compensation received by the plaintiffs during the periods in question included

both federal law and Connecticut law. See, e.g., *Allen v. Commissioner of Revenue Services*, supra, 324 Conn. 321–22 (explaining that, because stock option generally has no reasonably ascertainable fair market value at time of award and does have value at time it is exercised, taxable income attributable to stock option is calculated at time of exercise). In the case of stock options, the taxable income is measured by the difference between the option price and the fair market value of the stock when the option is exercised, and, in the case of restricted stock, the taxable income is measured by the difference between the price of the stock when it was granted and its fair market value upon vesting.

213 Conn. App. 719

JULY, 2022

733

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

compensation for services performed both during *and* prior to those periods.

We agree with the commissioner and the court because we conclude that their construction of §§ 12-711(b)-17 (c) and 12-711(b)-18 (c) of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies is mandated by the plain language of those two provisions. Under both provisions, the amount of credit to be awarded for taxes paid to another state is determined on the basis of the “same ratio that the *total compensation received* . . . during [the relevant] period for services performed in this state bears to the *total compensation received* . . . during [the relevant] period for services performed within and without this state.” (Emphasis added.) Regs., Conn. State Agencies § 12-117(b)-17 (c); accord Regs., Conn. State Agencies § 12-117(b)-18 (c). In the present case, there is no dispute that the deferred compensation at issue, that is, compensation that was paid to Costas during the grant-to-exercise and grant-to-vest periods—and which therefore was taxable at that time—was *received* during those periods. Consequently, that deferred compensation falls squarely within the straightforward regulatory language directing that the computation of credit shall include *all* of the compensation received during the relevant periods for the particular services identified therein.

The plaintiffs nevertheless contend that the regulations contemplate a limitation on the compensation to be included in the apportionment calculation, such that, to be part of the computation, the compensation must also be for services performed during the grant-to-exercise and grant-to-vest periods. That is, the plaintiffs maintain that the provisions should be construed so that the computation excludes compensation, even if it was received during the relevant periods, unless it also was *earned* during those periods. In support of this reading of the regulatory language, the plaintiffs

734

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 719

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

argue that it is more consistent with the statutory and regulatory purpose of offsetting taxes that they were required to pay to New York under that state's allocation methodology because it more faithfully accounts for the amount of time Costas worked in Connecticut during the grant-to-exercise and grant-to-vest periods relative to the amount of time he worked in New York during those same periods.

The plaintiffs' belief as to how the statutory and regulatory purpose is best served, however, cannot trump the plain and unambiguous language of §§ 12-711(b)-17 (c) and 12-711(b)-18 (c) of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies, which is necessarily determinative of the provisions' meaning. Our Supreme Court's observations in this regard with respect to the construction of statutes is equally applicable to the construction of regulations. "It is well established that a court must construe a statute as written. . . . Courts may not by construction supply omissions . . . or add exceptions merely because it appears that good reasons exist for adding them. . . . The intent of the legislature, as [our Supreme Court] has repeatedly observed, is to be found not in what the legislature meant to say, but in the meaning of what it did say. . . . It is axiomatic that the court itself cannot rewrite a statute to accomplish a particular result. That is the function of the legislature." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Cady v. Zoning Board of Appeals*, 330 Conn. 502, 516, 196 A.3d 315 (2018). Simply put, if the regulatory provisions had been promulgated with the intent that only compensation received *for services performed* during the grant-to-exercise and grant-to-vest periods were to be included in the allocation computation, those provisions undoubtedly would contain language to that effect, and they do not. See, e.g., *Dept. of Public Safety v. Freedom of Information Commission*, 298 Conn. 703, 729, 6 A.3d 763 (2010) (if legislature intended to limit scope of

213 Conn. App. 719

JULY, 2022

735

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

statutory definition at issue, it “easily could have expressed such an intent”); *Windels v. Environmental Protection Commission*, 284 Conn. 268, 299, 933 A.2d 256 (2007) (legislature knows how to convey its intent expressly).

Indeed, the plaintiffs have identified no language in §§ 12-711(b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies to substantiate their reading of those provisions.¹⁴ They argue, however, that those provisions must be understood in the context of the broader regulatory scheme and its overriding purpose, and that their construction of the provisions best achieves that goal. We disagree.

As the commissioner explained in his appellate brief, “Connecticut [need not] provide a one to one tax credit based on the number of days a taxpayer has worked in another jurisdiction. . . . Connecticut’s allocation ratio does not measure days worked in New York (or any other jurisdiction), but rather compensation received during the grant-to-exercise [or grant-to-vest] period attributable to New York (or any other jurisdiction). That is, if during the period the benefits the plaintiffs received for services performed in Connecticut

¹⁴ The plaintiffs do assert that, because subsection (c) of both provisions begins with the qualifier “[i]f, *during the period described in subsection (a) of this section*,” that is, the grant-to-exercise period and the grant-to-vest period, and thereafter describes the relevant “compensation” as compensation received “*during such period* for services performed in this state,” the apparent intent of the provisions is to limit the compensation to be included in the calculation of the credit only to the compensation that was received during that period. (Emphasis in original; internal quotation marks omitted.) The plaintiffs’ argument is unavailing because the first reference in subsection (c) to the “period described in subsection (a) of this section” merely delineates the time frame within which services must have been performed partly within and partly without this state so as to implicate the provisions of subsection (c), and the second reference in subsection (c) to that period relates to the “total compensation received” during that period for services performed in this state and contains no limitation as to when the compensation to be included in the computation of credit was earned. Regs., Conn. State Agencies § 12-117(b)-17 (c); accord Regs., Conn. State Agencies § 12-117(b)-18 (c).

736

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 719

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

were more valuable than the benefits the plaintiffs received for services performed in New York, then the allocation ratio would favor Connecticut over New York, *regardless of the number of days that Costas might have worked in New York during that period.* And because the number of days worked in a place does not necessarily reflect the value of the benefits received from that place, there is a good reason for Connecticut to use this kind of allocation ratio. . . .

“[In sum] Connecticut has decided to allow a tax credit based on the value of the benefits received from another jurisdiction, not the number of days worked in that jurisdiction. Absent some constitutional infirmity, Connecticut is free to calculate its tax credit in this way.” (Citation omitted; emphasis in original.)

The commissioner is correct. The plaintiffs have made no claim challenging the constitutionality of the commissioner’s construction of §§ 12-711(b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies. Furthermore, those provisions, construed in accordance with their plain language, do not yield absurd or unworkable results.¹⁵ We therefore reject the plaintiffs’

¹⁵ We note that the plaintiffs also contend that *Allen v. Commissioner of Revenue Services*, supra, 324 Conn. 292, supports their interpretation of §§ 12-711(b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies. We are not persuaded. In *Allen*, our Supreme Court was required to determine whether, under subsection (a) of § 12-711(b)-18, the exercise of stock options is taxable if the taxpayer, although performing services in Connecticut at the time the options were awarded, was not performing services in Connecticut at the time the options were exercised. *Id.*, 303. In agreeing with the commissioner that “§ 12-711(b)-18 (a) requires only that the taxpayer [was] performing services in Connecticut at the time the options were granted”; *id.*, 307; our Supreme Court concluded that § 12-711(b)-18 (a) was plain and unambiguous as applied to the taxpayers’ claim because that provision was susceptible of only one reasonable interpretation when considered in the context of the regulation as a whole. *Id.*, 308–13. More specifically, the court explained that the interpretation advocated by the taxpayers in that case “would create disharmony within the regulation itself”; *id.*, 309; and “lead to bizarre results.” *Id.*, 311. *Allen* does not aid the plaintiffs because it involved an issue entirely different from the one in the present case. Moreover, applying the plain and unambiguous language of §§ 12-

213 Conn. App. 719

JULY, 2022

737

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

claim that the court erred in concluding that the commissioner incorrectly applied the provisions in determining the tax credit to which the plaintiffs are entitled.

II

The plaintiffs also claim, in the alternative, that the court incorrectly refused to require the commissioner to exercise his discretionary authority under § 12-711(b)-15 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies to approve the apportionment methodology they have advanced. In the plaintiffs' view, applying that methodology—irrespective of the requirements of §§ 12-711(b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 of the regulations—is, at least in this case, the only approach that fairly and appropriately allocates income for tax credit purposes. The plaintiffs' claim is without merit.

Subsection (a) of § 12-711(b)-15 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies provides in relevant part: “[A] nonresident individual may submit an alternate method of apportionment with respect to items of income, gain, loss and deduction attributable to a business, trade, profession or occupation carried on partly within and partly without Connecticut. The proposed method shall be fully explained in the Connecticut nonresident income tax return. If the method proposed by such individual is approved by the [c]ommissioner, it may be used in lieu of the applicable method described in this Part.”¹⁶ Relatedly, subsection (b) of § 12-711(b)-15 provides in relevant part: “The methods provided in

711(b)-17 (c) and 12-711(b)-18 (c) to the plaintiffs' claim neither creates disharmony within the regulatory scheme nor leads to a bizarre or untenable result.

¹⁶ It is undisputed that the plaintiffs did not submit or propose an alternate method of apportionment under § 12-711(b)-15 of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies in connection with their resident tax returns for taxable years 2005, 2007 and 2008 but did so in connection with the amended tax returns they filed in 2010 for those years. For present purposes, we treat the plaintiffs' proposal for an alternate method of apportionment pursuant to § 12-711(b)-15 on their amended tax returns as sufficient to preserve their claim on appeal under that provision.

738

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 719

Costas v. Commissioner of Revenue Services

this Part are *presumed to result in fair and equitable apportionment, and any person . . . proposing an alternate method of apportionment shall bear the burden of establishing that the methods provided in this Part unfairly and inequitably attributed items of income, gain, loss or deduction to Connecticut.*” (Emphasis added.) Accordingly, under § 12-711(b)-15 (b), the plaintiffs in the present case bear the burden of establishing that the methods provided in §§ 12-711 (b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 of the regulations, as construed by the commissioner, are so unfair and inequitable as applied to Costas that the commissioner was required to use the alternate method of apportionment proposed by the plaintiffs in determining their tax credit.

In support of their claim under § 12-711(b)-15 (a) of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies, the plaintiffs merely repeat their argument that the commissioner’s interpretation of §§ 12-711(b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 of the regulations results in “an unfair and unreasonable allocation of income.” We already have explained, however, that the commissioner correctly construed and applied §§ 12-711(b)-17 and 12-711(b)-18 and, consequently, under § 12-711(b)-15 (b), the resulting apportionment thereunder is presumptively fair and equitable. Moreover, the commissioner necessarily must be afforded wide latitude to accept or reject a proposed alternate methodology pursuant to § 12-711(b)-15 (a). Although the plaintiffs are dissatisfied with the apportionment mandated by the regulatory scheme—preferring the apportionment that would result from application of their methodology—that is hardly reason for us to declare that the income allocation derived from the regulations themselves is unfair or unreasonable. Because the plaintiffs have failed to overcome the presumption created by § 12-711(b)-15 (b), we reject their claim under § 12-711(b)-15 (a).

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

213 Conn. App. 739

JULY, 2022

739

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

MERCEDES-BENZ FINANCIAL v. 1188
STRATFORD AVENUE, LLC, ET AL.
(AC 43463)

Bright, C. J., and Prescott and Moll, Js.

Syllabus

The plaintiff financing company sought to recover damages from the defendants, a limited liability company and its principal, for the defendants' alleged failure to make payments due under a motor vehicle lease agreement. After the defendants were defaulted for failure to appear, the trial court granted the plaintiff's motion for judgment and rendered judgment for the plaintiff. Thereafter, the court denied the defendants' motion to open and to set aside the default judgment, and the defendants appealed to this court, claiming that the trial court abused its discretion by denying their motion to open and denying their oral request to continue the hearing on the motion to allow them to present testimony and evidence in support of the motion. *Held:*

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the defendants' motion to open and to set aside the default judgment: although the court improperly determined that the motion to open was untimely, the court reasonably considered the merits of the motion and determined that the motion had no basis, as the defendants, who were aware of the pending action but failed to take any action in response, were not prevented from appearing as a result of mistake, accident or other reasonable cause; moreover, neither the motion nor the attached affidavit made any reference to an alleged representation that the plaintiff would not be pursuing the action, which the defendants' counsel raised for the first time during the hearing on the motion.
2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the defendants' oral request to continue the hearing on their motion to open the judgment, the defendants having failed in the affidavit attached to their motion to set forth adequately the reason why they failed to appear; moreover, the defendants had requested only oral argument and not an evidentiary hearing, and the court was not required to continue the matter to allow the defendants to present testimony in support of a claim that was not raised in their motion to open.

(One judge dissenting)

Argued May 9—officially released July 19, 2022

Procedural History

Action to recover damages for breach of contract,
and for other relief, brought to the Superior Court in

740

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 739

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

the judicial district of Ansonia-Milford, where the defendants were defaulted for failure to appear; thereafter, the court, *Hon. Arthur A. Hiller*, judge trial referee, granted the plaintiff's motion for judgment and rendered judgment for the plaintiff; subsequently, the court denied the defendants' motion to open and set aside the default judgment, and the defendants appealed to this court. *Affirmed*.

Daniel D. Skuret III, with whom was *Patrick D. Skuret*, for the appellants (defendants).

Gary Greene, for the appellee (plaintiff).

Opinion

BRIGHT, C. J. The defendants, Aniello Dizenzo and his company, 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC (company), appeal from the judgment of the trial court denying their motion to open the default judgment rendered in favor of the plaintiff, Mercedes-Benz Financial. The defendants claim that the court abused its discretion by denying their (1) motion to open and (2) oral request to continue the hearing on the motion to allow the defendants to present testimony and evidence in support of it. We affirm the judgment of the trial court.

The record reveals the following relevant facts and procedural history. In 2012, Dizenzo, on behalf of his company, entered into a motor vehicle lease agreement (agreement) with a dealership in Fairfield for a 2013 Mercedes-Benz (vehicle). Dizenzo signed the agreement on behalf of his company and also in his individual capacity as guarantor. The dealership assigned its rights under the agreement to the plaintiff. In January, 2017, the plaintiff brought the underlying action against the defendants alleging that the defendants had failed to make the payments due under the agreement. The return date was February 28, 2017, but neither defendant filed an appearance.

213 Conn. App. 739

JULY, 2022

741

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

On September 1, 2017, the trial court clerk granted the plaintiff's motion for default for failure to appear as to both defendants. On September 1, 2019, more than one year after the default had entered, the plaintiff filed a motion for judgment and order of weekly payments. On May 13, 2019, the court granted the motion, rendering judgment for the plaintiff in the amount of \$11,734.61 and awarding the plaintiff postjudgment interest at the annual rate of 8 percent pursuant to General Statutes § 37-3a.¹ The court ordered the defendants to make weekly payments in the amount of \$35. On May 28, 2019, the plaintiff sent a notice of judgment to the defendants.

On July 29, 2019, the defendants filed a motion to open the judgment pursuant to General Statutes (Rev. to 2019) § 52-212.² In that motion, the defendants asserted that the vehicle "had serious defects" and required repairs that would have taken several months to complete. As a result, the defendants told the dealership that, because the vehicle did not function properly,

¹ General Statutes § 37-3a (a) provides in relevant part: "Except as provided in sections 37-3b, 37-3c and 52-192a, interest at the rate of ten per cent a year, and no more, may be recovered and allowed in civil actions . . . as damages for the detention of money after it becomes payable. . . ."

"An award of interest under § 37-3a is discretionary . . . and 10 percent is the maximum rate of interest that a trial court, in its discretion, can award . . . meaning the court, as in the present case, has the discretion to set a lower rate of interest." (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Lavy v. Lavy*, 190 Conn. App. 186, 208 n.15, 210 A.3d 98 (2019).

² General Statutes (Rev. to 2019) § 52-212 provides in relevant part: "(a) Any judgment rendered . . . upon a default . . . may be set aside, within four months following the date on which it was rendered . . . and the case reinstated on the docket . . . upon the . . . written motion of any party . . . prejudiced thereby, showing reasonable cause, or that a good . . . defense in whole or in part existed at the time of the rendition of the judgment . . . and that the . . . defendant was prevented by mistake, accident or other reasonable cause from . . . making the defense. . . ."

"(c) The . . . written motion shall be verified by the oath of the complainant or his attorney, shall state in general terms the nature of the claim or defense and shall particularly set forth the reason why the . . . defendant failed to appear. . . ."

All references herein to § 52-212 are to the 2019 revision of the statute.

742

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 739

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

“the lease was void and they left the [vehicle] with the dealer[ship].” The defendants claimed that, although they were aware of the lawsuit in 2017, they “mistakenly thought [it] was resolved and did not hear anything else until June of 2019, when [they] received notice of judgment.” They further claimed that they “ha[d] good defenses to the plaintiff’s claim based upon breach of warranties and misrepresentations and w[ould] file a counterclaim . . . when the judgment is set aside.” Dizenzo repeated these claims in an affidavit, which was filed with the motion. The plaintiff filed an objection to the motion, claiming that the defendants failed to establish good cause for their failure to appear and that the “[d]efendants’ purported defenses and [counter]claims arise from the alleged acts of the dealership, not the plaintiff financing company.”

On August 9, 2019, the defendants filed a caseflow request in which they requested oral argument “[t]o explain [the] motion to open judgment . . . and the reasons why the court should grant it.” On August 13, 2019, the defendants filed a notice of intention to appear and argue and request for oral argument, requesting “permission to appear and . . . explain the defenses and the reasons why the court should grant the motion” On September 16, 2019, the court held a hearing on the motion. At the hearing, the court initially thought that judgment had entered in 2017. After the courtroom clerk informed the court that judgment had entered on May 13, 2019, the following exchange occurred:

“The Court: May, June, July, August, September. We are more than four months?”

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: No. We . . . filed within time, Your Honor. And you know I asked that this be heard back in August with—

“The Court: All right. So we are barely in time. Tell me; you were served properly, correct?”

213 Conn. App. 739

JULY, 2022

743

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: I believe the defendants were served properly.

“The Court: Okay. So 2017.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: Yes.

“The Court: Versus 2019, with nothing happening—

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: That’s right. They didn’t—

“The Court: —after being served.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: Well, it’s not that nothing has happened, Your Honor. What, in effect, happened was he contacted [Mercedes-Benz] after that period of time and was told the fact that they weren’t going to go forward.

“The Court: Is your client here to testify?

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: Well, what I will do is—I thought this was oral argument. But if you want testimony, we can bring him in.

“The Court: No. No. This is your motion to open. Why should I rely on a pleading [or] a story that there was an agreement, supposedly, and that’s why you didn’t bother doing anything, when I don’t even have an affidavit?

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: You do have an affidavit.

“The Court: To that effect?

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: You have an affidavit.

“The Court: Okay. All right. All right. But was the affidavit cross-examined? Do I have witnesses on the other side? Do we have time for a hearing? Do we have—are we ready for evidence?

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: You know, Your Honor, I thought this was for oral argument, and I’m sorry. It’s my fault. And what I will do is if Your Honor just

744

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 739

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

continues the argument to next week, I'm sure what can happen is that we can bring him forward.

“The Court: And even if you bring him in—Counsel, do you agree there was an agreement not to do anything?”

“[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: Absolutely not. And it flies in the face of their own affidavit. Their affidavit articulates that they didn’t get the satisfaction they wanted. And they turned around and just left the car with a dealer and said we’ll go elsewhere. I mean that’s the fair reading of their affidavit.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: That’s not the fair reading.

“[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: More importantly, these defenses, A, are probably time barred because the lease was entered into in November of 2012. And more importantly than that, how do you hold the financing entity culpable for defects in the product you used its money to buy? . . . You go after the dealer. These are Lemon Law type of allegations. We had a lousy car. It didn’t work. It had this problem; it had that problem. But Mercedes-Benz Financial had nothing to do with that. They were not the dealer of the car. They were not the owner of the car. They didn’t sell the car or lease the car to the defendant[s]. . . .

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: That’s not true. . . . I have a copy of the lease. May I show it to Your Honor?”

“The Court: Tell me what it says.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: It says Mercedes-Benz Financial Services.

“The Court: Is the lessor?”

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: It says Mercedes-Benz Financial Services, and it’s a first class lease. And basically, it’s all over here about Mercedes-Benz Financial

213 Conn. App. 739

JULY, 2022

745

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

Services. And what had, in fact, happened was there's a breach of actual contract. There's a breach with regard to the warranties. It's a violation of the Lemon Law. And basically, he was told the fact that they weren't going to do anything with it. He left the car there because the car was not operable, and he didn't want to actually get anybody injured.

"You know it's a situation where all he wants to do is get his day in court. And he is sorry that this thing didn't actually—he didn't actually move faster with regard to this; that's all. It's very simple. And all we'd like to do is we would like to reopen the judgment; do some discovery with it; file a counterclaim. . . . This two year period of time is very important, actually, to the plaintiff as he is talking. But it is also very important to us because the fact that they did nothing, which is sort of—which shows the fact that when [Dizenzo] talked to them, they weren't going to go forward with regard to the file. Then all of a sudden, this happened.

"The Court: Has he got anything in writing, any communication at all, saying we're not going forward; we are not going to bother you? Anything at all aside from your word or his word? Everybody knows what an e-mail is. There isn't a human being in this country who doesn't know you put things in writing.

"[The Defendants' Counsel]: Well, you are not talking with a person that uses e-mail all of the time, Your Honor. You're talking with a—

"The Court: That's you. How about your client?

"[The Defendants' Counsel]: The client is the same way, and Attorney D.J. Skuret can attest to that. You know my client is around my age, so it's not like he's computer literate so that is not going to happen. All we are doing is we're looking for our day in court, Your Honor; that's all.

746

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 739

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

“[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: Your Honor, please.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: And Your Honor has been very fair with regard to the other people that have appeared before Your Honor today. All we are looking for is fairness in getting this set aside so we can go forward with regard to discovery.

“The Court: Your client is savvy enough to have himself an LLC. I bet you he knows what an e-mail is.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: I think he knows what an e-mail is, but I don’t think he’s savvy enough to have a—to do e-mail. So with regard to having an—

“The Court: He’s got a corporation. Is he smart enough to set up a corporation?

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: I don’t think he set up any corporation. I—

“The Court: What’s the LLC?

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: The corporation is a limited liability company.

“The Court: I understand. That’s a corporation.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: But I don’t think he set it up. He’s not savvy enough to set it up. The man was a mechanic, mechanic.

“The Court: Who set it up for him? Who signed the papers?

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: I’ll go and I’ll check. I didn’t know it would be necessary to have it here today.

“The Court: All right. Counsel?

“[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: Yes, Your Honor. May I? Counsel filed an affidavit. And I think it’s very illuminating because the affidavit paragraph 5, the dealer represented to me; paragraph 6, the dealer told me. He is

213 Conn. App. 739

JULY, 2022

747

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

talking about a separate entity. Mercedes-Benz Financial is not the dealer.

“The Court: Correct—

“[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: All of these alleged counterclaims—

“The Court: Correct, counsel? Your affidavit only says the dealer did all of these things. The plaintiff here is not the dealer.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: Well, let me say this . . . Your Honor. The fact that, number one, with regard to the LLC, it is set up with regard to my client’s house, and it’s a—

“The Court: No. No, the dealer. Your affidavit says the dealer promised; the dealer made an agreement. It doesn’t say anything about the plaintiff.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: Well, as I indicated to Your Honor, and actually if Your Honor wants—what I can do is I don’t have another copy of this, but I do have actually the first class lease. And it’s a situation where [Dizenzo] was told the fact that [the plaintiff was not] going forward [with the case]. They waited over two years.

“The Court: But your affidavit tells me it was the dealer who did that.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: Well, I’m sorry, Your Honor. It was more than the dealer. It was actually it was Mercedes-Benz Financial. Whenever he called, they told him the fact that it wasn’t going to go forward. And they waited two years to do it, which is proof [of] the fact that they didn’t.

“The Court: That’s not proof of anything.

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: Well, it is. The fact that they sat on their—they sat with regard to doing it

748

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 739

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

because of the fact that—he was told the fact that they weren’t going forward.

“The Court: Yes, counsel?”

“[The Plaintiff’s Counsel]: Well, Your Honor, I have to assume that this affidavit was vetted and probably drafted by [the] defendants’ counsel. And it was based on communications based—articulated to him by his client; not the LLC, but the principal in the LLC. And he wouldn’t file an affidavit in court that was misleading or inappropriate. And as I said—

“The Court: Anything else, counsel?”

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: I’m sorry. I didn’t hear that.

“The Court: Anything else?”

“[The Defendants’ Counsel]: Yes, there is. If this is a question with regard to who he spoke to, then I’m sorry that I didn’t bring the client here today. But I will have him available if Your Honor would just continue it for a week.

“The Court: [I am] going to deny the motion to open. It’s untimely and it has no basis.” The court also issued a written order denying the motion, which stated: “Motion is untimely with no basis.” This appeal followed.

I

The defendants first claim that the court abused its discretion in denying their motion to open the judgment because they filed the motion within four months after the judgment was rendered and because they satisfied both prongs of the standard governing the opening of default judgments. The plaintiff agrees that the defendants’ motion was filed timely but argues that the defendants failed to establish that they were “prevented by

213 Conn. App. 739

JULY, 2022

749

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

mistake, accident or other reasonable cause” from appearing and raising their defenses and counterclaims. We agree with the plaintiff.

We begin with the applicable standard of review and controlling legal principles. “A motion to open . . . is addressed to the [trial] court’s discretion, and the action of the trial court will not be disturbed on appeal unless it acted unreasonably and in clear abuse of its discretion. . . . In determining whether the trial court abused its discretion, this court must make every reasonable presumption in favor of its action. . . . The manner in which [this] discretion is exercised will not be disturbed so long as the court could reasonably conclude as it did. . . .

“To open a judgment pursuant to Practice Book § 17-43 (a)³ and . . . § 52-212 (a), the movant must make a two part showing that (1) a good defense existed at the time an adverse judgment was rendered; and (2) the defense was not at that time raised by reason of mistake, accident or other reasonable cause. . . . The party moving to open a default judgment must not only allege, but also make a showing sufficient to satisfy the two-pronged test [governing the opening of default judgments]. . . . The negligence of a party or his counsel is insufficient for purposes of § 52-212 to set aside a default judgment. . . . Finally, because the movant must satisfy both prongs of this analysis, failure to meet

³ Practice Book § 17-43 (a), which mirrors § 52-212 (a), provides in relevant part: “Any judgment rendered . . . upon a default . . . may be set aside within four months succeeding the date on which notice was sent . . . upon the written motion of any party or person prejudiced thereby, showing reasonable cause, or that a good . . . defense in whole or in part existed at the time of the rendition of such judgment . . . and that . . . the defendant was prevented by mistake, accident or other reasonable cause from prosecuting or appearing to make the same. Such written motion shall be verified by the oath of the complainant or the complainant’s attorney, shall state in general terms the nature of the claim or defense and shall particularly set forth the reason why the plaintiff or the defendant failed to appear. . . .”

750

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 739

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

either prong is fatal to [the] motion.” (Footnote added; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Little v. Mackeyboy Auto, LLC*, 142 Conn. App. 14, 18–19, 62 A.3d 1164 (2013).

In the present case, the court denied the motion to open, stating: “It’s untimely and it has no basis.” We agree with the defendants that the court improperly determined that the motion to open was untimely. The defendants filed the motion on July 29, 2019, seventy-seven days after the judgment was rendered on May 13, 2019, which was well within the four month period under § 52-212 (a). Nevertheless, because the court also denied the motion on the ground that “it ha[d] no basis,” we conclude that the court properly denied the motion to open.

The defendants contend that the court did not reach the merits of their motion to open because it determined that the motion was untimely.⁴ In their principal brief, they repeatedly claim that, “[i]f the court had not erroneously determined that the motion to open judgment was untimely filed and simply stopped its inquiry, the defendants would have been able to show the court that it met the two-prong test for opening the judgment.” In addition, at oral argument before this court, the defendants’ counsel asserted that he understood the court’s order as finding that the motion was untimely and that there was no basis for filing the motion late. This construction of the court’s judgment is belied by the record.

Specifically, after the clerk told the court that judgment had been rendered on May 13, 2019, the court

⁴ We note that “[t]he statutory limitation imposed on motions to open judgments does not implicate the court’s jurisdiction. Rather, our Supreme Court has explained that General Statutes § 52-212a operates as a constraint, not on the trial court’s jurisdictional authority, but on its substantive authority to adjudicate the merits of the case before it.” (Footnote omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *710 Long Ridge Operating Co. II, LLC v. Stebbins*, 153 Conn. App. 288, 295, 101 A.3d 292 (2014).

213 Conn. App. 739

JULY, 2022

751

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

proceeded to ask a series of questions regarding the merits of the motion to open. More specifically, the court questioned the defendants' counsel regarding the second prong of the standard governing motions to open—the reasonable cause for the defendants' failure to appear and to defend the action. The court first sought to determine whether the defendants had been served properly, which the defendants' counsel conceded, stating that he “believe[d] they were served properly.” When counsel explained that the defendants did not appear because Dizenzo had been told by the dealership that they were not pursuing the action—an explanation not stated in either the motion to open or Dizenzo's affidavit—the court asked whether the defendants had any documentary evidence of such an agreement. Given the court's questions during the hearing, we are persuaded that the court considered the merits of the defendants' motion and concluded that the motion “ha[d] no basis.” In other words, the court concluded that the defendants were not prevented from appearing as a result of “mistake, accident or other reasonable cause.” General Statutes (Rev. to 2019) § 52-212 (a); Practice Book § 17-43 (a).

As to the merits of their motion to open, the defendants argue: “On multiple occasions the defendants contacted the lessor after that period of time and were told the fact that they were not going to go forward as the motor vehicle had been returned. Based upon these representations, the defendants did not hire an attorney or file an appearance in the case. The defendants relied on these representations and thus believed that this matter was resolved. The defendants did not hear anything else for over two . . . years until June of 2019, when they received the notice of judgment. Nor did the plaintiff pursue anything in the matter for over two . . . years, which further supports the defendants' understanding that this matter had been resolved.”

752

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 739

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

We again note that the defendants' motion to open and Dizenzo's accompanying affidavit are devoid of any reference to the alleged representations made by either the dealership or the plaintiff as to the continuation of the lawsuit. In each of those documents, with regard to the defendants' failure to appear, the defendants stated: "The defendants . . . when they were sued in 2017, *mistakenly thought this matter was resolved* and did not hear anything else until . . . [they] received notice of judgment."⁵ (Emphasis added.) Such an explanation is insufficient under § 52-212 (a) because "a defendant's negligence does not constitute reasonable cause for failing to appear . . ." *Disturco v. Gates in New Canaan, LLC*, 204 Conn. App. 526, 533–34, 253 A.3d 1033 (2021). As this court has explained, § 52-212 (a) "is remedial, but it cannot be so construed as to authorize relief . . . where a defendant indeed has received proper notice of the underlying action and the plaintiff's motion for default yet failed to file an appearance." (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 535.

This court's decision in *Berzins v. Berzins*, 105 Conn. App. 648, 938 A.2d 1281, cert. denied, 289 Conn. 932, 958 A.2d 156 (2008), is instructive. In *Berzins*, the defendant moved to open a judgment of dissolution rendered on his default for failure to appear; *id.*, 649; claiming "that after being served, the plaintiff informed him that she had withdrawn the action and no longer wanted to proceed." *Id.*, 651. The trial court denied the motion to open, finding that the defendant had been served properly but "simply chose not to appear." *Id.*, 652. The court noted that, assuming that the defendant had relied on such a representation by the plaintiff, "his subsequent negligence supersede[d] his purported reliance

⁵ Dizenzo's affidavit stated: "The defendant, [Dizenzo], when he was sued in 2017, *mistakenly thought this matter was resolved* and did not hear anything until . . . when he received notice of judgment."

213 Conn. App. 739

JULY, 2022

753

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

on the plaintiff's actions." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.* On appeal, this court affirmed the judgment, explaining that "[t]he defendant was served with notice of this action and did nothing. Had he filed an appearance, he would have received notice of the [scheduled] hearing The court correctly concluded that the defendant's inaction in this case was nothing short of complete and utter negligence." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 653.

In the present case, as in *Berzins*, the defendants were served with notice of the action and claimed that they failed to appear because, according to their counsel, they relied on an alleged representation that the plaintiff would not pursue the action. Just as the defendant's inaction in *Berzins* constituted "complete and utter negligence"; (internal quotation marks omitted) *id.*; so too does the defendants' inaction in the present case. The defendants were aware of the pending action but failed to take any action in response. Furthermore, as we noted previously, neither the defendants' motion nor Dizenzo's affidavit made any reference to the alleged representation that their counsel raised for the first time during the hearing on the motion to open. Consequently, because the reason given for the defendants' failure to appear did not constitute reasonable cause for such failure, we conclude that the court did not abuse its discretion when it denied the motion to open as being without basis.

II

The defendants next claim that the court abused its discretion by "denying the defendants an evidentiary hearing and [by] denying the[ir] request for a continuance of one . . . week to allow the defendants to be present to provide the court with testimony and evidence in support of the motion to open judgment." We are not persuaded.

754

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 739

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

“Appellate review of a trial court’s denial of a motion for a continuance is governed by an abuse of discretion standard that, although not unreviewable, affords the trial court broad discretion in matters of continuances. . . . An abuse of discretion must be proven by the appellant by showing that the denial of the continuance was unreasonable or arbitrary.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Bevilacqua v. Bevilacqua*, 201 Conn. App. 261, 268, 242 A.3d 542 (2020). Likewise, “unless otherwise required by statute, a rule of practice or a rule of evidence, whether to conduct an evidentiary hearing generally is a matter that rests within the sound discretion of the trial court.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *DeRose v. Jason Robert’s, Inc.*, 191 Conn. App. 781, 797, 216 A.3d 699, cert. denied, 333 Conn. 934, 218 A.3d 593 (2019).

In the present case, the defendants do not claim that an evidentiary hearing was required by a statute, rule of practice, or rule of evidence. Instead, they argue that the court, by failing to allow the defendants to present testimony and submit evidence, “did not properly assess [their] claimed defenses and the reasons for not presenting them as required by the two step process.” The defendants further argue that “[i]t was necessary for the court to hold an evidentiary hearing as the plaintiff never provided to the court a legible copy of the claimed lease agreement.”

At the outset, we note that, in each of the caseflow requests filed by the defendants, they requested only oral argument—not an evidentiary hearing. It was only after the court asked whether Dizenzo was present to testify as to the plaintiff’s alleged representation that it would not pursue the lawsuit that the defendants’ counsel requested that the matter be continued in order to present testimony. Moreover, as previously noted, although the defendants’ counsel explained that Dizenzo had been told that the plaintiff would not pursue the

213 Conn. App. 739

JULY, 2022

755

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

lawsuit, this explanation was not presented in either their motion to open or the accompanying affidavit. Section 52-212 (c) requires that a written motion to open “shall be verified by the oath of the complainant or his attorney, shall state in general terms the nature of the claim or defense and *shall particularly set forth the reason why the plaintiff or defendant failed to appear.*” (Emphasis added.) Dizenzo’s affidavit failed to provide the detail called for by the statute as to why the defendants failed to appear and certainly did not set forth the claim that the defendants’ counsel made at oral argument before the trial court. The statute does not contemplate that a party can file a deficient verified statement and then insist on an evidentiary hearing to correct deficiencies noted by the court. The defendants failed to meet their statutory burden under § 52-212, and the court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to continue the matter to allow the defendants to present testimony in support of a claim that was never raised in their motion to open.

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion, MOLL, J., concurred.

PRESCOTT, J., dissenting. I respectfully dissent for three reasons. First, all parties and the majority agree that the trial court improperly determined that the motion to open filed by the defendants, 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC, and Aniello Dizenzo, was untimely. It plainly was timely. In my view, this error is likely to have tainted the court’s decision whether to exercise its discretion, at the very least, to grant the defendants a short continuance in order for them to present evidence in support of their motion to open.

Second, it is not clear to me whether the court’s statement “and it has no basis,” which immediately follows its incorrect statement that the motion to open

756

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 739

Mercedes-Benz Financial v. 1188 Stratford Avenue, LLC

was untimely, refers to the merits of the motion to open or was intended to mean that the defendants have not alleged a sufficient basis, such as fraud, to open a judgment that is older than four months. See *Tyler E. Lyman, Inc. v. Lodrini*, 78 Conn. App. 684, 687, 828 A.2d 681 (courts have intrinsic powers, independent of any statutory authority, to grant motion to open default judgment obtained by fraud, duress or mutual mistake, even if motion to open was filed more than four months after judgment rendered), cert. denied, 266 Conn. 917, 833 A.2d 468 (2003). Although the defendants did not file a motion for articulation in order to resolve this ambiguity, I am unwilling to apply the normal presumption regarding the correctness of a trial court's decision in light of the clear error of the court's determination that the motion was not filed within four months of the date judgment was rendered.

Finally, as the majority recognizes, if a motion to open is filed later than four months after the judgment is rendered, the court lacks authority to adjudicate it in the absence of one of the recognized exceptions such as fraud. Because the court had already concluded that the motion was untimely, albeit incorrectly, it should have proceeded no further in adjudicating the motion. I am unwilling in these circumstances to presume that the court's subsequent exercise of its discretion with respect to either the merits of the motion or the decision whether to grant a short continuance, was not affected by its incorrect view that the motion to open was not filed timely.

In sum, regardless of the ultimate merits of the defendants' motion to open, I am of the view that they are entitled to have that motion adjudicated by a trial court that is not laboring under the misapprehension that the motion was late. I, therefore, respectfully dissent.

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

757

State v. Greer

STATE OF CONNECTICUT v. DANIEL GREER
(AC 43726)

Bright, C. J., and Elgo and DiPentima, Js.

Syllabus

Convicted of four counts of risk of injury to a child, the defendant appealed to this court. The defendant, a rabbi, was a teacher at and served as the dean of a private, Orthodox Jewish high school. The victim, E, attended the school for four years, commencing in 2001. E alleged that, during his sophomore year, when he was fourteen and fifteen years old, he and the defendant met at least once a week to engage in various sexual acts. The defendant continued to engage in sexual acts with E after he turned sixteen years old. In 2016, E reported the sexual abuse to the police. The defendant was arrested and charged with four counts each of sexual assault in the second degree and risk of injury to a child. At trial, the state introduced uncharged misconduct evidence pursuant to a provision (§ 4-5) of the Connecticut Code of Evidence regarding a sexual relationship between the defendant and R, a former student at the school, and the defendant's relationship with E after his sixteenth birthday. Following R's testimony, the court provided a limiting instruction to the jury. After the close of evidence at trial, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal as to the charges of sexual assault in the second degree on the ground that the prosecution was barred by the applicable statute ((Rev. to 2001) § 54-193a, as amended by Public Acts 2002, No. 02-138, § 1) of limitations because E had not notified a police officer or state's attorney within five years of the commission of the offense. The state conceded that the charges were barred, and the trial court granted the motion for a judgment of acquittal. Thereafter, the state filed a new information limited to the four counts of risk of injury to a child. In its final instructions to the jury, the court instructed in relevant part regarding misconduct evidence: "It is for you to determine whether the defendant committed any uncharged sexual misconduct" The jury found the defendant guilty. The defendant filed postverdict motions for a judgment of acquittal and a new trial, claiming, *inter alia*, that the limitation period applicable to the charges of sexual assault in the second degree should also apply to the risk of injury charges because the charges were based on the same conduct. The trial court denied the motions, and the defendant appealed to this court. *Held:*

1. The trial court properly denied the defendant's motion for a judgment of acquittal as to the risk of injury charges: our courts previously have concluded that risk of injury to a child and sexual assault are separate and distinct offenses; moreover, contrary to the defendant's assertion, the requirement that a victim notify a police officer or state's attorney of an offense within five years of its commission was limited by the

758

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

plain and unambiguous language of § 54-193a to charges of sexual assault in the second degree pursuant to statute (§ 53a-71 (a) (1)); furthermore, if the legislature had intended the additional reporting requirement to also apply to charges of risk of injury under the applicable statute (§ 53-21 (a) (2)), it would have stated so expressly, and, accordingly, for the court to expand the requirement to violations of § 53-21 (a) (2) would be contrary to the presumed intent of the legislature; additionally, applying different statutes of limitations to the two sets of charges would not lead to an absurd or unworkable result, as two criminal statutes can be construed to proscribe the same conduct and a defendant may be prosecuted under either.

2. The trial court properly instructed the jury as to the evidence of uncharged misconduct: the defendant adequately preserved his challenge to the trial court's instructions regarding the uncharged misconduct evidence involving the defendant's continued sexual acts with E after E turned sixteen by stating in his request to charge that, "[a]s to any evidence of uncharged misconduct," the state had the burden to prove such conduct by clear and convincing evidence; moreover, the trial court instructed that it was for the jury "to determine" whether the defendant engaged in the acts of uncharged misconduct and, contrary to the defendant's assertions, there was no meaningful distinction between an instruction that a jury may consider prior misconduct evidence if it "believes" such evidence, which our Supreme Court endorsed in *State v. Cutler* (293 Conn. 303) and which is used in the Connecticut Criminal Jury Instructions, and the trial court's use of the word "determine"; accordingly, the trial court's instructions regarding the uncharged misconduct were not deficient.

Argued February 28—officially released July 19, 2022

Procedural History

Substitute information charging the defendant with four counts each of the crimes of sexual assault in the second degree and risk of injury to a child, brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of New Haven, geographical area number twenty-three, and tried to the jury before *Alander, J.*; thereafter, the court, *Alander, J.*, granted the defendant's motion for a judgment of acquittal as to the four counts of sexual assault in the second degree; verdict of guilty of four counts of risk of injury to a child; subsequently, the court, *Alander, J.*, denied the defendant's postverdict motions for a judgment of acquittal and a new trial and rendered

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

759

State v. Greer

judgment in accordance with the verdict, from which the defendant appealed to this court. *Affirmed.*

Richard Emanuel, with whom was *David T. Grudberg*, for the appellant (defendant).

Timothy F. Costello, senior assistant state's attorney, with whom, on the brief, were *Patrick J. Griffin*, former state's attorney, and *Maxine Wilensky* and *Karen A. Roberg*, senior assistant state's attorneys, for the appellee (state).

Opinion

BRIGHT, C. J. The defendant, Daniel Greer, appeals from the judgment of conviction, rendered after a jury trial, of four counts of risk of injury to a child in violation of General Statutes § 53-21 (a) (2). On appeal, the defendant claims that the court improperly (1) concluded that the statute of limitations applicable to sexual assault in the second degree under General Statutes (Rev. to 2001) § 54-193a, as amended by Public Acts 2002, No. 02-138, § 1 (effective May 23, 2002) (P.A. 02-138),¹ did not apply to the risk of injury charges and (2) declined to instruct the jury to apply a standard of proof to determine whether certain prior misconduct occurred. We disagree and, accordingly, affirm the judgment of the trial court.

The jury reasonably could have found the following facts. The defendant, who is a rabbi, founded Yeshiva of New Haven, Inc. (yeshiva), a private, Orthodox Jewish school, and served as a dean, rabbi, and teacher at the yeshiva. The victim, E,² attended the yeshiva for high

¹ The legislature repealed § 54-193a effective October 1, 2019. Unless otherwise indicated, all references to § 54-193a in this opinion are to the 2001 revision of the statute, as amended by P.A. 02-138.

² In accordance with our policy of protecting the privacy interests of the victims of the crime of risk of injury to a child, we decline to identify the victims or others through whom the victims' identities may be ascertained. See General Statutes § 54-86e.

760

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

school, beginning his freshman year in August or September, 2001, when he was thirteen years old. E's birthday is in October, and he turned fourteen years old during his freshman year. Shortly after the school year began, E was expelled from the yeshiva, but he was allowed to return to complete his freshman year after spending a few weeks at home.

In 2002, when he was fourteen years old, E returned to the yeshiva for his sophomore year. At some point during the beginning of the school year, the defendant told E to meet him at an apartment adjacent to the school, and E complied. At the apartment, the defendant offered E a can of nuts and an alcoholic drink, either wine or hard liquor, in a red Solo cup. They proceeded to drink and talk about E's family and his future, and E began to get emotional and his head felt "fuzzy" At some point, the defendant touched E's thigh or crotch area and attempted to kiss him on the lips. When E pulled away and asked the defendant what he was doing, the defendant said that "[i]t wasn't a big deal and that this is what he does to his kids." Nothing further transpired, and E returned to his dormitory.

After the initial incident at the apartment, E and the defendant met at least once a week during his sophomore year at various locations—often in New Haven or at a motel in Branford—and engaged in oral or anal sex. During these encounters, the defendant and E often would consume alcohol. E acknowledged that "the encounters meld together" but was "very sure" that he and the defendant engaged in anal and oral sex during his sophomore year, during which time he was fourteen and fifteen years old. He testified that, during that period, he and the defendant frequently performed oral sex on each other, that he performed anal sex on the defendant "many" times, and that, when the defendant attempted to perform anal sex on E, E forced him to stop because it was too painful. After these encounters,

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

761

State v. Greer

E would feel “shame, guilt, [and] confusion.” At the yeshiva, the defendant gave E preferential treatment and would not yell at him as he regularly did with other students. When E attempted to end the sexual relationship, the defendant stopped giving him preferential treatment and became “nasty” instead of “nice and charming” The defendant continued to engage in sexual acts with E after he turned sixteen years old in October, 2003.

After graduating in 2005, E went to an Orthodox yeshiva in Israel to continue his Jewish studies and met S, his future wife, while staying there. In 2006, E told S that the defendant had molested him during high school, but he did not provide any details about the abuse. In the summer of 2006, E returned to Connecticut and met the defendant at the Branford motel, where they had their last sexual encounter.

In December, 2007, E and S were married, and the defendant was one of the witnesses at the ceremony, which is a position of honor. E explained that he gave the defendant this honor because he respected the defendant and “still felt part of the New Haven community” For several years following their marriage, E and S would travel to New Haven for Jewish holidays, where they would share meals with members of the yeshiva community, including the defendant. When E and S had a son in June, 2010, E asked the defendant to hold the baby during the circumcision, which is also a position of honor.

In 2013, E and S bought a house in New Jersey, and E found a rabbi in that community. Around that time, E stopped traveling to New Haven and communicating with the defendant. At some point before 2016, E disclosed the abuse to his therapist and two family friends, one of whom was working at the yeshiva. In May, 2016,

762

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

E filed a civil action in federal court against the defendant seeking money damages stemming from the sexual abuse. In August, 2016, while the civil action was pending, E reported the sexual abuse to the New Haven Police Department.

On July 26, 2017, the defendant was arrested and charged with four counts of sexual assault in the second degree under General Statutes § 53a-71 (a) (1)³ and four counts of risk of injury to a child under § 53-21 (a) (2).⁴

³ General Statutes § 53a-71 provides in relevant part: “(a) A person is guilty of sexual assault in the second degree when such person engages in sexual intercourse with another person and: (1) Such other person is thirteen years of age or older but under sixteen years of age and the actor is more than three years older than such other person

“(b) Sexual assault in the second degree is a class C felony or, if the victim of the offense is under sixteen years of age, a class B felony, and any person found guilty under this section shall be sentenced to a term of imprisonment of which nine months of the sentence imposed may not be suspended or reduced by the court.”

Although § 53a-71 has been the subject of several amendments since the defendant’s commission of the crime that formed the basis of his conviction; see, e.g., Public Acts 2004, No. 04-130, § 1 (establishing additional form of sexual assault when actor is twenty years old or older and stands in position of power, authority or supervision); Public Acts 2007, No. 07-143, § 1 (increasing, from two to three years, age difference between teenagers required for older individual to be guilty of sexual assault in second degree); those amendments have no bearing on the merits of this appeal. Accordingly, in the interest of simplicity, we refer to the current revision of the statute.

⁴ General Statutes § 53-21 (a) provides in relevant part: “Any person who . . . (2) has contact with the intimate parts, as defined in section 53a-65, of a child under the age of sixteen years or subjects a child under sixteen years of age to contact with the intimate parts of such person, in a sexual and indecent manner likely to impair the health or morals of such child . . . shall be guilty of . . . a class B felony for a violation of subdivision (2) of this subsection”

Although § 53-21 has been the subject of several amendments since the defendant’s commission of the crimes that formed the basis of his conviction; see, e.g., 2007 Public Acts, No. 07-143, § 4 (establishing five year mandatory minimum sentence for violation of § 53-21 (a) (2) when victim is under thirteen years old); 2013 Public Acts, No. 13-297, § 1 (adding additional form of risk of injury); those amendments have no bearing on the merits of this appeal. Accordingly, in the interest of simplicity, we refer to the current revision of the statute.

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

763

State v. Greer

In the operative long form information, the state alleged that the charged conduct occurred when E was fourteen and fifteen years old, “at the city of New Haven on divers dates between 2002 up to October 27, 2003” As the state acknowledged at oral argument before this court, the sexual assault and risk of injury charges were premised on the same conduct—anal intercourse and fellatio.⁵

The case proceeded to a jury trial, and, at the close of evidence, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal as to the charges of sexual assault in the second degree on the ground that the prosecution was barred by the statute of limitations set forth in § 54-193a because E had not notified a police officer or state’s attorney within five years after the commission of the offense. After a brief recess, the state conceded that the sexual assault charges are barred under § 54-193a, and the court granted the motion for a judgment of acquittal as to the four counts of sexual assault in the second degree (counts one, three, five, and seven). Thereafter, the state filed a new information limited to the four counts of risk of injury to a child, and the jury found the defendant guilty of those charges.

The defendant filed postverdict motions for a judgment of acquittal and a new trial. In the memorandum of law in support of the motions, the defendant claimed, inter alia, that the same limitation period applicable to

⁵ Counts one, three, five, and seven alleged that the defendant violated § 53a-71 (a) (1) by engaging in the following conduct: “anal intercourse—Daniel Greer’s penis with [E’s] anus” (count one); “fellatio—Daniel Greer’s penis in [E’s] mouth” (count three); “anal intercourse—[E’s] penis in Daniel Greer’s anus” (count five); and “fellatio—[E’s] penis in Daniel Greer’s mouth” (count seven). Counts two, four, six, and eight alleged that the defendant violated § 53-21 (a) (2) based on the following contact between the defendant and E: “Daniel Greer’s genital area with [E’s] anus” (count two); “Daniel Greer’s genital area with [E’s] mouth” (count four); “[E’s] genital area with Daniel Greer’s anus” (count six); and “[E’s] penis in Daniel Greer’s mouth” (count eight).

764

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

sexual assault in the second degree should apply to the risk of injury charges because all of the charges were based on the same conduct.⁶ After hearing argument, the court rejected the defendant's statute of limitations claim and denied the motions. Thereafter, the court sentenced the defendant to twenty years of incarceration, execution suspended after twelve years, followed by ten years of probation. This appeal followed. Additional facts will be set forth as necessary.

I

The defendant first claims that the same limitation period that applied to the charges of sexual assault in the second degree also applies to the risk of injury charges, which were based on the same conduct and proved by the same evidence. We are not persuaded.

As a preliminary matter, we set forth our standard of review and the legal principles that guide our analysis. The defendant's statute of limitations claim presents an issue of statutory construction. "Issues of statutory construction present questions of law, over which we exercise plenary review." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *500 North Avenue, LLC v. Planning Commission*, 199 Conn. App. 115, 121, 235 A.3d 526, cert. denied, 335 Conn. 959, 239 A.3d 320 (2020); see also *State v. George J.*, 280 Conn. 551, 562–63, 910 A.2d 931 (2006) (statute of limitations claims raise questions of statutory construction subject to plenary review), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1326, 127 S. Ct. 1919, 167 L. Ed. 2d 573 (2007).

"When construing a statute, [o]ur fundamental objective is to ascertain and give effect to the apparent intent

⁶ Although the defendant's memorandum stated that it was filed in support of both his motion for a new trial and his motion for a judgment of acquittal, it addressed only the defendant's claim that the risk of injury charges should be dismissed for the same reason that the sexual assault charges were dismissed. Thus, on the basis of the statute of limitations issue raised, the defendant sought a judgment of acquittal and not a new trial.

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

765

State v. Greer

of the legislature. . . . In seeking to determine that meaning, General Statutes § 1-2z directs us first to consider the text of the statute itself and its relationship to other statutes. If, after examining such text and considering such relationship, the meaning of such text is plain and unambiguous and does not yield absurd or unworkable results, extratextual evidence of the meaning of the statute shall not be considered. . . . When a statute is not plain and unambiguous, we also look for interpretive guidance to the legislative history and circumstances surrounding its enactment, to the legislative policy it was designed to implement, and to its relationship to existing legislation and common law principles governing the same general subject matter

“[I]t is reasonable to presume that, by rejecting the underlying premise [of a prior decision], the legislature also . . . express[es] its disapproval of [the court’s prior] conclusion The legislature can reject the underlying premise of a decision by changing or deleting a provision on which the court relied. This is especially true when that provision exists elsewhere in the statutory scheme. For instance, [when] a statute, with reference to one subject, contains a given provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject . . . is significant to show that a different intention existed. . . . This tenet of statutory construction ensures that statutes [are] construed, if possible, such that no clause, sentence or word shall be superfluous, void or insignificant, and that every sentence, phrase and clause is presumed to have a purpose.” (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Gilmore v. Pawn King, Inc.*, 313 Conn. 535, 542–43, 98 A.3d 808 (2014).

“The purpose of a statute of limitations is to limit exposure to criminal prosecution to a certain fixed period of time following the occurrence of those acts

766

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

the legislature has decided to punish by criminal sanctions. Such a limitation is designed to protect individuals from having to defend themselves against charges when the basic facts may have become obscured by the passage of time and to minimize the danger of official punishment because of acts in the far-distant past. Such a time limit may also have the salutary effect of encouraging law enforcement officials promptly to investigate suspected criminal activity. . . . Indeed, it is because of the remedial nature of criminal statutes of limitation[s] that they are to be liberally interpreted in favor of repose.” (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Skakel*, 276 Conn. 633, 677, 888 A.2d 985, cert. denied, 549 U.S. 1030, 127 S. Ct. 578, 166 L. Ed. 2d 428 (2006).

In accordance with § 1-2z, we begin with the text of § 54-193a, which provides in relevant part: “Notwithstanding the provisions of section 54-193, no person may be prosecuted for any offense, except a class A felony, involving sexual abuse, sexual exploitation or sexual assault of a minor except within thirty years from the date the victim attains the age of majority or within five years from the date the victim notifies any police officer or state’s attorney acting in such police officer’s or state’s attorney’s official capacity of the commission of the offense, whichever is earlier, provided if the prosecution is for a violation of subdivision (1) of subsection (a) of section 53a-71 . . . the victim notified such police officer or state’s attorney not later than five years after the commission of the offense.” General Statutes (Rev. to 2001) § 54-193a, as amended by P.A. 02-138.

Thus, for an offense involving sexual abuse, sexual exploitation, or sexual assault of a minor, the statute of limitations is the earlier of (1) thirty years from the date the victim reaches eighteen years old or (2) five years from the date the victim notifies law enforcement

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

767

State v. Greer

or a state's attorney of the offense. See General Statutes (Rev. to 2001) § 54-193a, as amended by P.A. 02-138. The legislature, however, provided a further requirement for a violation of § 53a-71 (a) (1), which involves sexual intercourse between a victim at least age thirteen but under age sixteen and an actor at least three years older, that the victim notify a police officer or prosecutor within five years after the offense is committed. See General Statutes (Rev. to 2001) § 54-193a, as amended by P.A. 02-138. That reporting requirement is at issue in the present case.

It is undisputed that E did not report the defendant's conduct to the police within five years of its occurrence. In fact, it was for this reason that the court granted the judgment of acquittal as to the sexual assault charges. The defendant argues that, because the sexual assault and risk of injury charges were based on the same conduct, "it would be illogical and unreasonable to apply a greater limitation period to that same conduct when it is *simultaneously* prosecuted under the risk of injury statute—a statute that *does not* require proof of sexual intercourse or penetration, and which can be violated simply by proof of over the clothes contact with the intimate parts of the perpetrator or the intimate parts of the child victim. Such a bizarre or irrational result was undoubtedly neither intended nor foreseen by the legislature" (Emphasis in original; footnote omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) In response, the state asserts that the plain and unambiguous statutory language defeats the defendant's claim because, "where the legislature expressly has proscribed a shorter statute of limitations for one way of committing a crime . . . a reviewing court cannot presume that it also intended to extend that limitation to other crimes not specifically named."⁷ We agree with the state.

⁷ The state also contends that the defendant waived this claim by failing to raise it at trial. We disagree.

768

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

As a preliminary matter, we note that “[o]ur courts have addressed the relationship between risk of injury to a child and the various degrees of sexual assault in the context of double jeopardy claims on several occasions, each time concluding that the two crimes do not constitute the same offense. In *State v. Bletsch*, [281 Conn. 5, 28–29, 912 A.2d 992 (2007)], for example, [our Supreme Court] . . . concluded that, under the charging instruments in that case, the crimes of sexual

In *State v. Golodner*, 305 Conn. 330, 355–56, 46 A.3d 71 (2012), the defendant filed postverdict motions for a judgment of acquittal and a new trial, asserting that one count of the substituted information was barred by the applicable statute of limitations. The trial court denied the motion, “stating that the defendant had failed to raise the statute of limitations defense in a timely manner” *Id.*, 356. On appeal, the state argued “that the defendant waived an affirmative defense based on the statute of limitations by raising it for the first time after the conclusion of trial.” *Id.* In rejecting the state’s waiver argument, our Supreme Court noted that a waiver of a statute of limitations defense must be voluntary and intelligent and held that “[t]here [was] nothing to suggest a voluntary waiver on the part of the defendant His motion for acquittal based on the statute of limitations would suggest the contrary.” *Id.*, 359.

In the present case, as in *Golodner*, the defendant raised the statute of limitations defense in postverdict motions and, therefore, he did not voluntarily waive it. Although the state argues that *Golodner* is distinguishable because it involved an amendment to the information and, therefore, the statute of limitations defense was unavailable before trial; see *id.*, 355–56; we are not persuaded that this fact had any bearing on the court’s holding in *Golodner*. In fact, the court agreed with the defendant’s argument in *Golodner* that Practice Book § 41-8’s “use of the phrase ‘if made prior to trial’ suggests that the motion *does not have to be made before trial*.” (Emphasis added.) *Id.*, 356; see also Practice Book § 41-8 (statute of limitations defense “shall, if made prior to trial, be raised by a motion to dismiss the information”).

The state also contends that the present case should be controlled by *State v. Pugh*, 176 Conn. App. 518, 535, 170 A.3d 710, cert. denied, 327 Conn. 985, 175 A.3d 43 (2017), in which this court held that, because the defendant failed to assert the statute of limitations defense at trial, “the defendant is deemed to have waived such defense and is, therefore, barred from raising it on appeal.” Unlike the present case, however, the defendant in *Pugh* failed to raise the statute of limitations claim before the trial court and sought to raise it for the first time on appeal. See *id.* Therefore, the claim in *Pugh* was unreserved. Accordingly, we conclude that *Pugh* is distinguishable and that *Golodner* is controlling.

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

769

State v. Greer

assault in the second degree under . . . § 53a-71 (a), and risk of injury to a child under § 53-21 (a) (2), do not constitute the same offense for double jeopardy purposes because the language of the statutes makes it possible to have ‘sexual intercourse’ under § 53a-71 (a) without touching the victim’s ‘intimate parts’ under § 53-21 (a) (2), and vice versa.” *State v. Alvaro F.*, 291 Conn. 1, 7, 966 A.2d 712, cert. denied, 558 U.S. 882, 130 S. Ct. 200, 175 L. Ed. 2d 140 (2009). Accordingly, although the underlying conduct giving rise to the charges in the present case is the same, sexual assault in the second degree and risk of injury to a child are separate and distinct offenses.

Notwithstanding this fact, the defendant, relying on *State v. George J.*, supra, 280 Conn. 571–76, contends that the same statute of limitations should apply to both offenses. In *George J.*, the defendant claimed that his prosecutions for two counts of risk of injury to a child were time barred under General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193, which provided the statute of limitations for nonclass A felony offenses generally. *Id.*, 571. The defendant argued that General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193a, as amended by Public Acts 1993, No. 93-340, § 11 (P.A. 93-340), which provided an extended statute of limitations “‘for any offense involving sexual abuse, sexual exploitation or sexual assault of a minor,’” applied “‘only to offenses for which sexual abuse, sexual exploitation or sexual assault of a minor is an element of the crime, and that risk of injury is not such an offense because conduct other than sexual acts against minors is encompassed within that offense.’” *Id.* At the time of the offense, General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 53-21 did not include subsection (2), which was added in 1995 to address sexual contact with a minor child. *Id.*, 573–74 and n.15.

In rejecting the defendant’s claim, the court noted that “the legislature has created an extended limitations

770

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

period to allow child sexual abuse victims, who may be unable to come forward at the time the offense has occurred, a reasonable opportunity to report the abuse. It would thwart that purpose and create disharmony to apply the extended statute of limitations to a sexual assault offense, but apply the general limitations period of five years from the date of the offense to a risk of injury charge involving the same conduct. The law prefers rational and prudent statutory construction, and we seek to avoid interpretations of statutes that produce odd or illogical outcomes.” *Id.*, 574–75.

The defendant contends that “the ‘odd or illogical outcome’ that the *George J.* court sought to avoid, would occur here if the court allowed the risk of injury convictions to stand—convictions based on the same essential conduct underlying the time barred sexual assault charges. . . . Where, as here, the alleged violations of § 53-21 (a) (2) are based on the same conduct forming the basis for the sexual assault charges under § 53a-71 (a) (1), the same five year statute should apply.” (Footnote omitted.) We disagree.

In *George J.*, our Supreme Court sought to determine whether the extended statute of limitations for sex offenses against minors applied to the risk of injury statute despite the fact that General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 53-21 did not include a sexual element of the offense. *State v. George J.*, *supra*, 280 Conn. 573. In rejecting the state’s contention that General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193a “clearly” applied to risk of injury to a child, the court explained that “the meaning of the statute is not plain and unambiguous, because it does not refer expressly either to the crime of risk of injury or to the statute addressing that crime, and there is more than one reasonable construction based solely on the text of the statute. Indeed, because the crime of risk of injury does not *necessarily* involve

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

771

State v. Greer

sexual abuse, we certainly cannot conclude that [General Statutes (Rev. to 1993)] § 54-193a becomes unambiguous by looking to the crime charged in the present case.” (Emphasis in original; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 563 n.8. Nevertheless, after considering the specific language the legislature chose to use in General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193a, the legislative policy underlying the statute, and the bill analysis prepared by the Office of Legislative Research (OLR), the Supreme Court concluded that the extended statute of limitations applied to risk of injury charges that were based on sexual abuse, sexual assault, or sexual exploitation of a minor. *Id.*, 572–76.

Specifically, the court first noted that, at the time of the defendant’s conduct, “[i]t [was] well established that [General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 53-21’s] proscription on actions that create a risk of ‘impair[ing]’ the ‘health or morals’ of a child encompasses a broad range of acts, including sexual acts against minors.” *Id.*, 572. The court then defined the question before it as “whether, by creating an extended statute of limitations for ‘*any* offense . . . involving sexual abuse, sexual exploitation or sexual assault of a minor’ . . . General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193a, as amended by P.A. 93-340, § 11; the legislature intended that the statute apply to any such conduct or only to such conduct when it expressly is prescribed as an element of the offense.” (Emphasis in original.) *State v. George J.*, supra, 280 Conn. 573. The court answered that question by comparing General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193a with other criminal statutes of limitations: “[General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) §] 54-193a is one of three criminal statutes of limitations. Notably, in both of the other statutes of limitations, the legislature specifically has provided the statutory provisions to which the limitations period applies; see General Statutes § 54-193b;⁸

⁸ “General Statutes [Rev. to 2005] § 54-193b provides: ‘Notwithstanding the provisions of sections 54-193 and 54-193a, a person may be prosecuted

772

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

or has delineated the statutory provisions or classes of offenses that are excluded from the limitations period. See General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193. By contrast, in § 54-193a, the legislature did not cite specific statutes to which the expanded limitations period applies; rather, it used a broad descriptive phrase, ‘any offense[s] involving’ General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193a, as amended by P.A. 93-340, § 11. It is difficult to imagine how the legislature could have phrased the statute more expansively and yet still limited its reach to sexual acts against children.” (Footnote in original; footnote omitted.) *State v. George J.*, supra, 573–74. The court concluded that its interpretation was consistent with OLR’s analysis of the public act, which was codified at § 54-193a. *Id.*, 575.

As noted previously in this opinion, the court also discussed the legislative policy underlying General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193a and concluded that applying the extended statute of limitations to a sexual assault offense but not to a risk of injury offense based on the same conduct would thwart the policy behind the statute, create disharmony, and produce odd or illogical outcomes. *Id.*, 574–75. It is this policy statement on which the defendant relies to argue that it would create similar disharmony to apply the reporting requirement in § 54-193a to violations of § 53a-71 (a)

for a violation of section 53a-70, 53a-70a, 53a-70b, 53a-71, 53a-72a or 53a-72b not later than twenty years from the date of the commission of the offense, provided (1) the victim notified any police officer or state’s attorney acting in such police officer’s or state’s attorney’s official capacity of the commission of the offense not later than five years after the commission of the offense, and (2) the identity of the person who allegedly committed the offense has been established through a DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) profile comparison using evidence collected at the time of the commission of the offense.’ Although § 54-193b was enacted in 2000; see Public Acts 2000, No. 00-80, § 1; we nonetheless find it useful in discerning the type of language that the legislature could have used in 1995 had it intended that § 54-193a have a more limited, specific reach.” *State v. George J.*, supra, 280 Conn. 573 n.16.

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

773

State v. Greer

(1) but not to risk of injury violations based on the same conduct.

The problem with the defendant’s argument is that it ignores the plain and unambiguous language of the statute. The legislature specifically identified § 53a-71 (a) (1) as the sole statute to which the additional reporting requirement applies. General Statutes (Rev. to 2001) § 54-193a, as amended by P.A. 02-138. Given the plain and unambiguous statutory language, we cannot expand § 54-193a’s limited exception for a prosecution of sexual assault in the second degree under § 53a-71 (a) (1) and apply it to a risk of injury charge under § 53-21 (a) (2). Indeed, to do so “would contravene the doctrine of *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*—the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another—[under which] we presume that when the legislature expresses items as part of a group or series, an item that was not included was deliberately excluded. . . . Put differently, it is well settled that [w]e are not permitted to supply statutory language that the legislature may have chosen to omit.” (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Mayer v. Historic District Commission*, 325 Conn. 765, 776, 160 A.3d 333 (2017).

Furthermore, our conclusion is consistent with the reasoning in *George J.*, in which our Supreme Court expressly relied on the fact that the legislature did not limit the expanded statute of limitations in General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193a to specific criminal statutes. *State v. George J.*, *supra*, 280 Conn. 573–74. It further noted that this was in stark contrast to other statutes of limitations that either were limited to specific statutes or excluded specific statutes from their operation. *Id.*, 573. Relevant to the present case, the legislature did not provide that the additional reporting requirement applied to *any offense* involving sexual intercourse with another person between the ages of thirteen and sixteen when the defendant is more than

774

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

three years older than such person. Instead, the legislature specifically limited the application of the reporting requirement to only “a violation of subdivision (1) of subsection (a) of section 53a-71” General Statutes (Rev. to 2001) § 54-193a, as amended by P.A. 02-138. Consistent with our Supreme Court’s conclusion in *George J.*, we conclude that, had the legislature intended a different application of the statute, it readily could have so provided. See *State v. George J.*, supra, 574.

Finally, we are not persuaded that applying a different statute of limitations to the two sets of charges in the present case leads to an absurd or unworkable result. As this court has recognized, “[t]wo criminal statutes can be construed to proscribe the same conduct and a defendant can be prosecuted under either.” *Evans v. Commissioner of Correction*, 47 Conn. App. 773, 780–81, 709 A.2d 1136, cert. denied, 244 Conn. 921, 714 A.2d 5 (1998). Although the defendant suggests that the legislature intended for the reporting requirement to apply to the *conduct* giving rise to a prosecution of sexual assault in the second degree, as noted previously in this opinion, such an intent is not reflected in the statutory language.

As our Supreme Court has explained, “[o]ur statute of limitations distinguishes between offenses according to their severity, and there is nothing inconsistent in the fact that some prosecutions are barred where others are not. We further believe that confidence in our judicial system would be severely eroded if serious charges were dismissed by the courts for reasons of judicial policy, when the legislature, through the statute of limitations, has manifested an intent that they be prosecuted.” *State v. Ellis*, 197 Conn. 436, 476, 497 A.2d 974 (1985). In the present case, we are persuaded that the legislature, by establishing an extended statute of limitations for “*any offense . . . involving sexual abuse,*

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

775

State v. Greer

sexual exploitation or sexual assault of a minor,” has manifested an intent that charges of risk of injury to a child should be prosecuted, so long as the prosecution occurs within the extended statute of limitations. (Emphasis added.) General Statutes (Rev. to 2001) § 54-193a, as amended by P.A. 02-138; see also *State v. George J.*, supra, 280 Conn. 574 (“[i]t is difficult to imagine how the legislature could have phrased [General Statutes (Rev. to 1993) § 54-193a] more expansively and yet still limited its reach to sexual acts against children”). The fact that the legislature identified a single statutory exception to that extended statute of limitations for a prosecution of sexual assault in the second degree does not indicate a contrary intent.

In sum, the legislature carved out a single exception to the extended statute of limitations under § 54-193a for the prosecution of a violation of § 53a-71 (a) (1). Had the legislature intended for the same exception to apply to § 53-21 (a) (2), it would have stated so expressly. Consequently, we conclude that § 54-193a is unambiguous and does not yield absurd or unworkable results. Therefore, the court properly denied the defendant’s motion for a judgment of acquittal as to the risk of injury charges.⁹

⁹ The defendant also claims that, “[i]f this court has any reasonable doubt about the proper scope of § 54-193a, relief should be granted as a matter of lenity.” “[T]he touchstone of this rule of lenity is statutory ambiguity. . . . [W]e . . . [reserve] lenity for those situations in which a reasonable doubt persists about a statute’s intended scope even *after* resort to the language and structure, legislative history, and motivating policies of the statute.” (Emphasis in original; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Palmenta*, 168 Conn. App. 37, 47, 144 A.3d 503, cert. dismissed, 323 Conn. 930, 150 A.3d 230 (2016), and cert. denied, 323 Conn. 931, 150 A.3d 231 (2016). Here, because we conclude that the statute is not ambiguous and that it does not lead to absurd or unworkable results, we have no reason to resort to the rule of lenity. See *id.* (“[b]ecause we conclude that, after full resort to the process of statutory construction, there is no reasonable doubt as to the meaning of the statute, we need not resort to the rule of lenity”); see also General Statutes § 1-2z (when meaning of text of statute “is plain and unambiguous and does not yield absurd or unworkable results, extratextual evidence of the meaning of the statute shall not be considered”).

776

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

II

The defendant next claims that the court, in its mid-trial and final instructions to the jury, improperly failed to provide the jury with a standard of proof to apply in determining whether the defendant had committed acts of uncharged misconduct. In response, the state argues that the defendant's challenge to the court's instruction as to the evidence of uncharged misconduct with E is unpreserved and unreviewable and that the court properly instructed the jury regarding the evidence of uncharged sexual misconduct with another student, R. We conclude that the defendant's claim is preserved and that the court properly instructed the jury.

The following additional facts and procedural history are relevant to the defendant's claim. Before trial, the state filed a motion to introduce uncharged misconduct evidence pursuant to § 4-5 of the Connecticut Code of Evidence.¹⁰ The state sought to introduce evidence

¹⁰ Section 4-5 of the Connecticut Code of Evidence provides in relevant part: "(a) General Rule. Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts of a person is inadmissible to prove the bad character, propensity, or criminal tendencies of that person except as provided in subsection (b).

"(b) When evidence of other sexual misconduct is admissible to prove propensity. Evidence of other sexual misconduct is admissible in a criminal case to establish that the defendant had a tendency or a propensity to engage in aberrant and compulsive sexual misconduct if: (1) the case involves aberrant and compulsive sexual misconduct; (2) the trial court finds that the evidence is relevant to a charged offense in that the other sexual misconduct is not too remote in time, was allegedly committed upon a person similar to the alleged victim, and was otherwise similar in nature and circumstances to the aberrant and compulsive sexual misconduct at issue in the case; and (3) the trial court finds that the probative value of the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect.

"(c) When evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is admissible. Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts of a person is admissible for purposes other than those specified in subsection (a), such as to prove intent, identity, malice, motive, common plan or scheme, absence of mistake or accident, knowledge, a system of criminal activity, or an element of the crime, or to corroborate crucial prosecution testimony. . . ."

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

777

State v. Greer

regarding a sexual relationship between the defendant and R, a former student who attended the yeshiva in 2008, and the defendant's sexual relationship with E after E's sixteenth birthday. Following oral argument, the court granted the state's motion, determining that the defendant's uncharged sexual misconduct with R was admissible to establish the defendant's propensity to commit the type of sexual misconduct with which he was charged under § 4-5 (b) of the Connecticut Code of Evidence and that the continuation of the defendant's sexual relationship with E was admissible to show the defendant's common plan or scheme to have continuous sexual relations with E under § 4-5 (c).¹¹

At trial, the state presented testimony from E regarding incidents that occurred after his sixteenth birthday. Before the state elicited that testimony, the court provided a limiting instruction to the jury.¹² The state also presented testimony from R regarding incidents of uncharged sexual misconduct. R testified that, in 2008, when he was thirteen or fourteen years old, the defendant had tutored him at the yeshiva. R recounted that

¹¹ The court explained that, "[t]o the extent that the subsequent sexual activity between the defendant and [E] is not viewed as misconduct, the issue becomes one of relevancy. . . . Evidence that the defendant and [E] had a sexual relationship after the alleged sexual misconduct in this case is probative of the full nature of their relationship and the prior sexual misconduct as well as the reason why [E] did not immediately report the sexual misconduct to the police."

¹² The court stated: "You're now going to be hearing evidence where . . . the witness is going to claim that he had sexual relations with the defendant after he turned sixteen. . . . [The defendant is] not charged with any crimes related to that, but you will be hearing about that.

"It's not being offered to show the bad character of the defendant, it's not being offered to show his propensity to commit crimes. It's being offered to show—it's being offered for a limited purpose; one, to show the complete nature of relationship between this witness and the defendant, and the state's also offering it to show that the defendant had in his mind a common plan to continue to have sexual relations and to have sexual relationships with [E]. I'll give you further instructions on this when I give you my final instructions on the law that applies to this case."

778

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

the defendant frequently would touch R's crotch to get R's attention and that, when R attempted to position himself in such a way to avoid that contact, the defendant would touch R's "butt" instead. R also testified regarding one particular incident where, after he told the defendant that he received a good grade, the defendant drove him to a local park to celebrate. When they arrived at the park, they sat on a bench, and the defendant pulled out a bottle of wine, two plastic cups, and a can of nuts. After drinking some of the wine, R began to feel dizzy and decided to eat some of the nuts. R testified that, while he was eating the nuts, the defendant was "trying to, like, French kiss me and I was trying to keep my mouth shut." When R became upset, the defendant "got all embarrassed and said, like, 'oh, I'm out of line, it must be the alcohol.'" The defendant then brought R back to the school.

Following R's testimony, the court provided the following limiting instruction to the jury: "The state is claiming that the defendant engaged in other sexual . . . misconduct with someone other than [E], particularly with . . . [R]. The defendant has not been charged with any offense related to this alleged conduct. In a criminal case such as this in which the defendant is charged with a crime involving sexual misconduct, evidence of the defendant's commission of other sexual misconduct is admissible and may be considered to prove that the defendant had the propensity or tendency to engage in the type of criminal sexual behavior with which he is charged. However, evidence of prior misconduct on its own is not sufficient to prove that the defendant is guilty of the crimes charged in the information. It is for you to determine whether the defendant committed any uncharged sexual misconduct and, if so, the extent, if any, to which that evidence establishes that the defendant had the . . . propensity or tendency to engage in criminal sexual behavior. Please bear in

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

779

State v. Greer

mind as you consider this evidence that at all times the state has the burden of proving that the defendant committed each of the elements of the offenses which he is charged in the information, and I remind you that the defendant is not on trial for any act, conduct or offense not charged in the information.”

Before the charge conference, the defendant filed a written request to charge regarding uncharged sexual misconduct, which provided in relevant part: “It is for you to determine whether the state has proven by clear and convincing evidence whether the defendant committed the alleged uncharged sexual misconduct. If you find that the state has met that standard, then you may determine the extent, if any, to which that evidence establishes that the defendant had a propensity or tendency to engage in criminal sexual behavior. Bear in mind as you consider this evidence that, at all times, the state has the burden of proving that the defendant committed each of the elements of the offense charged in the information. As to any evidence of uncharged misconduct, the state’s burden is to prove that conduct by clear and convincing evidence.” (Footnote omitted.)

At the charge conference, the following exchange occurred between the court and defense counsel:

“The Court: . . . [Y]ou’re asking me to tell the jury that any uncharged sexual misconduct has to be proven by clear and convincing evidence.

“[Defense Counsel]: Correct.

“The Court: Do you have any authority for that?”

“[Defense Counsel]: It’s cited, Your Honor. It’s out-of-state authority. . . .

“The Court: And this says ‘but see [*State v. Cutler*, 293 Conn. 303, 977 A.2d 209 (2009), overruled in part

780

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

on other grounds by *State v. Elson*, 311 Conn. 726, 91 A.3d 862 (2014)],’ is that contrary authority?

“[Defense Counsel]: Absolutely. Yes.

“The Court: Okay. So you’re asking me to overrule the Connecticut Supreme Court. . . . Your request is duly filed. That’s not the law in the state of Connecticut and it’s not—

“[Defense Counsel]: A journey of a million miles, Your Honor, begins with but a single step.

“The Court: No, I—I understand you may be pre—preserving for appellate review; I have no quarrel with that.”

Shortly thereafter, while discussing the portion of the court’s draft charge regarding evidence of the continuing sexual relationship between E and the defendant, which was titled “Evidence of Other Misconduct,” defense counsel requested that the court instruct the jury that “[i]t is for you to determine, one, whether the state has proven such acts occurred . . . [and] [t]wo, if proven, whether they established what the state seeks to establish” Defense counsel explained that “[t]he way this is drafted it assumes that it has been proven; it doesn’t really leave to the jury to determine. It essentially says, look, I, the judge, have admitted those, here’s how you’re supposed to use this, okay.” When the prosecutor asked defense counsel to repeat himself, the court explained that “[h]e wants to emphasize that the state has to prove that these acts occurred.” An exchange between the court and defense counsel followed:

“The Court: How . . . is it not clear when it says it is for you to determine; one, whether such acts occurred? How . . . does that assume that they’ve been proven?

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

781

State v. Greer

“[Defense Counsel]: Because it’s—it’s the burden of the state to—to prove it. . . . Okay, they have to prove it. . . . What I asked for earlier was a standard by which they can determine whether it was proven, that’s a—a flaw in our scheme for these—for addressing these types of cases. The court, having rejected my request and anticipating—

“The Court: No, it’s not a flaw, it’s that you want a higher standard than the law requires. It’s not that there isn’t a standard, the standard is preponderance of the evidence, you gotta prove these facts by the preponderance of the evidence this—this uncharged misconduct or other misconduct; you have to prove the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

“[Defense Counsel]: And you have to—my position is that the state has to prove these by some standard, okay, and—and the way this is phrased without putting it that way essentially there’s an imprimatur from the court that these things are valid and have been proven.

“The Court: Yeah, I don’t read it that way”

The court denied the defendant’s requests and subsequently instructed the jury regarding the uncharged misconduct evidence as follows: “The state has submitted evidence that the defendant engaged in sexual misconduct with [R]. The defendant has not been charged in this case with any offenses related to this alleged conduct. In a criminal case such as this in which the defendant is charged with a crime involving sex—sexual misconduct, evidence of the defendant’s commission of other sexual misconduct is admissible and may be considered to prove that the defendant had the propensity or a tendency to engage in the type of criminal sexual behavior with which he is charged. However, evidence of prior misconduct on its own is not sufficient to prove the defendant guilty of the crimes charged in the information. *It is for you to determine whether the*

782

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

defendant committed any uncharged sexual misconduct and, if so, the extent, if any, to which that evidence establishes that the defendant had the propensity or a tendency to engage in criminal sexual behavior. Bear in mind as you consider this evidence that, at all times, the state has the burden of proving that the defendant committed each of the elements of the offenses charged in the information. I remind you that the defendant is not on trial for any act, conduct or offense not charged in the information.

“The state has also presented that the defendant continued to have sexual relations with [E] after [E] reached the age of sixteen This evidence has not been admitted to prove the bad character of the defendant or the defendant’s tendency to commit criminal acts and it cannot be used by you for such purposes. Such evidence has been admitted for a limited purpose only. This evidence was admitted to show or explain the full extent of the sexual relationship between the defendant and [E] and to show a common plan or scheme by the defendant to have continuous sexual relations with [E]. The evidence may be used by you only for those purposes. *It is for you to determine, one, whether such acts occurred* and, two, if they occurred, whether they establish what the state seeks to establish.” (Emphasis added.)

A

We first address whether the defendant preserved his claim of instructional error regarding the evidence of uncharged misconduct with E. The state claims that, in his written request to charge, “the defendant only asked the court to instruct that the state had to prove by clear and convincing evidence ‘alleged uncharged sexual misconduct’ admitted to prove ‘that the defendant had a propensity or tendency to engage in criminal sexual behavior.’” Significantly, however, the second

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

783

State v. Greer

to last sentence of the request to charge provided: “As to any evidence of uncharged misconduct, the state’s burden is to prove that conduct by clear and convincing evidence.” (Emphasis added.) Moreover, the court understood the scope of the defendant’s request to charge because the court explained: “It’s not that there isn’t a standard, the standard is preponderance of the evidence, you gotta prove these facts by the preponderance of the evidence this—*this uncharged misconduct or other misconduct . . .*” (Emphasis added.) Consequently, we conclude that the defendant adequately preserved his challenge to the court’s instructions as to the uncharged misconduct evidence involving E. See *State v. Ramon A. G.*, 336 Conn. 386, 395, 246 A.3d 481 (2020) (“[b]ecause the sine qua non of preservation is fair notice . . . the determination of whether a claim has been properly preserved will depend on a careful review of the record to ascertain whether the claim on appeal was articulated below with sufficient clarity to place the trial court on reasonable notice of that very same claim” (emphasis added; internal quotation marks omitted)).

B

Having determined that the defendant preserved his claim that the court improperly failed to provide the jury with a standard by which to determine whether the acts of uncharged misconduct occurred, we now consider its merits.

We begin our analysis with the standard of review. “When reviewing the challenged jury instruction . . . we must adhere to the well settled rule that a charge to the jury is to be considered in its entirety, read as a whole, and judged by its total effect rather than by its individual component parts. . . . [T]he test of a court’s charge is not whether it is as accurate upon legal principles as the opinions of a court of last resort

784

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 757

State v. Greer

but whether it fairly presents the case to the jury in such a way that injustice is not done to either party under the established rules of law. . . . As long as [the instructions] are correct in law, adapted to the issues and sufficient for the guidance of the jury . . . we will not view the instructions as improper.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Arroyo*, 292 Conn. 558, 566, 973 A.2d 1254 (2009), cert. denied, 559 U.S. 911, 130 S. Ct. 1296, 175 L. Ed. 2d 1086 (2010).

In *State v. Cutler*, supra, 293 Conn. 303, our Supreme Court addressed a claim similar to the defendant’s claim in the present case. In *Cutler*, the defendant claimed that the trial court improperly failed to instruct the jury to apply a preponderance of the evidence standard in considering uncharged misconduct evidence. *Id.*, 315. The challenged instructions provided: “You may consider such evidence if you believe it, and further find that it logically and rationally supports the issue for which it is being offered by the state, but only as it may bear on the issue of intent. On the other hand, if you don’t believe such evidence, or even if you do, if you find that it does not logically and rationally support the issue for which [it] is being offered by the state, namely the defendant’s intent, then you may not consider the testimony for any purpose.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 316.

Our Supreme Court disagreed with the defendant and concluded “that it is not necessary that a trial court instruct the jury that it must find, by a preponderance of the evidence, that prior acts of misconduct actually occurred at the hands of the defendant. Instead, a jury may consider prior misconduct evidence for the proper purpose for which it is admitted if there is evidence from which the jury reasonably could conclude that the defendant actually committed the misconduct.” (Footnote omitted.) *Id.*, 322. The court explained that the trial court’s “use of the word ‘believe’ comports with the

213 Conn. App. 757

JULY, 2022

785

State v. Greer

requirement that a jury may consider prior misconduct evidence if there is evidence from which it reasonably could conclude that the defendant committed the acts. . . . [I]t is clear that the trial court's use of the word 'believe' is not only correct in law, but also sufficiently guides the jury as to its consideration of the prior misconduct evidence. If the jury believes the prior misconduct evidence, it follows logically that there is evidence from which the jury reasonably could conclude that the defendant committed the prior acts of misconduct." *Id.*, 322–23.¹³

In the present case, the defendant notes that the "believe" instruction endorsed in *Cutler* is used in the Connecticut Criminal Jury Instructions¹⁴ and by Connecticut judges when instructing on uncharged misconduct. He argues that, in the present case, he "*did not even* get the benefit of the (lower than a preponderance) 'believe' standard, which has its own deficiencies. Instead, the jury was allowed to make its decisions (on whether the defendant committed any misconduct) unfettered by any uniform standard. . . . The court's instructional omission was patently erroneous." (Emphasis in original; footnote omitted.) We disagree.

¹³ In *State v. Ortiz*, 343 Conn. 566, 601–602, A.3d (2022), which was decided after the present appeal had been argued, our Supreme Court reaffirmed its holding in *Cutler*. The court explained that, in *Cutler*, it had expressly rejected a claim that the trial court was required to instruct the jury that it must find prior misconduct evidence to be proven by a heightened standard and emphasized that "it saw *no reason to impose on trial courts a jury instruction that requires jurors to consider the properly admissible prior misconduct evidence at a higher standard.*" (Emphasis in original; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 602 n.13.

¹⁴ With respect to evidence of uncharged misconduct, the model jury instructions provide in relevant part: "You may consider such evidence if you believe it and further find that it logically, rationally and conclusively supports the issue[s] for which it is being offered by the state, but only as it may bear on the issue[s] [for which it was admitted]. . . ." Connecticut Criminal Jury Instructions 2.6-5, available at <https://www.jud.ct.gov/JI/Criminal/Criminal.pdf> (last visited July 11, 2022).

786

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

Here, the court instructed that it was for the jury “to determine” whether the defendant engaged in the uncharged misconduct. We discern no meaningful distinction between the “believe” standard endorsed in *Cutler* and the court’s use of the word “determine” in the present case. For that reason, we are not persuaded that the court’s instructions were deficient. If anything, “determine” is a stronger standard than “believe.” When used as a transitive verb, “believe” means “to consider to be true or honest” or “to accept the word or evidence of” or “to hold as an opinion” Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary (11th Ed. 2003) p. 112. In the same context, “determine” means “to settle or decide by choice of alternatives or possibilities” or “to find out or come to a decision about by investigation, reasoning, or calculation” *Id.*, p. 340. Thus, “believe” connotes, at least to some extent, subjective and emotional reasoning, whereas “determine” connotes more objective and logical reasoning. Accordingly, we find no error in the court’s instructions to the jury that it must determine that something occurred rather than believe that it occurred. Consequently, we conclude that our Supreme Court’s decision in *Cutler* controls and, therefore, that the court properly instructed the jury regarding the uncharged misconduct evidence.

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

STATE OF CONNECTICUT v. ALEXANDER
A. GARRISON
(AC 43796)

Prescott, Suarez and Bishop, Js.

Syllabus

The defendant, who had been convicted, after a trial to the court, of the crime of assault in the first degree, appealed to this court, claiming that the trial court had improperly denied his motion to suppress certain

State v. Garrison

statements he made to police officers while he was in a hospital examining room where he was attached to an intravenous line. The defendant claimed that the statements were inadmissible because they were the product of custodial interrogation, and the police had not advised him of his rights pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona* (384 U.S. 436). The state disagreed and claimed that, even if the police were required to advise the defendant of his rights pursuant to *Miranda*, the admission of his statements at trial was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant had visited P and another man at their apartment, where the men consumed beer and whiskey and socialized. The men became highly intoxicated. An argument ensued, and P punched the defendant in the face. The defendant thereafter attacked P from behind and stabbed him six times with a knife. The defendant then walked to a nearby hospital. He was brought to the examining room, where he remained that evening and into the early morning for about four and one-half hours. The attending physician did not permit him to be discharged until he regained sobriety. At various times, five different police officers conducted multiple rounds of questioning of the defendant in his hospital room, during which he made inculpatory statements. One of the officers also transcribed the defendant's version of the events at issue, placed him under oath, instructed him to sign the written statement and then left the hospital room. The officer returned later and informed the defendant that he was free to leave the hospital but only if the medical staff allowed him to do so. None of the officers ever advised the defendant of his rights pursuant to *Miranda* or told him that he was under arrest or that he could terminate the interviews at any time. The questioning by the officers lasted, collectively, about one hour. Some of the officers wore plain clothes; others were in uniform and visibly armed with their service weapons. Several officers were in the defendant's room at the same time during three of the interviews. Hospital security guards and medical staff also were in the room during some of the questioning. The trial court denied the defendant's motion to suppress, reasoning that he had failed to prove that he was in custody for purposes of *Miranda* and that a person in his position would have understood that his freedom of action was curtailed to a degree associated with a formal arrest. *Held:*

1. Contrary to the trial court's determination, the defendant was in police custody for purposes of *Miranda*: the police did not explain to the defendant that they were not holding or detaining him until more than two hours after their first encounter with him, at no point did they inform him that he was free to stop answering their questions, and the police dominated atmosphere in his hospital room, with multiple officers entering and exiting for numerous rounds of questioning at various points throughout the evening, created a large and intimidating police presence that could undermine an individual's decision to remain silent; moreover, this court was unpersuaded that the factors that militated against a finding that the defendant was in custody outweighed the

State v. Garrison

coercive features of his detention, as five different police officers repeatedly questioned him for one hour, collectively, during the late evening into the early morning hours, the surroundings in which the questioning took place were not familiar to the defendant, who had a tenth grade education and was intoxicated during the questioning, and, although the defendant was alert enough to be able to converse with the police and the medical staff, in light of the police dominated atmosphere, his ability to request assistance from the medical staff to terminate the police interrogation did not mean that a reasonable person in his position would believe he was at liberty to do so; furthermore, a person in the defendant's position reasonably would have believed he was in police custody to the degree associated with a formal arrest, as the defendant was presented with inherently coercive pressures that included the officers' conduct, which conveyed a clear message of complete, unfettered and temporally indefinite police control, the restraint the medical attendants imposed on him for purposes of his treatment, and of which the police took advantage, and the extensive duration of the questioning by multiple police officers and their failure to advise him that he was free to terminate the interviews.

2. The police officers' questioning of the defendant constituted the functional equivalent of interrogation for purposes of *Miranda*, and the police were required to advise him of his rights pursuant to *Miranda* before eliciting statements from him and should have known that their questions reasonably were likely to elicit incriminating statements; the officers repeatedly asked the defendant to provide his version of the altercation with P, their questions were not objectively neutral and unrelated to the altercation but implied that the defendant was involved in it and explicitly called for responses regarding the altercation, for which he was later prosecuted, and, despite the testimony of one of the officers that he did not advise the defendant of his *Miranda* rights prior to taking his statement because, in the officer's mind, the defendant was not a suspect, the officer's subjective understanding of whether the defendant was a suspect did not overcome the strong, highly relevant relationship between the questions asked by all of the officers and the crime committed.
3. Contrary to the state's contention, the admission of the defendant's inculpatory statements at trial was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and, therefore, the defendant was entitled to a new trial: this court could not say that the defendant's statements were relatively benign or facially innocuous, as the trial court explicitly relied on at least one of them in determining that the state had proven beyond a reasonable doubt the element of intent, a requisite element of the charge of assault in the first degree; moreover, the state extensively cross-examined the defendant at trial as to several of the statements he made to the police and recited them to the jury at the conclusion of the trial; furthermore, the court's

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

789

State v. Garrison

analysis of the defendant's claim of self-defense may have been influenced by many of the defendant's statements, which incriminated him with regard to various elements of that claim and may have had a tendency to demonstrate that he ignored any duty to retreat he may have had.

Argued January 10—officially released July 19, 2022

Procedural History

Information charging the defendant with the crimes of assault in the first degree and tampering with physical evidence, brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of Tolland, where the court, *Bhatt, J.*, denied the defendant's motion to suppress certain evidence; thereafter, the case was tried to the court, *Seeley, J.*; subsequently, the court, *Seeley, J.*, granted the defendant's motion for a judgment of acquittal as to the charge of tampering with physical evidence; judgment of guilty of assault in the first degree, from which the defendant appealed to this court. *Reversed; new trial.*

Erica A. Barber, for the appellant (defendant).

Sarah Hanna, senior assistant state's attorney, with whom, on the brief, were *Matthew C. Gedansky*, state's attorney, and *Jaclyn Preville*, supervisory assistant state's attorney, for the appellee (state).

Opinion

PRESCOTT, J. The defendant, Alexander A. Garrison, appeals from the judgment of conviction, rendered following a bench trial, of one count of assault in the first degree in violation of General Statutes § 53a-59 (a) (1). The defendant claims that the trial court improperly denied his motion to suppress statements that he made to police officers while he was at a hospital because the statements (1) were made as a result of custodial interrogation and he had not been advised of his rights pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 478–79, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966), at the time he

790

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

made the statements, and (2) were involuntarily given.¹ We agree with the defendant that the police obtained his statements as a result of custodial interrogation without providing to the defendant the advisement required by *Miranda*, and, therefore, the court improperly denied his motion to suppress. We further agree that the defendant was prejudiced by the admission of his statements and, accordingly, reverse the judgment of conviction and remand the case for a new trial.

Before setting forth the relevant facts and procedural history, we first set forth the applicable standard of review of a trial court's determination as to whether a person was "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes. "The

¹ In his principal appellate brief, the defendant additionally claims that the court improperly denied his motion to suppress the statements because the police officers who interviewed him did not electronically record the entire interrogation, as he asserts is required by General Statutes § 54-10. The defendant withdrew this claim in his reply brief. Accordingly, we do not address it.

The defendant also claims on appeal that the court improperly denied his motion seeking dismissal of the case against him or other forms of relief because the prosecution had failed to timely disclose certain material evidence to the defense. Specifically, the defendant contends that the state failed to timely disclose impeachment material concerning the victim's probationary conditions. See *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963).

Because we conclude that the judgment of conviction must be reversed on other grounds and the matter remanded for a new trial, it is unnecessary to reach this claim. We recognize that our Supreme Court has held that, "[u]nder *Oregon v. Kennedy*, 456 U.S. 667, 102 S. Ct. 2083, 72 L. Ed. 2d 416 (1982), and its progeny, the double jeopardy clause will bar the retrial . . . of a . . . defendant whose conviction [in the first trial] . . . was secured by prosecutorial misconduct . . . if the prosecutor in the first trial engaged in misconduct with the intent to prevent an acquittal that the prosecutor believed at the time was likely to occur in the absence of his misconduct." (Citations omitted; footnotes omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Colton*, 234 Conn. 683, 687–96, 663 A.2d 339 (1995), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1140, 116 S. Ct. 972, 133 L. Ed. 2d 892 (1996). Our careful reading of the defendant's appellate briefs, however, reveals that he does not argue to this court that, in the event that he prevailed on appeal on his *Brady* claim, he is entitled to a judgment of acquittal. See *id.*; see also *Oregon v. Kennedy*, *supra*, 667.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

791

State v. Garrison

trial court's determination of the historical circumstances surrounding the defendant's interrogation [entails] findings of fact . . . which will not be overturned unless they are clearly erroneous." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mangual*, 311 Conn. 182, 197, 85 A.3d 627 (2014); see also *State v. Edmonds*, 323 Conn. 34, 39, 145 A.3d 861 (2016) ("we must, of course, defer to [a] trial court's factual findings"). If, however, "a question of fact is essential to the outcome of a particular legal determination that implicates a defendant's constitutional rights . . . and the credibility of witnesses is not the primary issue"; (internal quotation marks omitted) *State v. Castillo*, 329 Conn. 311, 321, 186 A.3d 672 (2018); "our usual deference . . . is qualified by the necessity for a scrupulous examination of the record to ascertain whether [each] finding is supported by substantial evidence" (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Edmonds*, supra, 39; see also *State v. Mullins*, 288 Conn. 345, 362, 952 A.2d 784 (2008) (employing same standard of review over trial court's conclusion that defendant was not subjected to custodial interrogation), overruled in part on other grounds by *State v. Polanco*, 308 Conn. 242, 61 A.3d 1084 (2013). Thus, "[i]n order to determine the [factual] issue of custody . . . we will conduct a scrupulous examination of the record . . . in order to ascertain whether, in light of the totality of the circumstances, the trial court's finding is supported by substantial evidence." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 197.

Our Supreme Court in *Edmonds* described this standard as requiring "a more probing factual review" (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Edmonds*, supra, 323 Conn. 39. Specifically, our Supreme Court explained, in scrupulously examining the record to ascertain whether the court's finding is supported by substantial evidence, "we are bound to consider not

792

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

only the trial court's factual findings, but also . . . *we must take account of any undisputed evidence that does not support the trial court's ruling . . . but that the trial court did not expressly discredit.*" (Emphasis added; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.* In *Edmonds*, our Supreme Court reviewed the trial court's factual findings, as well as the undisputed testimony and evidence in the record, to resolve factual ambiguities in the court's decision.² See *id.*, 44–46.

"The ultimate inquiry as to whether, in light of [the] factual circumstances, a reasonable person in the defendant's position would believe that he or she was in police custody of the degree associated with a formal

² Our Supreme Court in *Edmonds* specifically noted that "some ambiguity" existed; *State v. Edmonds*, *supra*, 323 Conn. 44; with respect to the factual circumstances surrounding the police search of a defendant in a parking lot and their seizure of narcotics from the defendant's person. See *id.*, 39–44. Our Supreme Court stated, "[t]he precise sequence of events from the time the [police] officers entered the [parking] lot until they frisked the defendant [was] less clear. . . . The officers' testimony at the . . . hearing [on the defendant's motion to suppress], together with the trial court's subsequent factual findings, injected some ambiguity into [multiple parts] of the" sequence of events that the police officers had written in a police report; *id.*, 43–45; including (1) whether a police sergeant who responded to the scene did so "precisely at the same time as" the arresting officers; *id.*, 44; and (2) when the defendant was stopped by the police. See *id.*, 44–45.

The Supreme Court stated that, although the trial court had found that the officers and the sergeant had "entered the parking lot *at the same time*"; (emphasis in original; internal quotation marks omitted) *id.*, 45; "the police report [and the officers' testimony] . . . indicated that [the officers] entered the lot . . . shortly *before* [the sergeant] . . . and the record contain[ed] no evidence to the contrary . . ." (Emphasis in original.) *Id.* Thus, our Supreme Court concluded, "*we must understand the [trial] court's finding that the two [police] cruisers entered at the same time to mean that the two cruisers arrived at the lot at approximately the same time . . .*" (Emphasis altered.) *Id.* Further, to ascertain when the defendant was stopped by the police, our Supreme Court likewise reviewed the undisputed testimony of the officers, which it determined was "consistent with the police report"; *id.*; because "the trial court [had] made no findings" as to the issue. *Id.*, 46. Accordingly, our Supreme Court referenced the officers' testimony, consistent with the police report, with respect to when the defendant was stopped by the police. See *id.*, 45–46, 59.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

793

State v. Garrison

arrest . . . calls for application of the controlling legal standard to the historical facts [and] . . . therefore, presents a . . . question of law . . . over which our review is de novo. . . . In other words . . . we exercise plenary review over the ultimate issue of custody.” (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 197.

We now turn to the present case. The following procedural history and facts, either found by the court, *Bhatt, J.*, and set forth in its memorandum of decision on the defendant’s motion to suppress, or found by the court, *Seeley, J.*, and set forth in its memorandum of decision, and as “supplemented by the undisputed [evidence]” in the record; *State v. Edmonds*, supra, 323 Conn. 39; are relevant to our resolution of this appeal. During the early evening hours of June 22, 2018, the defendant arrived at the apartment of his friend, Timothy Murphy, located in Vernon. William Patten, Murphy’s cousin, also resided in the apartment. Murphy had invited the defendant to sleep at the apartment because the defendant had been staying at a local shelter. Murphy, Patten, and the defendant initially watched television, talked, and played guitar in the living room of the apartment, during which time they consumed beer and whiskey.

At approximately 6 p.m., Murphy, Patten, and the defendant decided to move to the lawn outside of the apartment. They built a fire pit and continued to drink beer and whiskey for several hours. Eventually, the men became highly intoxicated.³ Later in the evening, Patten and the defendant began to argue, exchanging insults and offensive language. Eventually, the disagreement became physical; Patten and the defendant began to “tussl[e],” pushed one another and, at some point,

³ Later in the evening, after Patten and the defendant arrived at Rockville General Hospital in Vernon for treatment of injuries, medical staff determined that Patten had a blood alcohol content level of 0.31 and that the defendant had a blood alcohol content level of 0.217.

794

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

fell onto the ground near the fire pit. Patten gained an advantage over the defendant and punched him in the face.

After Patten punched the defendant, the pair stopped fighting, stood up from the ground, and sat around the fire once more. After a few minutes, the defendant attacked Patten from behind and, specifically, stabbed Patten in his back, front shoulder area, and arm using a Smith and Wesson folding knife.⁴ In response, Patten grabbed the defendant's shirt and arm, pulled the defendant over his shoulder, and kicked the defendant away. This second altercation lasted approximately thirty seconds.

After the defendant stabbed Patten, Patten reentered his apartment. While Patten was inside, Murphy confronted the defendant and asked him what had happened. The defendant did not answer Murphy's question; instead, he stated repeatedly that he had blood on his body.

Meanwhile, Patten attempted to tend to his wounds inside of the apartment. He observed exposed muscle and tissue on his left arm and was unable to stop his wounds from bleeding. Patten then walked to Rockville General Hospital in Vernon (hospital), which was located approximately 500 yards from the apartment. Once he reached the hospital, he sat down outside of the building. He remained outside of the hospital until a hospital employee found him at approximately 9:45 p.m. Patten's injuries were determined to be life threatening, as he had lost approximately 30 to 40 percent of his blood volume. He later was transferred via a Life Star helicopter to Saint Francis Hospital and Medical Center in Hartford to receive additional care.

⁴ The defendant stabbed Patten three times in the back, twice in the arm, and once in the front shoulder.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

795

State *v.* Garrison

Back at the apartment and at some point after Patten had reentered the apartment following the second altercation, Murphy went inside to look for Patten. Murphy became nervous, however, when he observed a large amount of blood in the bathroom and could not find Patten. Murphy returned to the fire pit area and once again asked the defendant what had happened. Murphy additionally told the defendant to leave and said that he was going to call the police.

Before the defendant left the property, he threw the knife into an adjacent yard.⁵ The defendant then walked to the hospital and arrived at approximately 9:42 p.m. A registered nurse, Sarah Hoyle, transported the defendant in a wheelchair to a hospital examining room and began to evaluate him. The defendant reported to the hospital staff that he had been struck in the nose and had sustained a brief loss of consciousness. He also informed the hospital staff that he was experiencing nasal pain and nasal swelling. The defendant was admitted, and the hospital conducted computed tomography (CT) imaging on his nose. The CT imaging revealed that the defendant had sustained a broken nose.

Due to the defendant's level of intoxication, the attending physician on duty that evening, Sarah Rajchel, mandated that the defendant be discharged from the hospital only after he became clinically sober. Thus, medical staff prohibited the defendant from leaving the hospital until he regained sobriety. Although the defendant "clearly [was] intoxicated," he was able to communicate with medical staff and others.

The defendant changed into a hospital gown, which he wore throughout the evening, and the hospital staff collected his clothes and other belongings and placed them into bags. At approximately 11 p.m. that evening,

⁵ The police later recovered the knife. Subsequent forensic testing established that Patten's blood was on the knife.

796

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State *v.* Garrison

police officers, who had arrived at the hospital earlier in the evening, requested that the defendant sign a consent form, allowing the police to seize and search his clothing. After the defendant signed the consent form, the police seized his clothing.

Several police officers—including Officer Ethan Roberge, Officer Thomas Bugbee, Detective Charles Hicking, Detective Michael Patrizz, Sergeant Christopher Pryputniewicz, and Detective Sergeant David Hatheway of the Vernon Police Department—were dispatched to the hospital throughout the evening. Between approximately 9:42 p.m. on June 22, 2018, the time at which the defendant arrived at the hospital, and shortly before 2:30 a.m. on June 23, 2018, the time at which he was discharged from the hospital, five of the officers questioned the defendant at various points during the evening. The multiple rounds of police questioning of the defendant collectively lasted approximately one hour. During three of the interviews, several police officers stood in the defendant’s hospital room at the same time.

Roberge, the first officer to arrive at the hospital, was dispatched to the hospital at approximately 9:42 p.m. and arrived shortly thereafter. He wore a police uniform, and his service firearm was visible. Before entering the defendant’s hospital room, Roberge unsuccessfully attempted to interview Patten, who, at that time, was unconscious in a nearby hospital room. Roberge then entered the defendant’s hospital room and questioned the defendant from approximately 9:49 p.m. until 9:54 p.m.⁶ Although Roberge was the only police officer in the hospital room during this interview, two hospital security guards also were present in the room.

⁶ Roberge wore a body camera on his person, which he activated when he interacted with the defendant. The full audio and video recordings of the interactions between the defendant and Roberge were admitted into evidence during the suppression hearing and during the subsequent criminal trial.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

797

State v. Garrison

Medical staff were present in the room as well. At no point prior to or during his conversation with the defendant did Roberge advise the defendant of his *Miranda* rights or inform the defendant that he was free to leave.

At the conclusion of their conversation, Roberge exited the defendant's hospital room and, upon exiting the room, had a conversation with two other officers on the premises.⁷ At some point after he exited the defendant's room, Roberge then entered *Patten's* hospital room to attempt to speak with him. Before he asked *Patten* any questions, Roberge advised *Patten* of his rights pursuant to *Miranda*.

At approximately 9:47 p.m., Hicking arrived at the hospital, dressed in plain clothes. His service weapon was not visible. Hicking entered the defendant's room, asked the nurse in the room if he could speak with the defendant, and subsequently began to question the defendant.⁸ The defendant recounted his altercation with *Patten* to Hicking, and Hicking asked the defendant clarifying questions as to his version of events. During the conversation, the defendant stated, inter alia, "I take shit from no one." At some point, nursing staff interrupted the conversation between Hicking and the defendant to perform medical duties. At no point prior to or during his conversation with the defendant did Hicking advise the defendant of his *Miranda* rights or inform the defendant that he was free to leave.

Bugbee also was dispatched to the hospital and arrived in uniform, with his service weapon visible.

⁷ Roberge additionally reentered the defendant's hospital room at approximately 10 p.m. and exited one minute later. He neither advised the defendant of his *Miranda* rights nor informed the defendant that he was free to leave during this second interaction.

⁸ A portion of Hicking's conversation with the defendant was recorded by Bugbee's body camera. The audio and video recording was admitted into evidence during the suppression hearing and at the subsequent criminal trial.

798

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

Upon his arrival, Bugbee conferred with the other officers present at the hospital and subsequently entered the defendant's hospital room. Bugbee entered the defendant's room as Hicking was questioning the defendant about the altercation. Hicking ordered Bugbee to take a statement from the defendant, then exited the room. Bugbee told the defendant that he would take a statement, that the defendant should tell him what had happened, and that he would write down the defendant's version of events.⁹ During this initial interaction, the defendant stated to Bugbee, *inter alia*, "I don't flight, I fight," "I'm a peaceable person until you get in my face, then I fuck you up," and, "I take shit from no one." Additionally, during this interaction between Bugbee and the defendant, Hoyle entered the defendant's hospital room and inserted an intravenous (IV) line into the defendant.¹⁰ After approximately thirty

⁹ Bugbee was wearing a body camera, which he activated before he spoke with the defendant. The full audio and video recordings of each of Bugbee's and the defendant's conversations from Bugbee's body camera were admitted into evidence during the suppression hearing, and portions of the recordings were admitted into evidence at the subsequent criminal trial.

¹⁰ In its memorandum of decision on the defendant's motion to suppress, the court found the following: At no point during the defendant's stay at the hospital was he ever physically *restrained* or tied to medical equipment restricting his freedom of movement, *except for an IV at the beginning of his treatment*"; (emphasis added); "[h]e was *not restrained in any way*"; (emphasis added); "[the defendant] was not physically *restrained in any way*, by medical staff or [the] police"; (emphasis added); and, "[u]nlike the defendant [in] *Mincey* [v. *Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 98 S. Ct. 2408, 57 L. Ed. 2d 290 (1978)], [the defendant in the present case] was not tied to any *tubes, needles* or breathing apparatus." (Emphasis added.)

These findings raise two concerns. First, despite the court's finding that, "[u]nlike the defendant [in] *Mincey*, [the defendant in the present case] was not tied to any *tubes, needles* or breathing apparatus[es]"; (emphasis added); the court simultaneously found that the defendant was attached to an IV line "at the beginning of his treatment." Second,, the court did not clarify what it meant by its use of the ambiguous term "restrained" in this context. We address each concern in turn.

With respect to the court's contradictory findings, a brief review of the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Mincey* is necessary. In *Mincey*, the United States Supreme Court concluded that a defendant's statements, which he made to the police from his hospital bed, were involuntarily made.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

799

State v. Garrison

minutes, during which the defendant recounted the

See *Mincey v. Arizona*, supra, 437 U.S. 398–401. The defendant in *Mincey* was encumbered by “tubes, needles, and [a] breathing apparatus”; id., 399; when he was questioned, including “[t]ubes [that had been] inserted into his throat to help him breathe, and through his nose into his stomach to keep him from vomiting; [as well as] a catheter [that had been] inserted into his bladder. [The defendant also] received various drugs, and a device was attached to his arm so that he could be fed intravenously.” Id., 396.

In the present case, to reconcile the court’s seemingly contradictory statements, we read the court’s statement, “[u]nlike the defendant [in] *Mincey*, [the defendant in the present case] was not tied to any tubes, needles or breathing apparatus,” to mean that the court found that the defendant was not encumbered by the type of tubes, needles, and breathing apparatus that encumbered the defendant in *Mincey* or to the extent that the defendant in *Mincey* was so encumbered. Nonetheless, as the court also found in the present case, and it is undisputed, the defendant *was* attached to an IV line “at the beginning of his treatment.”

With respect to our second concern—the court’s use of the term “restrained”—we are unsure, simply by reading the court’s memorandum of decision, what meaning the court intended to accord to the term “restrained” in this context. The court could have meant “*police* restraint,” such as restraint by handcuffs. The court, however, equally could have meant “*hospital* restraint.” We likewise are unsure whether the court, by finding that the defendant was not “restrained,” determined that the defendant was not tethered to an IV line at any point when he was questioned by the police. Significantly, the court did not make any explicit factual findings concerning the time or times at which the IV line was inserted, exactly how long the IV line remained inserted, or the time at which the IV line was removed from the defendant. Thus, we “scrupulous[ly] examin[e]”; *State v. Edmonds*, supra, 323 Conn. 39; the undisputed evidence in the record and the factual findings of the court to resolve whether the defendant was tethered to an IV line when he was questioned by the police. See id., 39, 44–46 (reviewing court’s factual findings, as well as undisputed testimony and evidence in record, to resolve factual ambiguities in court’s decision).

We have reviewed the defendant’s medical records, which were admitted into evidence during the hearing on the defendant’s motion to suppress and at trial. The medical records include the following notes from the night in question: (1) as entered into the medical record at 9:50 p.m. by physician’s assistant Brian Karwaski, “[s]tart IV/saline lock”; and (2) as entered into the medical record at 10:27 p.m. by Hoyle, “(IV start kit used) Site #1: (20 gauge) IV catheter left hand IV site labeled per protocol” at approximately 10:20 p.m., and “[b]lood obtained from the left hand via IV attempted times 1” at approximately 10:20 p.m. We note that, during the suppression hearing, Hoyle testified that she had “inserted” an IV line into the defendant “soon after” he arrived at the hospital for the purpose of conducting a blood test.

800

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

altercation and Bugbee transcribed the defendant's version of events, Bugbee placed the defendant under oath, instructed the defendant to sign the written statement that he had transcribed, and exited the hospital room. At no point prior to or during this conversation did Bugbee advise the defendant of his *Miranda* rights or inform the defendant that he was free to leave.

At approximately 11:07 p.m., Bugbee reentered the defendant's room alongside Hatheway, who also had

We also note, as the court found, that the defendant arrived at the hospital at approximately 9:42 p.m.

We additionally observe that Bugbee questioned the defendant in his hospital room from 10:13 p.m. until 10:42 p.m., as reflected by the time stamps on the video footage from his body camera. Bugbee had activated the body camera when he entered the defendant's hospital room, and its video footage later was admitted into evidence during the suppression hearing. Bugbee testified during the suppression hearing that he "[did not] recall" whether the defendant was "hooked up to any medical equipment" at any point when he questioned the defendant.

Our careful review of the video recordings from Bugbee's body camera reveals that, at 10:13 p.m. and 10:17 p.m.—at which times the defendant's hands and arms momentarily were visible on the video recording—there does not appear to be an IV line or IV port in the defendant's hands or arms. At approximately 10:18 p.m., however, a nurse entered the video frame and spoke with the defendant. Although, between 10:18 p.m. and 10:22 p.m., the video camera was positioned such that a viewer of the video recording is unable to see the defendant's left hand and arm as well as what the nurse was doing, the audio recording from the video reflects that the defendant stated to the nurse at 10:19 p.m., "needles don't affect me." At 10:22 p.m., the nurse visibly exited the frame. At 10:42 p.m.—at which point the defendant's hands once again became visible on the video recording—an IV port, inserted into the defendant's left hand, was visible for the first time.

Because (1) Hoyle testified that she inserted an IV line into the defendant for the purposes of completing a blood test "soon after" he arrived at the hospital, (2) the video footage depicts Bugbee questioning the defendant from 10:13 p.m. until 10:42 p.m., (3) the video footage depicts that, at some point during Bugbee's interview, an IV port was inserted into the defendant's hand, and (4) the medical records reflect that Hoyle inserted an IV line into the defendant at approximately 10:20 p.m., and the record contains no evidence to the contrary, a fair reading of the court's finding that the defendant was attached to an IV line "at the beginning of his treatment" refers to when Hoyle inserted an IV into the defendant at approximately 10:20 p.m., during Bugbee's interrogation of him.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

801

State v. Garrison

responded to the hospital. Hatheway was wearing plain clothes, but his badge and service weapon were visible. Hatheway questioned the defendant about the defendant's version of events, and Bugbee remained in the room during the interview.¹¹ At no point prior to or during his conversation with the defendant did Hatheway advise the defendant of his *Miranda* rights or inform the defendant that he was free to leave.

At approximately 12:09 a.m., Bugbee informed the defendant for the first time that, "as far as the police were concerned," the defendant was free to leave the hospital, but only if hospital personnel allowed him to leave. At 12:26 a.m., Bugbee again reiterated that, as far as the police were concerned, the defendant was free to leave, subject to the hospital's directive that the defendant could not leave the hospital until after he became clinically sober.¹² The defendant stated to Bugbee that he understood the hospital directive that he could not leave until after he became sober. Bugbee remained at the hospital until he was informed by police Lieutenant Lucas Gallant that the defendant would not be arrested that evening. Bugbee did not advise the defendant of his *Miranda* rights at any point during the evening.

¹¹ Hatheway's conversation with the defendant was recorded using Bugbee's and Pryputniewicz' body cameras, which Bugbee and Pryputniewicz had activated. The audio and video recordings of the conversation were admitted into evidence as full exhibits during both the suppression hearing and the subsequent criminal trial.

¹² Our review of the record—specifically, the recordings from Bugbee's body camera that were admitted into evidence during the suppression hearing—reveals that, at approximately 12:09 a.m., Bugbee informed the defendant for the first time, and only after the defendant already had been subjected to extensive questioning, that he was "pretty much free to go at any time . . . with the exception of what the hospital's got to do"; (emphasis added); and, at approximately 12:25 a.m., Bugbee told the defendant, "I think it's a *hospital policy*, because you've been drinking, that *they can't release you right away*. . . . *I think you . . . have to wait [a] couple of hours until [hospital staff] say that you're good to go*. . . . [T]hey're going to keep you as long as they have to." (Emphasis added.)

802

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

Patrizz arrived at the hospital after first responding to the scene of the apartment. He wore plain clothes, but his badge and service weapon were visible. At approximately 1:30 a.m., he and Hicking entered the defendant's room, and Patrizz began to question the defendant.¹³ Patrizz asked the defendant to provide his version of events. After approximately five to ten minutes, the defendant expressed frustration at the fact that he had to repeat his story multiple times and indicated that he did not want to speak to the officers anymore. Patrizz and Hicking left the hospital at approximately 2 a.m. At no point prior to or during their conversation did Patrizz advise the defendant of his *Miranda* rights or inform the defendant that he was free to leave.

The defendant provided several statements, including inculpatory admissions, to the police throughout the evening. The defendant recounted his version of events. He told the police that he "wasn't in the right" for stabbing Patten, then stated, "I mean, look at what he did," while pointing at his nose. He also told the police, "I take shit from no one, you swing at me, I'm going to end you." The defendant additionally stated, "I'm a peaceable person until you get in my face, then I'll fuck you up," "[w]hen it comes to fight or flight, I fight," and, "[h]onestly, I can't take shit from no one." The defendant was not advised of his *Miranda* rights at any point while he was at the hospital.

The defendant was arrested on June 24, 2018, and arraigned the following day on June 25, 2018. The defendant was charged with one count of assault in the first degree in violation of § 53a-59 (a) (1) and one count of tampering with physical evidence in violation of General Statutes § 53a-155.

On April 22, 2019, the defendant moved to suppress portions of the statements that he had given to the

¹³ This conversation was not recorded.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

803

State v. Garrison

police at the hospital. Specifically, he sought to suppress the verbal statements that he made to Hicking, Bugbee, Hatheway, and Patrizz.¹⁴ He also sought to suppress the written statement transcribed by Bugbee. The defendant contended, *inter alia*, that the statements were inadmissible because they were the product of custodial interrogation, and he had not been advised of his rights pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona*, *supra*, 384 U.S. 478–79.¹⁵ In memoranda of law in support of his motion to suppress, the defendant argued that a reasonable person in his position would not have believed he was free to leave and that, under the circumstances, he was in custody for purposes of *Miranda*. Because the police had not advised him of his *Miranda* rights before eliciting his statements, the defendant contended that his statements were inadmissible. In its response to the defendant’s motion to suppress, dated May 20, 2019, the state maintained that the defendant neither was in custody, nor subjected to police interrogation at the hospital.

The court, *Bhatt, J.*, held a hearing on the defendant’s motion to suppress on May 8, 9 and 13, 2019. Following

¹⁴ During closing argument at the conclusion of the suppression hearing and in his posthearing memorandum of law in support of his motion to suppress, dated May 20, 2019, the defendant clarified that he specifically sought to suppress the statements that he had made to Hicking, Bugbee, Hatheway, and Patrizz between approximately 10 p.m. on June 22, 2018, and 2 a.m. on June 23, 2018. The defendant did not seek to suppress the statements that he made to Roberge, which included the following: he “wasn’t in the right” for stabbing Patten; “I mean, look at what he did,” while pointing at his nose; and, “I take shit from no one, you swing at me, I’m going to end you.”

¹⁵ The defendant additionally contended that the statements were inadmissible because (1) he involuntarily had provided the statements to the police, (2) the statements failed to meet the statutory requirements of General Statutes § 54-1o, (3) the rule of completeness, codified in § 1-5 of the Connecticut Code of Evidence, precluded their admission, and (4) the probative value of the statements was outweighed by the danger of their unfair prejudice pursuant to § 4-3 of the Connecticut Code of Evidence.

804

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

the conclusion of the hearing, the court issued a memorandum of decision, dated June 5, 2019, denying the defendant's motion to suppress the statements. The court concluded that the defendant had failed to prove that a reasonable person in his position would have understood his freedom of action to be curtailed to a degree associated with a formal arrest.

In so concluding, the court noted that the police did not transport the defendant to, or themselves physically restrain the defendant at, the hospital. The court stated that the police did not request that medical staff cease administering treatment to the defendant or prolong his treatment; by contrast, the police "appeared to defer" to the medical staff's treatment plan. The court also noted that the defendant conversed freely with the medical staff and police officers who entered his hospital room and found that the defendant was "coherent, alert, oriented, and able to communicate fully and effectively" throughout his time at the hospital. The court further noted that, although the police did not inform the defendant that he was free to leave prior to 12:09 a.m. or that he could terminate the interviews, the police did not tell the defendant that he was *prohibited* from leaving when the hospital staff was ready to discharge him. The court stated that the defendant had expressed a willingness and an eagerness to talk to the police and did not indicate to medical personnel or anyone else that he wanted to terminate the interviews. Finally, the court noted that the defendant eventually terminated the interviews at the end of the night, at which point the police ceased asking him questions.

The court acknowledged that five different police officers "questioned [the defendant] repeatedly" during the approximately four and one-half hours between 9:40 p.m. and 2:20 a.m. and that multiple other police officers were present both in the defendant's hospital room and

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

805

State v. Garrison

at the hospital generally throughout the evening.¹⁶ The court also noted that the police officers interviewed the defendant for a total of approximately one hour between 9:40 p.m. and 2:20 a.m.¹⁷ The court acknowledged that, although some of the officers who interviewed the defendant were wearing plain clothes, multiple officers were in uniform, and multiple officers visibly were armed with service weapons. The court additionally acknowledged that the defendant was “physically confined to the hospital until medical staff deemed that it was medically appropriate for him to be discharged,” and that, at the beginning of the evening, a nurse had connected the defendant to an IV. The court noted that the medical staff had obtained the defendant’s clothing, which the police seized and took into custody with the defendant’s consent.

Further, the court found that the police did not inform the defendant that he was free to leave until 12:09 a.m. The court acknowledged that the police never informed the defendant that he was a suspect or that he could terminate their questioning of him. The court also noted that the defendant was intoxicated, had a tenth grade education and, in the past, may have been taking medication for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, depression, and anxiety. The court, however, concluded that these circumstances did not render the defendant “especially vulnerable to police intimidation”; *State v. Jackson*, 304 Conn. 383, 419, 40 A.3d 290 (2012); or create a situation in which a reasonable person in his position would have believed that the police restraint on his freedom of movement was akin to restraint associated with a formal arrest. Accordingly, the court determined that the defendant had failed to meet his burden

¹⁶ The court determined that the defendant was aware of at least one officer outside of his room; at one point during the evening, the defendant summoned Bugbee into the room.

¹⁷ The court nonetheless concluded that “[t]he duration of [the] questioning was not excessive”

806

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

of proving that he was in custody for purposes of *Miranda*.¹⁸

Subsequently, the court, *Seeley, J.*,¹⁹ conducted a bench trial over the course of multiple nonconsecutive days in June and July, 2019. At trial, the defendant claimed, among other things, that he was acting in self-defense when he injured Patten. Following the conclusion of the trial, the court found the defendant guilty of assault in the first degree.²⁰ In its written decision, dated August 26, 2019, the court concluded that the state had proven each element of the crime of assault in the first degree beyond a reasonable doubt.²¹ With respect to the intent element—that is, that the defendant possessed the specific intent to cause serious physical injury to Patten—the court determined that the defendant’s statement to the police that he was “a peaceable person until [someone got] in [his] face, then [he would] fuck [that person] up,” supported a conclusion that he had intended to cause serious physical injury to Patten. The court also pointed to the circumstances of the stabbing, including that the defendant approached Patten from behind and stabbed him six

¹⁸ Because it concluded that the defendant had failed to establish that he was in custody, the court declined to consider whether the police had subjected him to interrogation for purposes of *Miranda*.

¹⁹ The defendant affirmatively waived his right to a jury trial on May 7, 2019.

²⁰ After the state rested, the defendant moved for a judgment of acquittal as to both counts. On July 1, 2019, the court orally denied the defendant’s motion as to the first count, assault in the first degree, and granted the motion as to the second count, tampering with physical evidence. In granting the motion as to the second count, the court concluded that no rational fact finder could find, based on the evidence the state had presented, that the defendant had altered, destroyed, concealed, or removed the knife or that he did so with the purpose of impairing its verity or availability as evidence. See General Statutes § 53a-155 (a) (1).

²¹ General Statutes § 53a-59 provides in relevant part: “(a) A person is guilty of assault in the first degree when: (1) With intent to cause serious physical injury to another person, he causes such injury to such person or to a third person by means of a deadly weapon or a dangerous instrument”

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

807

State v. Garrison

times, and that the stab wounds, some of which were located near Patten's vital organs, were deep, as evidence from which the court could infer that the defendant intended to cause serious physical injury. With respect to the causation and deadly weapon elements of § 53a-59 (a) (1)—that is, that the defendant caused serious physical injury to Patten and did so by means of a dangerous instrument—the court determined that the defendant's admission to the police that he had stabbed Patten with a knife indicated that the defendant caused serious physical injury to Patten by means of a dangerous instrument. The court also rejected the defendant's claim of self-defense, finding that the state had disproven beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant subjectively believed Patten was about to use deadly physical force against him such that the defendant's use of potentially deadly physical force against Patten was justified.

The defendant subsequently was sentenced to ten years of incarceration, execution suspended after seven years, and five years of probation. This appeal followed. Additional facts and procedural history will be set forth as necessary.

The defendant claims on appeal that he was entitled to suppression of the statements he made to the police at the hospital because they were the result of custodial interrogation and that he had not been advised of his *Miranda* rights before the police elicited the statements. The defendant specifically contends that the court improperly concluded that he had failed to establish that he was in custody for purposes of *Miranda* when he made the statements to Hicking, Bugbee, Hatheway, and Patrizz. He argues that a reasonable person in his position would have understood that his freedom to terminate the police interviews was restricted to a degree associated with a formal arrest.

808

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

We agree with the defendant that his statements should have been suppressed.

I

We first address the defendant's contention that he was in custody for purposes of *Miranda*. We begin by setting forth the relevant legal principles. "Although [a]ny [police] interview of [an individual] suspected of a crime . . . [has] coercive aspects to it . . . only an interrogation that occurs when a suspect is in custody heightens the risk that statements obtained therefrom are not the product of the suspect's free choice. . . . This is so because the coercion inherent in custodial interrogation blurs the line between voluntary and involuntary statements [T]he court in *Miranda* was concerned with protecting defendants against interrogations that take place in a police-dominated atmosphere, containing inherently compelling pressures [that] work to undermine the individual's will to resist and to compel him to speak [when] he would not otherwise do so freely" (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 191. Thus, "[i]t is well established that the prosecution may not use statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self incrimination. *Miranda v. Arizona*, [supra, 384 U.S. 444]. Two threshold conditions must be satisfied in order to [require] the warnings constitutionally [mandated] by *Miranda*: (1) the defendant must have been in custody; and (2) the defendant must have been subjected to police interrogation." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Gonzalez*, 302 Conn. 287, 294, 25 A.3d 648 (2011). "[E]ven patently voluntary statements taken in violation of *Miranda* must be excluded from the prosecution's case" (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 191 n.8.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

809

State v. Garrison

“By adequately and effectively appris[ing] [a suspect] of his rights and reassuring the suspect that the exercise of those rights must be fully honored, the *Miranda* warnings combat [the] pressures inherent in custodial interrogations. . . . In so doing, they enhance the trustworthiness of any statements that may be elicited during an interrogation. . . . Consequently, police officers are not required to administer *Miranda* warnings to everyone whom they question . . . [but] rather, they must provide such warnings only to persons who are subject to custodial interrogation.” (Citations omitted; footnote omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 191–92.

“As used in . . . *Miranda* [and its progeny], custody is a term of art that specifies circumstances that are thought generally to present a serious danger of coercion. . . . In determining whether a person is in custody in this sense . . . the United States Supreme Court has adopted an objective, reasonable person test . . . the initial step [of which] is to ascertain whether, in light of the objective²² circumstances of the interrogation . . . a reasonable person [would] have felt [that] he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and [to] leave. . . . Determining whether an individual’s freedom of movement [has been] curtailed, however, is simply the first step in the analysis, not the last. Not all restraints on freedom of movement amount to custody for purposes of *Miranda*. [Accordingly, the United States Supreme Court has] decline[d] to accord talismanic power to the freedom-of-movement inquiry . . . and [has] instead asked the additional question [of] whether the relevant environment presents the same

²² “We emphasize that the test for whether an interrogation was custodial is an objective one. [T]he subjective views harbored by either the interrogating officers or the person being questioned are irrelevant. . . . The test, in other words, involves no consideration of the actual mindset of the particular suspect subjected to police questioning.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 198 n.13.

810

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in *Miranda*.” (Citations omitted; footnote added; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 193.

“Of course, the clearest example of custody for purposes of *Miranda* occurs when a suspect has been formally arrested. As *Miranda* makes clear, however, custodial interrogation includes questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a suspect has been arrested or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action *in any significant way*. . . . Thus, not all restrictions on a suspect’s freedom of action rise to the level of custody for *Miranda* purposes; in other words, the freedom-of-movement test identifies only a necessary and not a sufficient condition for *Miranda* custody. . . . Rather, the ultimate inquiry is whether a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would believe that there was a restraint on [his] freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest.” (Citations omitted; emphasis altered; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 194. “The defendant bears the burden of proving custodial interrogation.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Marsan*, 192 Conn. App. 49, 67, 216 A.3d 818, cert. denied, 333 Conn. 939, 218 A.3d 1049 (2019).

Our Supreme Court in *Mangual* set forth a nonexhaustive list of factors that courts may consider in determining whether a suspect was in custody for purposes of *Miranda*; see *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 196–97; and noted that the ultimate determination “must be based on the circumstances of each case,” as opposed to a “definitive list of factors” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 196. These factors include “(1) the nature, extent and duration of the questioning; (2) whether the suspect was handcuffed or otherwise physically restrained; (3) whether officers explained that the suspect was free to leave or not

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

811

State v. Garrison

under arrest; (4) who initiated the encounter; (5) the location of the interview; (6) the length of the detention; (7) the number of officers in the immediate vicinity of the questioning; (8) whether the officers were armed; (9) whether the officers displayed their weapons or used force of any other kind before or during questioning; and (10) the degree to which the suspect was isolated from friends, family and the public.” *Id.*, 197.

Our Supreme Court explained in *Jackson* that, “[w]hen a defendant has been questioned by the police in a hospital, factors that [our Supreme] [C]ourt has considered in determining whether [a] defendant was in custody for *Miranda* purposes include whether the police physically restrained the defendant in any way or ordered the medical attendants to restrain him physically . . . whether the police took advantage of an inherently coercive situation created by any physical restraint that the medical attendants may have [imposed on] him for purposes of his treatment . . . whether the defendant was able to converse with . . . other people, express annoyance or request assistance from them . . . and the duration of the questioning. . . . Other factors that courts have considered [when a defendant has been questioned by the police in a hospital] include whether the police took a criminal suspect to the hospital from the scene of a crime, monitored the patient’s stay, stationed themselves outside the door, [or] arranged an extended treatment schedule with the doctors . . . and the time of day, the mood and mode of the questioning, whether there were indicia of formal arrest, and the defendant’s age, intelligence and mental makeup.” (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Jackson*, *supra*, 304 Conn. 417–18. We emphasize that “no one factor in a custody analysis is outcome determinative.” *State v. Mangual*, *supra*, 311 Conn. 208.

812

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

Various courts have concluded that suspects, questioned by the police in a hospital or similar settings, such as psychiatric facilities or ambulances, were in custody for purposes of *Miranda* under the particular facts of the cases before them. See, e.g., *People v. Mangum*, 48 P.3d 568, 570–72 (Colo. 2002) (defendant was in custody when police handcuffed him—not because he was under arrest but instead “for his own protection”—transported him to hospital, and questioned him for two to three hours while he remained handcuffed); *State v. Lowe*, 81 A.3d 360, 366 (Me. 2013) (defendant questioned by state trooper while in hospital after car accident was in custody after pause in questioning during which trooper gained sufficient information to consider defendant suspect in criminal case before resuming questioning); *People v. Tanner*, 31 App. Div. 2d 148, 149, 295 N.Y.S.2d 709 (1968) (defendant was in custody when questioned for one hour by police in hospital, where he was connected to IV tube and was unable to move); *Commonwealth v. D’Nicuola*, 448 Pa. 54, 55, 57–58, 292 A.2d 333 (1972) (defendant who had been admitted to hospital after apparent suicide attempt was in custody when questioned by police in hospital room); *Commonwealth v. Whitehead*, 427 Pa. Super. 362, 366, 368–69, 629 A.2d 142 (1993) (defendant was in custody when police questioned him in hospital while he was on gurney receiving care); *Scales v. State*, 64 Wis. 2d 485, 492, 219 N.W.2d 286 (1974) (defendant was in custody when police questioned him in hospital room after arresting him there on charges related to questioning); see also *Reinert v. Larkins*, 379 F.3d 76, 80, 87 (3d Cir. 2004) (defendant was in custody when police officer questioned him in ambulance), cert. denied sub nom. *Reinert v. Wynder*, 546 U.S. 890, 126 S. Ct. 173, 163 L. Ed. 2d 201 (2005); *United States v. Hallford*, 280 F. Supp. 3d 170, 173–77, 179 (D. D.C. 2017) (defendant was in custody when questioned by United States Secret

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

813

State v. Garrison

Service agents in physician’s lounge room of psychiatric hospital, where defendant involuntarily was committed), *aff’d*, 756 Fed. Appx. 1 (D.C. Cir. 2018); *People v. Turkenich*, 137 App. Div. 2d 363, 365, 367, 529 N.Y.S.2d 385 (1988) (defendant with diminished mental capacity was in custody when questioned by police in psychiatric ward of hospital, where defendant was confined pursuant to involuntary commitment order).

In concluding that these suspects were in custody when they were questioned by the police in a hospital or a similar environment, the courts considered whether the relevant factual circumstances supported a determination that a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would have believed he was in custody for *Miranda* purposes. See, e.g., *United States v. Hallford*, *supra*, 280 F. Supp. 3d 180 (“when determining whether a reasonable person would have felt free to terminate the interrogation and leave, courts must examine all of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation” (internal quotation marks omitted)); *People v. Mangum*, *supra*, 48 P.3d 571 (“[a] court must examine all of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation to determine whether there was a restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest”); see also *State v. Mangual*, *supra*, 311 Conn. 196. For example, in *People v. Tanner*, *supra*, 31 App. Div. 2d 149–50, the court determined, based on the factual circumstances surrounding the interrogation, that a defendant was in custody when he was questioned by the police in his hospital room. The court identified the various factual circumstances that informed its conclusion—that the defendant was questioned for one hour by various officers, that multiple police officers were present for the questioning, and that the defendant physically was incapable of moving because he was connected to an IV tube and had suffered a gunshot wound to his leg. See

814

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

id., 149–50. Thus, despite the defendant’s being “immobilized by factors entirely independent of any police activity . . . [the court concluded that] for all practical purposes,” the defendant’s freedom of movement was restricted; id.; and that the police had interrogated the defendant in a way that “indicate[d] that [the interrogation] was custodial.” Id., 150.

With these legal principles in mind, we turn to the merits of the defendant’s contention that he was in custody for purposes of *Miranda* when the police questioned him in the hospital. This contention first requires us to ascertain whether a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would have believed he was at liberty to terminate the police questioning and that his freedom of movement was restricted by the police.²³ See, e.g., *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 193. If we conclude that a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would have believed he was at liberty to terminate the police questioning and that his freedom of movement was not restricted by the police, the inquiry is over, and the defendant has failed to meet his burden of establishing that he was in custody for purposes of *Miranda*. See id., 198. If, however, we conclude that a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would not have believed he was at liberty to terminate the police questioning and that his freedom of movement *was* restricted by the police, we proceed to the second step of the inquiry to determine whether a reasonable

²³ We agree with the state that, because a directive from the hospital staff prohibited the defendant from leaving the hospital premises until he was medically sober, whether a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would have believed he was “at liberty to . . . leave” the premises; (emphasis added; internal quotation marks omitted) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 193; is less applicable to our resolution of this claim than whether a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would have believed he was “at liberty to terminate the interrogation”; (internal quotation marks omitted) id.; and that his freedom of movement was restricted by the police. See id., 194–95.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

815

State v. Garrison

person in the defendant's position would have believed that the police restraint on his freedom of movement was "akin to the restraint associated with a formal arrest." *Id.*

Having scrupulously examined the record, we first conclude, in light of the objective circumstances surrounding the police interviews of the defendant, that a reasonable person in the defendant's position would not have believed he was at liberty to terminate the interrogation. Although the police did not physically restrain the defendant or instruct medical personnel to restrain him physically, the police took advantage of the restraint that the medical attendants imposed on the defendant for purposes of his treatment. The defendant initially was attached to an IV line. Rajchel, the attending physician who provided medical care to the defendant, had mandated that the defendant be discharged from the hospital only after he became sober. Accordingly, the medical staff forbade the defendant from leaving the hospital premises until he regained sobriety. This directive was communicated to the defendant by a police officer, Bugbee. See footnote 12 of this opinion.

Significantly, and despite the hospital staff's restraint of the defendant, at no point during the evening did the police inform him that he was free to terminate their interviews at any time. At no point during the evening did the police tell the defendant that he could stop answering their questions if he so chose. *Contra State v. Pinder*, 250 Conn. 385, 412, 736 A.2d 857 (1999) (finding of custody less likely in case in which "it was made very clear to [the defendant] that . . . he could stop answering questions anytime he chose on at least three occasions" (internal quotation marks omitted)). "[T]he most obvious and effective means of demonstrating that a suspect has not been taken into custody . . . is for the police to inform the suspect that an arrest is not

816

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

being made and that the suspect may terminate the interview at will. . . . When . . . a detained suspect is not so informed but, instead, is kept in the dark about the purpose and duration of the detention, he is far more likely to view his seizure by the police as the functional equivalent of an arrest.” (Citations omitted; footnote omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 204–205. Prior to 12:09 a.m., the police did not inform the defendant that, in the absence of a hospital directive to the contrary, he was free to leave.²⁴ In other words, the police did not explain to the defendant that they were not holding or detaining him in any way until more than two hours after their first encounter with him—which the police, not the defendant, initiated.

Moreover, the officers in the present case created a “large and intimidating police presence”; *id.*, 208; that “transformed [the hospital] into the type of police dominated atmosphere that could undermine an individual’s decision to remain silent.” *State v. Castillo*, 165 Conn. App. 703, 717, 140 A.3d 301 (2016), *aff’d*, 329 Conn. 311, 186 A.3d 672 (2018). In addition to the five police officers who questioned the defendant, various other officers remained in the defendant’s hospital room during periods of questioning such that the defendant was surrounded by multiple police officers during numerous rounds of questioning. See *State v. Mangual*, supra,

²⁴ We recognize that the defendant made some of the statements he later sought to suppress *after* Bugbee had told him that he was free to leave, “as far as the police were concerned.” By that point, however, several police officers already had questioned the defendant during a period of more than two hours, and the defendant already had made various inculpatory statements to the police. Further, the defendant was, in fact, *not* free to leave. Bugbee made this fact clear to the defendant when he iterated to him that he was prohibited from leaving the hospital until he regained sobriety, per hospital directive. See footnote 12 of this opinion. Bugbee never explicitly informed the defendant that he was free to terminate the interviews despite informing him that he could not leave the hospital premises until he regained sobriety, per hospital directive.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

817

State v. Garrison

311 Conn. 201 (presence of seven officers on premises supported finding of custody). At least one other officer who did not interview the defendant, Pryputniewicz, was present in the defendant's hospital room during questioning. "[T]here is an increased likelihood that a reasonable person in the defendant's position would have been intimidated by the considerable police presence"; *id.*; in his hospital room because multiple officers were in his room, at the same time, while he was questioned. See *id.*

Additionally, although the record does not reflect that an officer formally was stationed outside of the defendant's hospital room, multiple officers entered and exited the defendant's room at various points throughout the evening, and Bugbee remained on the premises for a significant portion of the evening. At one point during the evening, the defendant summoned Bugbee, who was outside of his room, indicating that the defendant was aware of at least Bugbee's presence in the vicinity of his hospital room. As our Supreme Court has stated, "the presence of a large number of visibly armed law enforcement officers goes a long way [in rendering a particular location] a police-dominated atmosphere." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.* Thus, the police dominated atmosphere that the police created supports a conclusion that a reasonable person in the defendant's position would have believed he was not at liberty to terminate the police questioning.

Further, during the period of approximately four and one-half hours during which the defendant was subjected to the hospital's directive not to leave the premises, five different police officers repeatedly questioned the defendant about his version of events. The police collectively questioned the defendant for approximately one hour. The questioning was not "limited" or "brief" in duration; *State v. DesLaurier*, 230 Conn. 572, 581, 646 A.2d 108 (1994); like questioning that lasts a mere

818

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

few minutes; see *id.*; or takes place over the course of ten or fifteen consecutive minutes. See *State v. Kirby*, 280 Conn. 361, 396, 908 A.2d 506 (2006). Unlike in the Illinois Appellate Court’s decision in *People v. Vasquez*, 393 Ill. App. 3d 185, 913 N.E.2d 60 (2009), which our Supreme Court cited in *State v. Jackson*, *supra*, 304 Conn. 418, and in which the Illinois Appellate Court determined that police interrogation of a defendant in a hospital for thirty-five minutes during the early afternoon did not support a finding of custody; see *People v. Vasquez*, *supra*, 187–90; the collective one hour of questioning in the present case took place over the course of a “prolonged” period; *State v. Jackson*, *supra*, 418; of more than four hours during the late evening into the early morning hours.

Additionally, the questioning took place in a hospital room, as opposed to surroundings that were “familiar” to or comfortable for the defendant, like those present in *State v. Spence*, 165 Conn. App. 110, 118, 138 A.3d 1048, cert. denied, 321 Conn. 927, 138 A.3d 287 (2016), in which this court determined that a finding of custody was not supported when a defendant’s “surroundings were familiar . . . [because] the defendant . . . was in an open area of [his] home, and he was surrounded by his family including other adults.” *Id.*; see also *State v. Mangual*, *supra*, 311 Conn. 206 (“an encounter with police is generally less likely to be custodial when it occurs in a suspect’s home”). Although the hospital was “public” in that nonpolice personnel had access to the defendant’s hospital room, the record shows that the defendant was not “familiar” with the hospital to the same degree that, for example, a person would be with his home, and that the defendant was surrounded by the police, hospital security, and the medical staff, as opposed to friends and family, in the hospital room. We note, however, that “the setting of [an] interrogation is not so important to the inquiry as the question of

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

819

State v. Garrison

police domination of that setting” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.* As we have noted, the police presence—particularly in the defendant’s hospital room—dominated the defendant’s immediate atmosphere.

Although the police did not prevent the defendant from speaking with or requesting assistance from the medical staff, which had access to his hospital room and spoke with him at various points during the evening, as we previously have explained, “no one factor . . . is outcome determinative.” *Id.*, 208. Simply because the defendant theoretically²⁵ had the ability to converse with, express annoyance to, or request assistance from the medical professionals who provided him medical care to terminate the interviews does not mean, by itself, that a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would believe that he was at liberty to terminate the interrogation, particularly in light of the police dominated presence that permeated his immediate surroundings. We also note that the defendant was alert enough to be able to converse with the police and the medical staff but that he had a tenth grade education and was intoxicated during his interviews with the police,²⁶ which may have further undermined his will to resist the pressures inherent in the police dominated environment that surrounded him.

Accordingly, we are unpersuaded that the factors that militate against a finding that the defendant was in

²⁵ We acknowledge that, at approximately 12:35 a.m. or 12:40 a.m., the defendant indicated that he did not want to speak to the officers anymore. Nonetheless, in the preceding three hours, during which it is uncontested that the defendant was intoxicated, the police did not inform him that he had the ability to terminate their interviews or to not respond to their questions if he so chose.

²⁶ We also note that the court stated in its memorandum of decision on the defendant’s motion to suppress that “[i]t is true that the defendant . . . may have, in the past, been taking medication for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, depression and anxiety.”

820

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

custody outweigh the coercive features of the defendant's detention. See *id.*, 206. We conclude that a reasonable person in the defendant's position would not have believed he was at liberty to terminate the police questioning and would have concluded that his freedom of movement was restricted by the police. Thus, we proceed to the second step of the inquiry—that is, we must determine “whether the relevant environment presents the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in *Miranda*.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 193. Our review of the factual circumstances of the present case leads us to answer this question affirmatively.

Although the defendant was not handcuffed; see *id.*, 208 (“[h]andcuffs are generally recognized as a hallmark of a formal arrest” (internal quotation marks omitted)); or formally booked, he was physically connected to an IV line while at least one police officer questioned him, and he constantly was surrounded by numerous police officers and, during at least one interview, hospital security was inside his hospital room. As we have explained, several of the police officers who questioned the defendant or remained in his room while he was being questioned were in uniform, had visible service weapons on their persons, or both.

When the defendant was questioned, although the record does not reflect that the police utilized an “aggressive”; *State v. Jackson*, *supra*, 304 Conn. 418; or “threaten[ing]” tone; *State v. Mangual*, *supra*, 311 Conn. 208; the presence of multiple armed, uniformed officers for multiple hours and throughout multiple rounds of police questioning produced a “large and intimidating police presence”; *id.*; “that could undermine an individual's decision to remain silent.” *State v. Castillo*, *supra*, 165 Conn. App. 717. This police presence lasted throughout the duration of the defendant's time at the hospital because police officers repeatedly entered and

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

821

State v. Garrison

exited the defendant's hospital room and, at least one officer, the presence of whom the defendant was aware, remained on the premises and in the defendant's vicinity throughout the duration of the evening.

Further, as we have stated, although the police did not advise the defendant that he was under arrest, they did not advise the defendant that they were not holding or detaining him until after multiple rounds of questioning, and they never advised him that he was free to terminate their interviews at any time or to stop answering their questions if he so chose. See footnote 24 of this opinion. The police presence was itself threatening and intimidating, and the officers' conduct "conveyed a clear message of complete, unfettered and temporally indefinite police control." *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 208. Thus, we conclude that a person in the defendant's position "reasonably would have believed that [he] was in police custody to the degree associated with a formal arrest"; id., 195–96; because, as we have set forth herein, "the relevant environment"; id., 193; including the "large and intimidating police presence"; id., 208; which transformed the hospital into a police dominated atmosphere, the restraint that the medical attendants imposed on the defendant for purposes of his treatment and of which the police took advantage, the extensive duration of questioning to which multiple police officers subjected the defendant, and the failure of the police to advise the defendant that he was free to terminate the interviews "present[ed] the same inherently coercive pressures as the type of station house questioning at issue in *Miranda*." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Id., 193.

We note that the present case is distinguishable from cases in which our Supreme Court has determined that a defendant, questioned by the police in a hospital, was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes. In *State v. DesLaurier*, supra, 230 Conn. 576, for example, our

822

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

Supreme Court determined that a defendant, questioned by the police in a hospital, was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes under the factual circumstances of the case. The defendant in *DesLaurier* was convicted of assault in the second degree with a motor vehicle and operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, arising out of an incident during which he lost control of and crashed the vehicle after having left a pool hall where he steadily consumed alcohol during the several hours he was there. *Id.*, 573. An emergency response team found the defendant intertwined with the body of his stepbrother, who was in the front passenger seat; however, initially, it was unclear which individual had operated the vehicle. *Id.*, 574. The defendant acted aggressively and combatively, arguing with medical personnel as they attempted to provide care, rejecting medical care and attempting to remove the brace and restraining belt attached to a body board that had been used to extract him from the vehicle. *Id.*, 574–75.

A state police trooper who responded to the scene initially avoided interfering with the medical attendants' treatment of the defendant, but medical personnel eventually requested the trooper's assistance to attempt to calm the defendant. *Id.*, 575. The trooper instructed the defendant to lie down and to allow medical personnel to do their job, and he stayed close by as they placed the defendant into an ambulance. *Id.* The trooper followed the ambulance as it transported the defendant and his stepbrother to a hospital. *Id.*

After the trooper arrived at the hospital, he proceeded to an emergency room in which the defendant was located, which was connected to a separate room in which the stepbrother was receiving care. *Id.* The defendant continued to refuse medical care, despite being injured, and the hospital staff informed the trooper that

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

823

State v. Garrison

the defendant “probably [was] going to take off.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.* The trooper thus entered the defendant’s room, introduced himself to the defendant, and asked whether the defendant had been driving the vehicle. *Id.* The defendant answered, “[n]o.” *Id.* The trooper asked the stepbrother the same question, and the stepbrother replied that the defendant had been driving. *Id.* The trooper then relayed to the defendant what his stepbrother had said, and the defendant stated, “[a]ll right, I was . . . driving.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.* Immediately thereafter, the trooper placed the defendant under arrest and read him his *Miranda* rights. *Id.* At trial, the defendant’s statement that he had been driving was admitted into evidence, over the defendant’s objection. *Id.*, 576.

On appeal, our Supreme Court concluded that the trial court properly had admitted the defendant’s statement to the trooper because the defendant was not in custody for purposes of *Miranda*. *Id.* In so concluding, our Supreme Court noted that the trooper was the sole law enforcement officer present in the defendant’s hospital room. See *id.*, 581. Accordingly, unlike in the present case, in which multiple officers entered and exited the defendant’s hospital room throughout the evening and stayed in the room during periods of questioning, the presence of a single trooper in *DesLaurier* did not create a “police-dominated atmosphere” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 579. Our Supreme Court relied on the fact that the trooper briefly questioned the defendant for a period of only several minutes in a public hospital emergency room in the presence of witnesses who were not police officers—specifically, hospital medical staff. See *id.*, 581. Our Supreme Court stated that there was “no evidence indicating that the defendant was unable to converse with these other people, express annoyance or request assistance from them.” *Id.* The trooper also did not restrain the defendant when he questioned him. *Id.*, 580–81.

824

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

Significantly, our Supreme Court concluded that the duration of the trooper’s questioning of the defendant was “momentary” and “temporary” *Id.*, 581. Our Supreme Court cited two federal circuit court cases; see *Allen v. United States*, 390 F.2d 476, 479 (D.C. Cir. 1968); *United States v. Kennedy*, 573 F.2d 657, 660 (9th Cir. 1978); to distinguish “limited and brief inquir[ies],” which supported a conclusion that a suspect was not in custody, from longer periods of questioning, including a period of questioning of forty-five minutes, which supported a conclusion that a suspect was in custody. See *State v. DesLaurier*, *supra*, 230 Conn. 581. The Supreme Court likened the short, brief questioning that took place in *DesLaurier* to those “limited and brief inquir[ies]” that supported a conclusion that a suspect was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes. *Id.* The brief duration of the trooper’s questioning of the defendant in *DesLaurier* certainly is distinguishable from the duration of the questioning that took place in the present case, which, as we have explained, occurred over the course of more than four hours and collectively lasted approximately one hour.

Likewise, in *State v. Jackson*, *supra*, 304 Conn. 419, our Supreme Court determined that a defendant, questioned by the police in a hospital, was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes under the factual circumstances of the case. The defendant was convicted of murder after he had killed his former paramour in her apartment in New Haven. *Id.*, 387–88. On the day after the defendant committed the murder, he attempted to end his life by jumping out of a New York City hotel window, and, although he survived, he sustained several injuries. *Id.*, 388. Consequently, the defendant was transported to a hospital, accompanied by police officers, for medical treatment and eventually was admitted into a surgical care unit. *Id.*, 388, 414.

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

825

State v. Garrison

When New Haven police officers arrived at the hospital to interview the defendant approximately one day after he had jumped out of the window, an out-of-state police officer was present in the defendant's hospital room because the defendant had attempted to commit suicide. *Id.*, 414. Before entering the defendant's hospital room, a New Haven police detective spoke to a nurse, who told the detective that the defendant was awake and able to talk. *Id.* The detective then instructed the out-of-state police officer to exit the hospital room and asked the defendant if he knew why he was in the hospital and for his name. *Id.* The defendant stated that he wanted to die and provided a fake name to the detective. *Id.* The detective initially did not inform the defendant that he was under arrest. *Id.* Eventually, after approximately thirty minutes, the defendant admitted his true identity, and the detective subsequently read the defendant his *Miranda* rights. *Id.*, 414–15. The detective then informed the defendant that he was not under arrest and asked him questions, to which the defendant provided answers. *Id.*, 415.

Prior to trial, the defendant moved to suppress the statements that he had provided to the detective in the hospital. *Id.* The trial court denied the defendant's motion, determining that the only statement the defendant had provided to the police before waiving his *Miranda* rights was his name and that the defendant was not subjected to custodial interrogation at that time. *Id.*, 415–16, 419. Consequently, at trial, the detective testified as to the content of his interview of the defendant. *Id.*, 415.

Our Supreme Court concluded that the trial court properly had admitted the defendant's statement to the trooper because the defendant was not in custody for purposes of *Miranda* when he provided the initial statement to the trooper. See *id.*, 419. Our Supreme Court

826

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

relied on the fact that only one police detective questioned the defendant. See *id.*, 414. Although an out-of-state police officer had accompanied the defendant to the hospital and remained in the hospital room until the detective began to question the defendant, the out-of-state officer had done so to monitor the defendant in light of his suicide attempt. *Id.*, 418. The detective specifically instructed the out-of-state officer to exit the hospital room before he began to question the defendant. *Id.*, 414. The Supreme Court stated: “[T]here was no reason for the defendant to feel intimidated by the presence of the police inside the hospital room before [the detective] arrived and outside the room thereafter.” *Id.*, 419. Accordingly, unlike the situation in the present case, the limited police presence in *Jackson* did not transform the defendant’s hospital room into the sort of police dominated atmosphere “that could undermine an individual’s decision to remain silent.” *State v. Castillo*, *supra*, 165 Conn. App. 717.

Further, our Supreme Court noted that the questioning was “neither prolonged nor aggressive” *State v. Jackson*, *supra*, 304 Conn. 418. Unlike the situation in the present case, approximately thirty consecutive minutes passed between the time when the detective in *Jackson* asked the defendant what his name was and when the defendant provided his true identity to the detective, at which point the detective advised the defendant of his *Miranda* rights. *Id.*, 414–15. The detective neither subjected the defendant to multiple rounds of questioning nor questioned the defendant over an extensive period of time, and the detective eventually advised the defendant of his *Miranda* rights. See *id.*

Additionally, our Supreme Court noted that the officer in *Jackson* eventually informed the defendant that he was not under arrest. See *id.*, 415. The Supreme Court also noted that the defendant was immobilized for medical treatment and that the police did not physically

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

827

State v. Garrison

restrain him, ask hospital personnel to extend his medical treatment, or prohibit him from leaving the hospital room or asking hospital personnel to assist him in terminating the questioning. See *id.*, 418. Finally, the Supreme Court determined that “there [wa]s no evidence that [the defendant’s] age or intelligence rendered him especially vulnerable to police intimidation and, although he may have been despondent and was receiving pain medication for his injuries, the nurse indicated that he was capable of speaking with the police, and [the detective] testified that he was alert and coherent.” *Id.*, 419.

Thus, the case before us is distinguishable from *DesLaurier* and *Jackson*. The facts of the present case lead us to conclude that a reasonable person in the defendant’s position would have believed that he was not at liberty to terminate the police questioning, that his freedom of movement was restricted by the police; see *State v. Mangual*, *supra*, 311 Conn. 193; and “that [he] was in police custody to the degree associated with a formal arrest” *Id.*, 195–96. “[T]he relevant environment present[ed] the same inherently coercive pressures” that would be present, had the police questioned the defendant at a police station. (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 193. Accordingly, we conclude, contrary to the trial court’s determination, that the defendant was in custody for purposes of *Miranda*.

II

Having determined that the defendant was in custody for purposes of *Miranda*, we next consider whether the police questioning of the defendant constituted interrogation. We conclude that the police officers’ questioning of the defendant constituted interrogation for purposes of *Miranda* because the police officers should have known that their questions reasonably were likely to elicit incriminating statements from the

828

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

defendant. See *State v. Ramos*, 317 Conn. 19, 29, 114 A.3d 1202 (2015).

We begin by setting forth the applicable standard of review and governing legal principles. Whereas “[a] finding of fact will not be disturbed unless it is clearly erroneous in view of the evidence and pleadings in the whole record . . . [t]he ultimate determination . . . of whether a defendant already in custody has been subjected to interrogation . . . presents a mixed question of law and fact over which our review is plenary, tempered by our scrupulous examination of the record to ascertain whether the findings are supported by substantial evidence.” (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 30. We note that, during the hearing on the defendant’s motion to suppress, the state presented evidence on the issue of whether the police interrogated the defendant for purposes of *Miranda* and, on appeal, the state does not raise this issue as an alternative ground for affirmance. Accordingly, although the court did not reach this issue because it concluded that the defendant was not in custody for *Miranda* purposes, we nonetheless determine this mixed question of law and fact because the court made sufficient findings of fact on which we may consider and resolve the issue. See, e.g., *Grady v. Somers*, 294 Conn. 324, 349 n.28, 984 A.2d 684 (2009) (reviewing alternative ground for affirmance that court below did not address because alternative ground raised question of law, over which Supreme Court’s review is plenary, and essential facts pertaining to issue were undisputed); *Bouchard v. Deep River*, 155 Conn. App. 490, 496, 110 A.3d 484 (2015) (same).

“A defendant in custody is subject to interrogation not only in the face of express questioning by police but also when subjected to any words or actions on the part of the police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) that the police should know

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

829

State v. Garrison

are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from the suspect. . . . Whether a defendant in custody is subject to interrogation necessarily involves determining first, the factual circumstances of the police conduct in question, and second, whether such conduct is normally attendant to arrest and custody or whether the police should know that such conduct is reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Ramos*, supra, 317 Conn. 29. “[T]he definition of interrogation [for purposes of *Miranda*] can extend only to words or actions on the part of police officers that they should have known were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response. . . . The test as to whether a particular question is likely to elicit an incriminating response is objective; the subjective intent of the police officer is relevant but not conclusive and the relationship of the questions asked to the crime committed is highly relevant.” (Emphasis omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Smith*, 321 Conn. 278, 288, 138 A.3d 223 (2016).

We begin by examining the factual circumstances of the police conduct surrounding the defendant’s statements. Each of the four police officers to whom the defendant provided the statements he later sought to suppress—Hicking, Bugbee, Hatheway, and Patrizz—asked the defendant to explain what had happened or to recount his version of events with respect to the altercation. Hicking specifically asked the defendant clarifying questions as the defendant recounted his version of the events leading up to the altercation and the altercation itself. Bugbee asked the defendant to tell him what happened and informed him that he would transcribe the defendant’s version of events in the written statement he prepared. Hatheway, likewise, interviewed the defendant concerning the defendant’s version of events. Finally, Patrizz, the lead detective

830

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

assigned to the case, asked the defendant to provide his version of events. As the court stated in its memorandum of decision, “[a]s the lead detective, [Patrizz] wanted to introduce himself to the defendant *and ask him about his version of events* . . . [and, in the defendant’s hospital room] asked the defendant to once again provide his version of events.” (Emphasis added.) The defendant eventually terminated the interview with Patrizz because he was “annoy[ed]” that he had to repeat his version of events multiple times.

As our Supreme Court explained in *State v. Gonzalez*, supra, 302 Conn. 298, when a police officer asks a defendant to provide his “side of the story” as to an altercation or a crime, the question is reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response from the defendant. See *id.*; see also *State v. Hoepfner*, 206 Conn. 278, 287 n.6, 537 A.2d 1010 (1988) (determining that, in case in which police officer asked defendant to “give [the officer] a statement concerning what happened,” there was “no question that the defendant was subject to interrogation” for purposes of *Miranda*). Unlike asking a defendant routine booking questions unrelated to the crime; see, e.g., *State v. Evans*, 203 Conn. 212, 225–27, 523 A.2d 1306 (1987); or asking a defendant whether he understands his rights; see, e.g., *State v. Kirby*, supra, 280 Conn. 399–400; by asking a defendant to provide his version of the story, a police officer “implic[s] that the defendant was involved in the [subject crime] and explicitly [seeks] statements from the defendant regarding his involvement in” that crime. *State v. Gonzalez*, supra, 298. “[P]olice [officers] should know that such words are reasonably likely to elicit incriminating statements.” *Id.*

In the present case, the police officers repeatedly asked the defendant to provide his version of events

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

831

State v. Garrison

with respect to his altercation with Patten. These questions were not “objectively neutral question[s] unrelated to the crime” for which the defendant was later prosecuted. *Id.* To the contrary, the questions “implied that the defendant was involved” in the altercation; *id.*; and explicitly called for responses from the defendant regarding his involvement in the altercation, for which he was later charged with assault in the first degree. The officers “should have known [that their questions] were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response” from the defendant. (Emphasis omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Smith*, *supra*, 321 Conn. 288.

At the suppression hearing, Bugbee testified that he did not advise the defendant of his *Miranda* rights prior to taking the defendant’s statement because, in Bugbee’s mind, the defendant “wasn’t . . . a suspect.” Although “the subjective intent of [a] police officer [may be] relevant” to our consideration of whether a defendant was interrogated for purposes of *Miranda*, it is “not conclusive.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Gonzalez*, *supra*, 302 Conn. 299. Bugbee’s subjective understanding of whether the defendant was a suspect does not overcome the strong, highly relevant “relationship [between] the questions asked” by all of the officers, including Bugbee, and “the crime committed” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 298. Therefore, we conclude that the officers’ questions constituted “the functional equivalent of interrogation because the police should have known” that asking the defendant to provide his side of the story was “reasonably likely to invite the defendant to respond by making possibly incriminating statements.” *Id.*, 299. In light of our determination that the police subjected the defendant to custodial interrogation, we conclude that the police were required to advise the defendant of his

832

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

Miranda rights before eliciting statements from him. See *id.*, 294.

III

Our inquiry, however, does not end simply because we have determined that the police were required to advise the defendant of his *Miranda* rights prior to subjecting him to custodial interrogation and eliciting statements from him. We additionally must address the state's contention that the admission of the defendant's statements into evidence at trial nonetheless was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The state specifically contends that the statements the defendant made to the police in response to police questioning did not constitute "confessions" and that many of the defendant's statements supported his self-defense theory at trial. The state also argues that the statements constituted only a "minimal part" of the state's proof, noting that it did not present the defendant's statements during its case-in-chief and that it merely offered the statements to show that parts of the statements were inconsistent with one another or with the defendant's in-court testimony. Finally, the state contends that the strength of its case against the defendant, outside of the statements, was overwhelming. Because we conclude that the defendant's statements may have had a tendency to influence the court's analyses of both the charged offense of assault in the first degree and the defendant's claim of self-defense, we reject the state's contention that the admission of the statements into evidence at trial was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

"If statements taken in violation of *Miranda* are admitted into evidence during a trial, their admission must be reviewed in light of the harmless error doctrine. . . . The harmless error doctrine is rooted in the fundamental purpose of the criminal justice system, namely,

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

833

State v. Garrison

to convict the guilty and acquit the innocent. . . . Therefore, whether an error is harmful depends on its impact on the trier of fact and the result of the case.” (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mitchell*, 296 Conn. 449, 459–60, 996 A.2d 251 (2010). “When an [evidentiary] impropriety is of constitutional [dimension], the state bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 214.

We emphasize that the state’s burden is a “demanding” one. *Id.*, 212. “Whether the error was harmless depends on a number of factors, such as the importance of the evidence to the state’s case, whether the evidence was cumulative of properly admitted evidence, the presence or absence of corroborating evidence, and, of course, the overall strength of the state’s case.” *State v. Culbreath*, 340 Conn. 167, 192, 263 A.3d 350 (2021). “Most importantly, we must examine the impact of the evidence on the trier of fact and the result of the trial.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Moore*, 293 Conn. 781, 806, 981 A.2d 1030 (2009), cert. denied, 560 U.S. 954, 130 S. Ct. 3386, 177 L. Ed. 2d 306 (2010). “If the evidence may have had a tendency to influence the judgment of the [trier of fact], it cannot be considered harmless. . . . That determination must be made in light of the entire record [including the strength of the state’s case without the evidence admitted in error].” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 214–15.

As our Supreme Court recently stated in *State v. Alexander*, 343 Conn. 495, 275 A.3d 199 (2022), in a case that “was tried to a court, not a jury . . . our harmless error analysis is facilitated substantially by the express findings contained in the memorandum of decision by which the [court] returned [its] ultimate finding of guilt.” *Id.*, 506. In *Alexander*, our Supreme

834

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

Court considered whether a defendant was harmed when his statements to the police, which should have been suppressed, improperly were admitted into evidence during his criminal trial. *Id.*, 502. Our Supreme Court concluded that “the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt”; *id.*, 506; because “the defendant’s . . . statement[s] did not implicate [him] in the [charged offenses at issue], [were] not important to the state’s case, and did not in any respect affect the convictions at issue.” *Id.*, 507.

Our Supreme Court noted that the trial court expressly had stated in its memorandum of decision that it “did not consider” the defendant’s statements in determining his guilt as to the charged offenses at issue. (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 503. Specifically, our Supreme Court stated, the trial court neither “credited [n]or relied on the defendant’s . . . statement[s] to reach [its] respective findings of guilt.” *Id.*, 507. “[I]t did not consider any of the statements made by the defendant during his interview with the police . . . in determining the defendant’s guilt” as to his conviction on the charge of felony murder. (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 503. Our Supreme Court further stated that the trial court’s “insistent remarks that the defendant’s statements had no effect on [its] [decision] reinforce[d] our [Supreme Court’s] confidence in [its] . . . conclusion that the improper admission of the defendant’s . . . statement[s] had no impact on the guilty findings at issue.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Id.*, 510.

Our Supreme Court in *Alexander* further noted that “[t]he accuracy of the [trial court’s] assessment of the impact that the improperly admitted evidence had on [the] guilty verdict [was] underscored by the [court’s] determination that” a separate offense for which the defendant was convicted—carrying a pistol without a permit—“necessitat[ed] a different result.” (Internal

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

835

State v. Garrison

quotation marks omitted.) Id., 510 n.12. Our Supreme Court explained, “[i]n contrast to the defendant’s conviction on the . . . charges [at issue on appeal], [the trial court] *did* explicitly rely on the defendant’s statements”; (emphasis added) id., 510–11 n.12.; which the trial court had described as “inculpatory [as to the charge of carrying a pistol without a permit] and tantamount to a confession”; (internal quotation marks omitted) id., 504; in determining that the defendant was guilty of carrying a pistol without a permit. Id.

In the present case, and in the court’s memorandum of decision, the court explicitly relied on at least one of the defendant’s statements that we have concluded should have been suppressed—namely, the defendant’s statement, “I’m a peaceable person until you get in my face, then I fuck you up”—in finding the defendant guilty of assault in the first degree. To meet its burden as to the offense of assault in the first degree, it was necessary for the state to prove beyond a reasonable doubt, *inter alia*, that the defendant possessed the specific intent to cause serious physical injury to Patten. See General Statutes § 53a-59 (a) (1). As the court recognized, “[i]ntent may be, and usually is, inferred from the defendant’s verbal or physical conduct. . . . Intent may also be inferred from the surrounding circumstances. . . . The use of inferences based on circumstantial evidence is necessary because direct evidence of the accused’s state of mind is rarely available. . . . Furthermore, it is a permissible, albeit not a necessary or mandatory, inference that a defendant intended the natural consequences of his voluntary conduct.” (Emphasis omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Lamantia*, 336 Conn. 747, 756–57, 250 A.3d 648 (2020).

In its evaluation of the intent element, the court noted that Patten had punched the defendant in the face during the first altercation, “*which angered the defendant,*”

836

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

and, after Patten and the defendant initially had separated from one another, the defendant “sat down by the fire, *but he was angry*.” (Emphasis added.) The defendant’s anger, the court concluded, motivated him to attack Patten from behind with the intent to cause serious physical injury to him. In support of its determination that the defendant possessed the requisite intent to commit assault in the first degree, the court specifically cited one of the statements that the defendant made to Bugbee: “I’m a peaceable person until you get in my face, then I fuck you up.” As in *Alexander*, in which the trial court expressly relied on the statement of the defendant that he temporarily had possessed a handgun as evidence in support of its determination that he was guilty of carrying a pistol without a permit; see *State v. Alexander*, supra, 343 Conn. 510–11 n.12; the court in the present case expressly relied on the statement of the defendant that he was a “peaceable person until [someone] g[ot] in [his] face, then [he would] fuck [him] up” as evidence in support of its determination that the state had proven beyond a reasonable doubt the element of intent, a requisite element of the charge of assault in the first degree.

We also note, contrary to the state’s position on appeal, that *many* of the defendant’s statements were, indeed, inculpatory, and many of his statements specifically may have had a tendency to influence the court’s analysis of the element of intent. As our Supreme Court noted in *State v. Mitchell*, supra, 296 Conn. 461, a “noteworthy fact” in a court’s analysis of whether the improper admission at trial of statements that were taken in violation of *Miranda* nonetheless was harmless error is whether the statements themselves were inculpatory. In the present case, the defendant’s statements—including, “I’m a peaceable person until you get in my face, then I fuck you up,” “I take shit from no one,” “I’m a peaceable man, but you drive me to the

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

837

State v. Garrison

edge, I'm not going to let up," and, "I don't flight, I fight"—incriminated him with regard to the offense of assault because the statements, both individually and collectively, specifically tended to demonstrate the defendant's intent to cause serious physical injury to Patten, who had punched him in the face shortly before he stabbed Patten.²⁷ Thus, we cannot say that these statements were "relatively benign [or] facially innocuous" (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mitchell*, supra, 462.

Finally, we note that, at trial, the state extensively cross-examined the defendant as to several of the statements he made to the police and, during its rebuttal argument at the conclusion of the trial, recited his various inculpatory statements. Specifically, the prosecutor stated: "I think [the defendant] said it better than I ever could. 'I take shit from no one, you swing at me I'm going to end you.' 'He's lucky he's family because honestly I could have ended him but I didn't, instead of fight or flight you know how it goes, I don't fly, I fight.' 'I'm a peaceable person until you get in my face, then I'll fuck you up.' 'Honestly, I take shit from no one.' 'I'm

²⁷ Because the defendant did not challenge the admissibility of the statement he made to Roberge, "I take shit from no one, you swing at me, I'm going to end you," to the extent the court considered this statement, it did so properly. We cannot say, however, that the court, in assessing whether this statement bore on the issue of intent, was not already tainted by the multiple other inculpatory statements that improperly were admitted into evidence during trial. As this court, considering a claim of harmless error of a nonconstitutional dimension, has explained, "[o]ur [harmlessness] inquiry focuses on the impact of the improperly introduced evidence on the . . . perceptions [of the trier of fact] and [the trier of fact's] understanding of the other evidence presented in the case, rather than an analysis of the sufficiency of the remaining evidence to uphold the conviction in the absence of the admission of the [allegedly improperly admitted] evidence" (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Ledbetter*, 41 Conn. App. 391, 399, 676 A.2d 409 (1996), aff'd, 240 Conn. 317, 692 A.2d 713 (1997); see also *State v. Merritt*, 36 Conn. App. 76, 92, 647 A.2d 1021 (1994) (same), appeal dismissed, 233 Conn. 302, 659 A.2d 706 (1995).

838

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

a peaceable man, but you drive me to the edge, I'm not going to let up.' ”

Thus, we conclude that the defendant's multiple inculpatory statements “may have had a tendency to influence the judgment of the [trier of fact]”; (internal quotation marks omitted) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 214; with respect to the element of intent. It is axiomatic, therefore, that the entry of the defendant's statements into evidence at trial was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See *id.*

Moreover, many of the defendant's statements may have had a tendency to influence the court's analysis of his self-defense claim. As we have stated, the defendant pursued at trial a claim of self-defense—that is, that he had used reasonable physical force against Patten to defend himself from what he reasonably believed to be Patten's use or imminent use of physical force against him and that he was not the initial aggressor. See General Statutes § 53a-19.²⁸ The defendant specifically contended that Patten initially shoved the defendant, began

²⁸ General Statutes § 53a-19, titled “Use of physical force in defense of person,” provides in relevant part: “(a) Except as provided in subsections (b) and (c) of this section, a person is justified in using reasonable physical force upon another person to defend himself . . . from what he reasonably believes to be the use or imminent use of physical force, and he may use such degree of force which he reasonably believes to be necessary for such purpose; except that deadly physical force may not be used unless the actor reasonably believes that such other person is (1) using or about to use deadly physical force, or (2) inflicting or about to inflict great bodily harm.

“(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, a person is not justified in using deadly physical force upon another person if he . . . knows that he . . . can avoid the necessity of using such force with complete safety (1) by retreating

“(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this section, a person is not justified in using physical force when (1) with intent to cause physical injury or death to another person, he provokes the use of physical force by such other person, or (2) he is the initial aggressor, except that his use of physical force upon another person under such circumstances is justifiable if he withdraws from the encounter and effectively communicates to such other person his intent to do so, but such other person notwithstanding continues or threatens the use of physical force”

213 Conn. App. 786

JULY, 2022

839

State v. Garrison

to punch him, knocked him onto the ground, and choked him while repeatedly punching him. The defendant maintained that he was unable to breathe and momentarily had lost consciousness while Patten held him in a headlock, and that the defendant stabbed Patten as a necessary means to remove himself from Patten's chokehold.

“Under our Penal Code, self-defense . . . is a [claim of] *defense*, rather than an *affirmative defense*. . . . Whereas an *affirmative defense* requires the defendant to establish his claim by a preponderance of the evidence, a properly raised [claim of] *defense* places the burden on the state to disprove the defendant's claim beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . Consequently, a defendant has no burden of persuasion for a claim of self-defense; he has only a burden of production. That is, he merely is required to introduce sufficient evidence to warrant presenting his claim of self-defense to the jury. . . . Once the defendant has done so, it becomes the state's burden to disprove the defense beyond a reasonable doubt.” (Citations omitted; emphasis altered; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Grasso*, 189 Conn. App. 186, 198, 207 A.3d 33, cert. denied, 331 Conn. 928, 207 A.3d 519 (2019). Because the court concluded that “the evidence presented at trial raised a genuine issue as to the possible availability of the [claim] of self-defense with respect to the charge of assault in the first degree,” the state was required to disprove the defendant's claim of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. See *State v. Grasso*, *supra*, 198.

The court ultimately concluded that the state had disproven the defendant's claim of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. In assessing whether the state had met its burden, the court was required to consider, *inter alia*, whether the state had disproven beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was not the initial aggressor; see General Statutes § 53a-19 (c) (2); that the

840

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 786

State v. Garrison

defendant had the duty to retreat; see General Statutes § 53a-19 (b) (1); that the amount of force the defendant used, in response to the force he argued that Patten used against him, was proportional; see General Statutes § 53a-19 (a); or that the defendant used force to defend himself from what he believed was the use or imminent use of force against him. See General Statutes § 53a-19 (a).

The defendant's statements incriminated him with regard to various elements of his claim of self-defense. For example, the fact that the defendant stated, "I'm a peaceable person until you get in my face, then I fuck you up," "I take shit from no one," and, "I don't flight, I fight," tended to demonstrate that the defendant did not use force against Patten to defend himself but, instead, used force against Patten to cause serious physical injury to Patten. Likewise, these statements tended to show that the defendant was the initial aggressor—that is, that he used physical force against Patten before Patten used physical force against him—because he was angry at Patten.

Further, the fact that the defendant stated, "I don't flight, I fight," tended to demonstrate that he ignored any duty to retreat he may have had. The fact that the defendant stated, "I'm a peaceable person until you get in my face, then I fuck you up," made more likely that the amount of force that the defendant used against Patten was excessive. Accordingly, we conclude that the defendant's statements "may have had a tendency to influence the judgment of the [trier of fact]" with respect to various elements of the defendant's claim of self-defense. (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Mangual*, supra, 311 Conn. 214.

In light of the foregoing, we agree with the defendant that the state has not met the requisite "demanding standard"; *id.*, 212; to prove that the improper admission

213 Conn. App. 841

JULY, 2022

841

Ferri v. Powell-Ferri

of the defendant's statements into evidence at trial was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The judgment is reversed and the case is remanded for a new trial.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

PAUL JOHN FERRI *v.* NANCY
POWELL-FERRI ET AL.
(AC 44798)

Cradle, Suarez and Clark, Js.

Syllabus

The plaintiff sought damages for vexatious litigation from the defendant P, his former wife. P previously sought the dissolution of her marriage to the plaintiff and, in that action, a disputed asset was a trust. While the dissolution action was pending, the trustees of the trust brought a declaratory judgment action against P and the plaintiff, seeking approval of their actions in forming another trust, into which they had decanted all of the assets of the initial trust. As part of the declaratory judgment action, the defendants T and N Co., who represented P in both actions, filed a cross complaint on her behalf, alleging that the plaintiff violated his duty to preserve the marital assets by allowing the trustees to remove assets from the marital estate. The trial court rendered summary judgment in favor of the plaintiff on the cross complaint. In this vexatious litigation action, the plaintiff alleged that the defendants lacked probable cause to institute and pursue the cross complaint. The trial court granted the motion for summary judgment filed by T and N Co. Following a bench trial on the plaintiff's claims against P, the trial court rendered judgment in favor of P, from which the plaintiff appealed to this court. *Held* that the trial court correctly concluded that P had probable cause to pursue her cross complaint in the declaratory judgment action, the plaintiff having failed to satisfy his burden to prove that P did not have a reasonable, good faith basis for her cross complaint against him; as aptly noted by the trial court, not only did P have a good faith belief in the facts alleged in her cross complaint, but the relevant facts related to the existence of probable cause were undisputed, as P alleged that the plaintiff failed to seek the return of the assets of the initial trust, which were transferred to another trust, and, in light of the automatic orders that issue in dissolution cases, including an order that neither party transfer or dissipate marital assets, it could not reasonably be argued that P did not maintain a good faith belief that the plaintiff

842

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 841

Ferri v. Powell-Ferri

violated the automatic orders when the trustees decanted funds that arguably were marital assets to a different trust.

Argued April 5—officially released July 19, 2022

Procedural History

Action seeking damages for, inter alia, vexatious litigation, and for other relief, brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of Hartford, where the case was transferred to the Complex Litigation Docket; thereafter, the court, *Moll, J.*, denied the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and granted the motion for summary judgment filed by the defendants Thomas Parrino et al. and rendered judgment thereon, from which the plaintiff appealed to this court, *Prescott, Devlin and D'Addabbo, Js.*, which affirmed the trial court's judgment; subsequently, the case was tried to the court, *Schuman, J.*; judgment for the named defendant, from which the plaintiff appealed to this court. *Affirmed.*

Jeffrey J. Mirman, with whom, on the brief, was *Alexa T. Millinger*, for the appellant (plaintiff).

Cristin E. Sheehan, with whom, on the brief, was *Robert W. Cassot*, for the appellee (named defendant).

Opinion

CRADLE, J. In this action alleging vexatious litigation, the plaintiff, Paul John Ferri, appeals from the judgment of the trial court, rendered following a court trial, in favor of the defendant Nancy Powell-Ferri.¹ On appeal, Ferri claims that the trial court incorrectly concluded that Powell-Ferri had probable cause to initiate and pursue her cross complaint filed against Ferri in a prior lawsuit. We affirm the judgment of the trial court.

¹ Thomas Parrino and the law firm of Nusbaum & Parrino, P.C. (Parrino defendants), also were named as defendants in this action. The trial court previously rendered summary judgment in their favor and that judgment was affirmed by this court. *Ferri v. Powell-Ferri*, 200 Conn. App. 63, 64–65, 239 A.3d 1216, cert. denied, 335 Conn. 970, 240 A.3d 285 (2020). They are, therefore, not parties to this appeal.

213 Conn. App. 841

JULY, 2022

843

Ferri v. Powell-Ferri

The following factual and procedural history, as previously set forth by this court, is relevant to our consideration of this appeal. “The present action is the third in a series of interrelated matters involving a dispute over the assets of a trust account. In the first action . . . Powell-Ferri sought the dissolution of her marriage to Ferri. In that action, a major marital asset in dispute was a trust created in 1983 and valued at between \$60 million and \$70 million. Powell-Ferri was represented in this action by the Parrino defendants.

“While the dissolution action was pending, the trustees of the 1983 trust brought a declaratory judgment action against Powell-Ferri and Ferri, seeking approval of the trustees’ actions in forming another trust in 2011, into which they decanted all of the assets of the 1983 trust. The Parrino defendants also represented Powell-Ferri in the declaratory judgment action. As part of the trustees’ action, the Parrino defendants filed a cross complaint against Ferri, on behalf of Powell-Ferri, alleging that Ferri had violated his duty to preserve the marital assets by allowing the trustees to remove assets from the marital estate. The trial court, *Munro, J.*, rendered summary judgment in favor of Ferri on the cross complaint, concluding that Powell-Ferri failed to state a cause of action. Our Supreme Court affirmed this decision on appeal and declined to recognize the new cause of action. See *Ferri v. Powell-Ferri*, 317 Conn. 223, 235, 116 A.3d 297 (2015).

“The cross complaint against Ferri in the declaratory judgment action, brought by the Parrino defendants on behalf of Powell-Ferri, forms the basis for the present vexatious litigation action brought by Ferri against Powell-Ferri and the Parrino defendants. In this action, Ferri alleged that [Powell-Ferri and] the Parrino defendants lacked probable cause to institute and pursue the cross complaint. The trial court, *Moll, J.*, rendered summary judgment in favor of the Parrino defendants.” *Ferri v.*

844

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 841

Ferri v. Powell-Ferri

Powell-Ferri, 200 Conn. App. 63, 65–66, 239 A.3d 1216, cert. denied, 335 Conn. 970, 240 A.3d 285 (2020). This court affirmed the summary judgment rendered by the trial court as to the Parrino defendants, concluding that the trial court correctly determined that the Parrino defendants had probable cause to institute and pursue the cross complaint they had filed on behalf of Powell-Ferri. *Id.*, 81.

Thereafter, Ferri’s vexation litigation claims² against Powell-Ferri were tried to the court, *Schuman, J.* By way of a memorandum of decision filed on June 10, 2021, the court rendered judgment in favor of Powell-Ferri, concluding that she had probable cause to pursue her cross complaint against Ferri in the declaratory judgment action. The court reasoned, *inter alia*: “Upon review of the entire cross complaint, the court concludes that Powell-Ferri’s cause of action against Ferri depended only on two critical facts. These facts are: (1) Ferri learned of the decantation after it happened but before the filing of the cross complaint, and (2) Ferri took no steps to return the assets to the original trust. These facts are alleged in paragraph 21 of the cross complaint, which was filed on or about October 31, 2012. Paragraph 21 alleges: [Ferri] was aware of the actions of the . . . trustees in establishing a new trust with the intent to deprive . . . [Powell-Ferri] of her equitable claims to trust assets but has taken no action to pursue his right and obligation to seek the return of the trust assets to the 1983 Trust. . . .

“There is virtually no dispute that the facts alleged in paragraph 21 are correct. First, Ferri himself testified that he learned about the new trust from his brother . . . in 2011 shortly after the trust’s creation but well

² Ferri brought claims sounding in statutory vexatious litigation and common-law vexatious litigation against Powell-Ferri. For purposes of this appeal, we need not address in depth the distinction between those claims.

213 Conn. App. 841

JULY, 2022

845

Ferri v. Powell-Ferri

before the filing of the cross complaint. Ferri also admitted that he made no attempts to return the assets of the trust. . . .

“Given the conclusion that the facts in paragraph 21 are correct, it necessarily follows that the plaintiff has failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Powell-Ferri conveyed inaccurate or misleading information to her attorney on the key points of the case. . . . Instead, the undisputed nature of the key facts underlying the cross complaint made the validity of the cross complaint almost wholly dependent on a question of law. That question was whether a party to a dissolution proceeding [must] take action to prevent the removal of assets that would benefit him. *Ferri v. Powell-Ferri*, supra, 200 Conn. App. 80–81. The Appellate Court has now ruled that Powell-Ferri’s attorneys had probable cause to bring this claim even though it does not state a valid cause of action under Connecticut law. It almost necessarily follows that Powell-Ferri had probable cause to ask her attorneys to bring this action. After all, the court cannot expect lay litigants to know more about the law than lawyers. Further, the Appellate Court opinion recognizes that there is something intrinsically wrong, albeit not sufficiently wrong to become a recognized tort, when a spouse fails to [take] action to recapture sizable trust assets that had arguably fallen within the marital estate, and that filing a lawsuit over that matter is not a completely frivolous move. Stated differently, a reasonable layperson in this situation could have believed that litigation was justified. Thus, Powell-Ferri had both a reasonable, good faith belief in the facts alleged and the validity of the claim asserted For these reasons, Powell-Ferri had probable cause.” (Citation omitted; footnote omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) This appeal followed.

“In Connecticut, the cause of action for vexatious litigation exists both at common law and pursuant to

846

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 841

Ferri v. Powell-Ferri

statute. . . . [T]o establish a claim for vexatious litigation at common law, one must prove want of probable cause, malice and a termination of suit in the plaintiff's favor. . . . The statutory cause of action for vexatious litigation exists under [General Statutes] § 52-568, and differs from a common-law action only in that a finding of malice is not an essential element, but will serve as a basis for higher damages. . . . In the context of a claim for vexatious litigation, the defendant lacks probable cause if he lacks a reasonable, good faith belief in the facts alleged and the validity of the claim asserted." (Emphasis omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *Carolina Casualty Ins. Co. v. Connecticut Solid Surface, LLC*, 207 Conn. App. 525, 533–34, 262 A.3d 885 (2021).

"[I]n an action for vexatious litigation, the burden rests with the plaintiff to prove that the defendant lacked probable cause to prosecute a prior action. *Harris v. Bradley Memorial Hospital & Health Center, Inc.*, 296 Conn. 315, 330, 994 A.2d 153 (2010); see also *Zenik v. O'Brien*, 137 Conn. 592, 597, 79 A.2d 769 (1951) ('[a]lthough want of probable cause is negative in character, the burden is upon the plaintiff to prove affirmatively . . . that the defendant had no reasonable ground' for commencing action)." *Rockwell v. Rockwell*, 178 Conn. App. 373, 390, 175 A.3d 1249 (2017), cert. denied, 328 Conn. 902, 117 A.3d 563 (2018). "[T]he existence of probable cause is a question of law to be decided by the court." *Id.*, 388. Accordingly, our review of the court's determination that probable cause existed is plenary. See, e.g., *Falls Church Group, Ltd. v. Tyler, Cooper & Alcorn, LLP*, 281 Conn. 84, 97, 912 A.2d 1019 (2007).

On appeal, Ferri challenges the court's determination that Powell-Ferri had probable cause to pursue her cross complaint against him in the declaratory judgment

213 Conn. App. 841

JULY, 2022

847

Ferri v. Powell-Ferri

action. Although he sets forth several arguments in support of his claim that the court erred in so holding, the gravamen of his challenge to the court's conclusion is that there was "no evidence that . . . Powell-Ferri had a reasonable, good faith belief in the facts alleged and the validity of the claim asserted" in her cross complaint. (Internal quotation marks omitted.) He argues that his efforts to learn of the factual basis of Powell-Ferri's cross complaint were repeatedly thwarted by Powell-Ferri's evasive responses to discovery and during her testimony at her deposition and at trial. He asserts that Powell-Ferri "failed to identify any information [that] she shared with her attorneys" or "any factual basis for commencing the cross complaint" He contends that "there was no evidence that [Powell-Ferri] conducted an independent investigation as to the facts that might support a conclusion that she had a good faith belief sufficient to justify a reasonable person to institute the cross complaint against [Ferri]."

In so arguing, Ferri disregards the well settled principle, as stated herein, that it was his burden to prove that Powell-Ferri lacked probable cause to commence and pursue her cross complaint. Contrary to Ferri's position, Powell-Ferri was not required to present any evidence of her good faith belief in the facts alleged in her cross complaint or the validity of her action. Rather, to sustain an action for vexatious litigation against Powell-Ferri, Ferri had the burden of proving that Powell-Ferri did *not* have such a reasonable, good faith basis for her cross complaint against him.³

³ In his brief to this court, Ferri specifically claims that the trial court erred "(1) in concluding that, because her attorneys had probable cause to bring the cross complaint, [Powell-Ferri] had probable cause, based only on the fact that [Ferri] learned of the decanting of trust assets only after it occurred; (2) in failing to analyze the issue of probable cause on [Powell-Ferri's] independent obligation to investigate facts; (3) in holding that [Ferri] was required to seek judicial review of [Powell-Ferri's] refusal to answer an interrogatory regarding her basis for bringing the cross complaint; (4) in speculating that there was no evidence that any information that she provided to her attorneys was false; and (5) in failing to hold that, even if

848

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 848

State v. Smith

Moreover, as aptly noted by the trial court, not only did Powell-Ferri have a good faith belief in the facts alleged in her cross complaint, but the relevant facts related to the existence of probable cause were undisputed. Powell-Ferri alleged that Ferri failed to seek the return of the assets of the 1983 trust, which were transferred to another trust after she commenced the dissolution action. In light of the automatic orders that issue in all dissolution cases, which include an order that neither party transfer or dissipate marital assets, it cannot reasonably be argued that Powell-Ferri did not maintain a good faith belief that Ferri violated the automatic orders when the trustees decanted funds in excess of \$60 million, which arguably were marital assets, to a different trust.⁴

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

STATE OF CONNECTICUT *v.* JEFFREY SMITH
(AC 44525)

Bright, C. J., and Alexander and Lavine, Js.

Syllabus

The defendant, who had been previously convicted, following a jury trial, of various crimes, including felony murder and manslaughter in the first

[Powell-Ferri] had probable cause to commence the cross complaint, she ceased to have probable cause to continue to pursue it.” Because, as discussed herein, Ferri failed to satisfy his burden of proving that Powell-Ferri lacked a reasonable, good faith belief in the facts alleged in her cross complaint or the legal validity of her claim against Ferri, these claims are unavailing.

⁴ Indeed, the declaratory judgment action filed by the trustees sought “a ruling from the court that they had validly exercised their authority in transferring the assets [from the 1983 trust] and that Powell-Ferri had no interest in the 2011 trust assets.” *Ferri v. Powell-Ferri*, 317 Conn. 223, 226, 116 A.3d 297 (2015). The fact that such a declaration was sought by the trustees arguably supports a reasonable belief by Powell-Ferri that she had an interest in the assets that were transferred.

213 Conn. App. 848

JULY, 2022

849

State v. Smith

degree, appealed to this court from the judgment of the trial court denying his motion to correct an illegal sentence. The trial court had merged the defendant's convictions of felony murder and manslaughter and sentenced him on the felony murder conviction. The defendant claimed that his acquittal on charges of capital felony and murder barred, on double jeopardy grounds, his prosecution during the same trial proceeding for felony murder and manslaughter and that the court had improperly sentenced him on his felony murder conviction rather than his manslaughter conviction. *Held:*

1. The defendant could not prevail on his claim that, because he had been acquitted of both capital felony and murder, his prosecution for felony murder and manslaughter was barred on double jeopardy grounds, as the motion to correct an illegal sentence failed to advance a colorable claim that invoked the jurisdiction of the trial court: rather than challenging the sentence or the sentence proceeding, the claim challenged the proceeding leading up to the defendant's underlying convictions, over which the court did not have subject matter jurisdiction; accordingly, this court concluded that the claim was properly rejected by the trial court but that the form of the judgment was improper with respect to this portion of the defendant's motion, and the case was remanded with direction to render judgment dismissing that portion of the defendant's motion.
2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in sentencing the defendant on his felony murder conviction rather than his manslaughter conviction; pursuant to our Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Polanco* (308 Conn. 242), and this court's decision in *State v. Holmes* (209 Conn. App. 197), the trial court had authority to impose a sentence on the greater felony murder charge rather than the less serious manslaughter charge.

Argued March 10—officially released July 19, 2022

Procedural History

Substitute information charging the defendant with two counts of the crime of kidnapping in the first degree, and with the crimes of capital felony, murder, felony murder and robbery in the first degree, brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district of New London and tried to the jury before *Schimelman, J.*; verdict and judgment of guilty of two counts of kidnapping in the first degree, and of felony murder, robbery in the first degree and the lesser included offense of manslaughter in the first degree; thereafter, the court, *Strackbein, J.*, denied the defendant's motion to correct an illegal sentence, and the defendant appealed to this

850

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 848

State v. Smith

court. *Improper form of judgment; reversed in part; judgment directed.*

Jeffrey Smith, self-represented, the appellant (defendant).

Melissa Patterson, senior assistant state's attorney, with whom, on the brief, were *Paul J. Narducci*, state's attorney, and *Michael Reagan*, former state's attorney, for the appellee (state).

Opinion

LAVINE, J. The self-represented defendant, Jeffrey Smith, appeals from the judgment of the trial court denying his motion to correct an illegal sentence. On appeal, the defendant claims that the court erred in denying his motion to correct an illegal sentence because (1) his acquittal on the charges of capital felony and murder barred, on double jeopardy grounds,¹ his prosecution during the same trial on the charges of felony murder and manslaughter and (2) the court improperly sentenced him on his felony murder conviction rather than on his manslaughter conviction.² We reject the second claim. As to the first claim, we conclude that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to consider it and it should be dismissed. Accordingly, we affirm in part and reverse in part the judgment of the trial court.

¹ The double jeopardy clause of the United States constitution guarantees that no person shall “be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb” U.S. Const., amend. V. “The double jeopardy prohibition of the fifth amendment extends to state prosecutions through the fourteenth amendment to the United States constitution.” *State v. Thomas*, 296 Conn. 375, 383 n.7, 995 A.2d 65 (2010).

² At oral argument before this court, the defendant raised an additional claim, which was not presented in his appellate brief, that he was charged with multiple homicide offenses for a single act in violation of his constitutional right against double jeopardy. We decline to review this claim. “[I]t is well settled that a claim cannot be raised for the first time at oral argument.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) *Burton v. Dept. of Environmental Protection*, 337 Conn. 781, 797 n.12, 256 A.3d 655 (2021).

213 Conn. App. 848

JULY, 2022

851

State v. Smith

The following procedural history is relevant. Following trial, the jury found the defendant not guilty of the charges of capital felony in violation of General Statutes (Rev. to 1997) § 53a-54b (5) and murder in violation of General Statutes (Rev. to 1997) § 53a-54a. The jury found him guilty of felony murder in violation of General Statutes (Rev. to 1997) § 53a-54c, manslaughter in the first degree in violation of General Statutes § 53a-55, two counts of kidnapping in the first degree in violation of General Statutes § 53a-92 (a) (2) (A) and (B), and robbery in the first degree in violation of General Statutes § 53a-134 (a) (1). The trial court, *Schimmelman, J.*, merged the defendant's convictions of felony murder and manslaughter and sentenced him to sixty years in prison on the felony murder conviction, which sentence was to run consecutively to both his concurrent twenty-five year sentences on each kidnapping count, as well as his concurrent sentence of twenty years on the robbery count, for a total effective sentence of eighty-five years of imprisonment. This court affirmed the defendant's conviction on direct appeal. *State v. Smith*, 107 Conn. App. 746, 946 A.2d 926, cert. denied, 288 Conn. 905, 953 A.2d 650 (2008).

In 2015, the defendant, representing himself, filed an amended motion to correct an illegal sentence (2015 motion) pursuant to Practice Book § 43-22,³ in which he alleged multiple double jeopardy violations. See *State v. Smith*, 180 Conn. App. 371, 374–75, 184 A.3d 831 (2018) (detailing claims made in 2015 motion), rev'd on other grounds, 338 Conn. 54, 256 A.3d 615 (2021). In a June 27, 2016 memorandum of decision, the court, *Strackbein, J.*, denied the 2015 motion. On appeal, this court affirmed the judgment of the trial court. *Id.*, 373. This court rejected the defendant's claims, including

³ Practice Book § 43-22 provides in relevant part that “[t]he judicial authority may at any time correct an illegal sentence or other illegal disposition, or it may correct a sentence imposed in an illegal manner”

852

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 848

State v. Smith

his claim that the sentencing court had violated the principles established by our Supreme Court in *State v. Polanco*, 308 Conn. 242, 61 A.3d 1084 (2013), and *State v. Miranda*, 317 Conn. 741, 120 A.3d 490 (2015), by merging his cumulative homicide convictions for felony murder and manslaughter rather than vacating his conviction for manslaughter, reasoning that *Polanco* and *Miranda* do not apply retroactively. *State v. Smith*, supra, 180 Conn. App. 379–84. Our Supreme Court reversed the judgment of the Appellate Court, holding that, because the sentencing court did not impose any sentence on the defendant for his merged manslaughter conviction, vacatur of that conviction would have no effect on the length, computation or structure of the sentence and, accordingly, the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the defendant’s *Polanco/Miranda* claim. *State v. Smith*, 338 Conn. 54, 63–64, 256 A.3d 615 (2021).

The self-represented defendant filed the present motion to correct an illegal sentence, dated December 13, 2019, in which he claimed multiple double jeopardy violations and sought the vacatur of all his sentences and convictions.⁴ Following several hearings on the motion, during which the defendant was asked to clarify his claims, the court, *Strackbein, J.*, in a December 22, 2020 memorandum of decision, denied the motion. The court incorporated into its decision the June 27, 2016 memorandum of decision denying the 2015 motion and determined that most of the defendant’s arguments already had been addressed by this court in *State v.*

⁴ At a November 2, 2020 hearing on the present motion to correct an illegal sentence, the defendant requested a lawyer to assist him with certain procedural issues. The court continued the case for the appointment of an assigned counsel. At a December 10, 2020 hearing, the defendant’s appointed counsel explained that she previously had filed a motion to withdraw as the defendant’s counsel. When asked by the court whether he wanted another counsel appointed or wanted to represent himself, the defendant responded that he would represent himself.

213 Conn. App. 848

JULY, 2022

853

State v. Smith

Smith, supra, 107 Conn. App. 746. The court rejected the defendant’s claim “where again he stated he was ‘re-prosecuted’ when the jury found him guilty on several charges but not the capital felony and murder” and reasoned that “the trial judge did not impose multiple punishments for the same crime.” The court also rejected the defendant’s claim that the court should have sentenced him on the manslaughter charge instead of the felony murder charge, and reasoned that “[t]he trial of this defendant predated *Polanco*, which is not retroactive—but the merger of the manslaughter conviction under the felony murder conviction serves the same purpose of explaining that the lesser included offense is subsumed under the greater offense.” This appeal followed.

I

The defendant first claims that “[t]he state must not continue to overlook and give short shrift to the fact that the [defendant] was initially acquitted twice before being illegally convicted twice for a single alleged homicide” As we interpret this claim, the defendant argues that, in denying his motion to correct, the court improperly rejected his claim that his convictions for felony murder and manslaughter, after he had been acquitted of both capital felony and murder in the same trial proceeding, constituted a second prosecution for the same offense in violation of his constitutional right against double jeopardy. The state counters that the trial court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to entertain this claim. We agree with the state.

“The determination of whether a claim may be brought via a motion to correct an illegal sentence presents a question of law over which our review is plenary.” *State v. Thompson*, 190 Conn. App. 660, 665, 212 A.3d 263, cert. denied, 333 Conn. 906, 214 A.3d 382 (2019). “A motion to correct an illegal sentence under Practice

854

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 848

State v. Smith

Book § 43-22 constitutes a narrow exception to the general rule that, once a defendant’s sentence has begun, the authority of the sentencing court to modify that sentence terminates. . . . In order for the court to have jurisdiction over a motion to correct an illegal sentence after the sentence has been executed, the sentencing proceeding, and not the trial leading to the conviction, must be the subject of the attack. . . . [A]n illegal sentence is essentially one [that] . . . exceeds the relevant statutory maximum limits, violates a defendant’s right against double jeopardy, is ambiguous, or is internally contradictory. . . . In accordance with this summary, Connecticut courts have considered four categories of claims pursuant to . . . § 43-22. The first category has addressed whether the sentence was within the permissible range for the crimes charged. . . . The second category has considered violations of the prohibition against double jeopardy. . . . The third category has involved claims pertaining to the computation of the length of the sentence and the question of consecutive or concurrent prison time. . . . The fourth category has involved questions as to which sentencing statute was applicable.” (Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Holmes*, 209 Conn. App. 197, 202–203, 267 A.3d 348 (2021), cert. denied, 342 Conn. 909, 271 A.3d 663 (2022).

The jurisdictional issue raised by the state requires us to “consider whether the defendant has raised a colorable claim within the scope of Practice Book § 43-22 that would, if the merits of the claim were reached and decided in the defendant’s favor, require correction of a sentence. . . . In the absence of a colorable claim requiring correction, the trial court has no jurisdiction to modify the sentence. . . . For a claim to be colorable, the defendant need not convince the trial court that he necessarily will prevail; he must demonstrate simply that he might prevail. . . . The jurisdictional

213 Conn. App. 848

JULY, 2022

855

State v. Smith

and merits inquiries are separate; whether the defendant ultimately succeeds on the merits of his claim does not affect the trial court's jurisdiction to hear it. . . . In determining whether it is plausible that the defendant's motion challenged the sentence, rather than the underlying trial or conviction, we consider the nature of the specific legal claim raised therein." (Citations omitted; emphasis omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) *State v. Evans*, 329 Conn. 770, 783–85, 189 A.3d 1184 (2018), cert. denied, U.S. , 139 S. Ct. 1304, 203 L. Ed. 2d 425 (2019).

The defendant's claim attacks his convictions for felony murder and manslaughter. Because the claim challenges the proceeding leading up to the underlying conviction rather than the sentence or the sentencing proceeding, it does not fall within the purview of Practice Book § 43-22. See, e.g., *State v. Holmes*, supra, 209 Conn. App. 204 ("[s]imply put, our law is clear that motions to correct an illegal sentence that attack the conviction or the proceedings leading up to the conviction are not within the trial court's jurisdiction on a motion to correct an illegal sentence"). Accordingly, the trial court does not have subject matter jurisdiction over such a claim. See *State v. Wright*, 107 Conn. App. 152, 157, 944 A.2d 991 (claim that sentence was illegal because conviction violated double jeopardy does not fall within purview of Practice Book § 43-22), cert. denied, 289 Conn. 933, 958 A.2d 1247 (2008). Because this claim is not colorable, the trial court should have dismissed, rather than denied, the defendant's motion as to this claim. See *State v. Boyd*, 204 Conn. App. 446, 457, 253 A.3d 988, cert. denied, 336 Conn. 951, 251 A.3d 617 (2021).

II

The defendant next claims that he "was initially found guilt[y] of manslaughter followed by felony murder. As

856

JULY, 2022

213 Conn. App. 848

State v. Smith

a result the sentencing court had the option of sentencing the [defendant] to either conviction opting for the second conviction which—unfortunately for the [defendant]—carries a penalty three . . . times higher than that of the first conviction.”⁵ In other words, the defendant challenges the action of the trial court in sentencing him on the felony murder conviction rather than the manslaughter conviction. We are not persuaded.

“Ordinarily, a claim that the trial court improperly denied a defendant’s motion to correct an illegal sentence is reviewed pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard.” *State v. Tabone*, 279 Conn. 527, 534, 902 A.2d 1058 (2006).

Our Supreme Court in *State v. Polanco*, supra, 308 Conn. 245, held that, “when a defendant has been convicted of greater and lesser included offenses, the trial court must vacate the conviction for the lesser offense rather than merging the convictions” On appeal, the defendant’s claim does not challenge whether his conviction for manslaughter should have been vacated instead of merged with his conviction for felony murder. Under the circumstances of the present case, the trial court would lack jurisdiction to entertain such a claim. See *State v. Smith*, supra, 338 Conn. 64. The defendant’s claim focuses on whether the sentencing court properly sentenced the defendant on the felony murder conviction instead of the manslaughter conviction. We note

⁵ The defendant additionally argues, citing the docket number for *State v. Smith*, supra, 180 Conn. App. 371, “[h]ere would be where the [defendant’s] prior argument regarding the kidnapping and robbery convictions and sentences would be inserted” The court stated in its 2020 memorandum of decision that “most of [the defendant’s] arguments have been addressed in prior motions and a decision by the Appellate Court encapsulates many of the defendant’s issues.” The defendant cannot prevail in raising for a second time the precise argument that we previously have rejected in our decision in *State v. Smith*, supra, 180 Conn. App. 376–79, as it is barred by the doctrine of res judicata. See *State v. Osuch*, 124 Conn. App. 572, 581, 5 A.3d 976, cert. denied, 299 Conn. 918, 10 A.3d 1052 (2010).

213 Conn. App. 848

JULY, 2022

857

State v. Smith

that there is authority for the imposition of a sentence on the greater felony murder charge instead of a sentence on the less serious manslaughter charge and that the analysis in *Polanco* supports the court imposing a sentence for the felony murder conviction instead of the manslaughter conviction.⁶ See *State v. Polanco*, supra, 308 Conn. 260–61. Furthermore, this court recently rejected the very argument advanced by the defendant in this case. See *State v. Holmes*, supra, 209 Conn. App. 213 (concluding that “[t]he court properly vacated the manslaughter conviction because vacatur of the less serious homicide offense is proper”). We conclude that the defendant has not established that the court abused its discretion in determining that the felony murder conviction controls and sentencing him on felony murder instead of manslaughter. See *id.*

The form of the judgment is improper, the judgment is reversed only with respect to the trial court’s denial of that portion of the defendant’s motion to correct an illegal sentence claiming that his convictions for felony murder and manslaughter violated his federal constitutional right against double jeopardy, and the case is remanded with direction to render judgment dismissing that portion of the defendant’s motion to correct an illegal sentence; the judgment is affirmed in all other respects.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

⁶ We note that manslaughter is not a lesser included offense of felony murder but that subjecting a defendant to punishment for both the more serious class A felony of felony murder and the less serious class B felony of manslaughter in the first degree violates double jeopardy because the legislature intended that they be treated as the same offense. See *State v. Holmes*, supra, 209 Conn. App. 208–10.